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June 22, 2018 

TSX Venture Exchange 

Dear Sirs/Mesdames: 

Re: Eureka Resources, Inc. 

We refer to the joint management information circular dated June 22, 2018 (the “Information 
Circular”) of Eureka Resources, Inc. (the “Company”) and Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore”) relating 
to the proposed Reverse Takeover (as defined in the TSX Venture Exchange Corporate Finance 
Manual) of the Company by Kore. 

We consent to being named and to the use in the Information Circular of our report dated 
February 16, 2018 to the shareholders of the Company on the following financial statements of 
the Company: 

• Consolidated statement of financial position as at October 31, 2018 and 2017; 

• Consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017. 

We report that we have read the Information Circular and all information therein and have no 
reason to believe that there are any misrepresentations in the information contained therein that 
are derived from the consolidated financial statements upon which we have reported or that are 
within our knowledge as a result of our audit of such financial statements. We have complied 
with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor’s consent to the use of a report of the 
auditor included in an offering document, which does not constitute an audit or review of the 
Information Circular, as these terms are described in the CPA Canada Handbook – Assurance.  

This letter is provided solely for the purpose of assisting the TSX Venture Exchange in 
discharging its responsibilities and should not be used for any other purpose.   
Yours very truly, 

DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP 
Chartered Professional Accountants 



 

 
 
June 25, 2018 

TSX Venture Exchange 
 
We refer to the Joint Management Information Circular of Eureka Resources Inc. and Kore Mining Ltd., 
dated June 22, 2018 relating to the reverse takeover of Eureka Resources Inc. by Kore Mining Ltd. 
 
We consent to being named in and to the use, in the above-mentioned Joint Management Information 
Circular, of our report dated April 6, 2018 to the Shareholders of Kore Mining Ltd. on the following 
financial statements:  

● consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016; 

● consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss, statement of cash flows,  
and statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the period ended 
December 31, 2016; and  

● the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

 
We report that we have read the Joint Management Information Circular and all information therein and 
have no reason to believe that there are any material misrepresentations in the information contained 
therein that are derived from the consolidated financial statements on which we have reported or that are 
within our knowledge as a result of our audit of such financial statements. We have complied with 
Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor’s consent to the use of a report of the auditor 
included in a designated document, which does not constitute an audit or review of the Joint Management 
Information Circular as these terms are described in the CPA Canada Handbook – Assurance. 
 
This letter is provided solely for the purpose of assisting the stock exchange to which it is addressed in 
discharging its responsibilities and should not be used for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 1400, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7 
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806, www.pwc.com/ca 
 
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 
 

(Signed) "PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP"



June 25, 2018





 



 



 



 

 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 

Area Au Zone Measured (ft) Indicated (ft) Inferred (ft)
 Hilton Creek / South Zone 1 0 - 100 100 - 200 > 200

2 0 - 75 75 - 150 > 150
3 0 - 50 50 - 100 > 100
99 0 - 50 50 - 100 > 100

 Southeast Zone 21 0 - 50 50 - 100 > 100
22 - 23 0 - 25 25 - 50 > 50

99 0 - 50 50 - 100 > 100
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APPENDIX F
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER OF EUREKA RESOURCES, INC.

[see attached]



 

 

 

 
EUREKA RESOURCES, INC.  

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

 

 
A. OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE 

 
The Audit Committee of Eureka Resources, Inc. (“Eureka”) has been formed to enable the Board of 

Directors of Eureka to perform its obligations with respect to compliance with applicable securities laws and the rules of 
the Exchange. 

 

The Audit Committee is responsible to the Board of Directors of Eureka. The primary objective of the 
Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities with respect to: 

 
(a) disclosure of financial and related information; 

 
(b) the relationship with and expectations of the external auditors of Eureka, including the establishment of 

the independence of the external auditors; 
 

(c) the oversight of Eureka’s internal controls; and 
 

(d) any other matters that the Audit Committee feels are important to its mandate or that the Board of 
Directors of Eureka chooses to delegate to it. 

 

The Audit Committee will approve, monitor, evaluate, advise or make recommendations in accordance 
with this Charter, with respect to the matters set out above. 

 
B. ORGANIZATION 

 
1. Size and Membership Criteria 

 

The Audit Committee will consist of three or more Directors of Eureka. 
 

A majority of the members of the Audit Committee must be independent of management and free from 
any interest, business or other relationship, other than interests and relationships arising from holding Shares of Eureka 
or other securities which are exchangeable into Shares of Eureka, which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, 
materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of Eureka. 

 

All members of the Audit Committee should be financially literate and be able to read and understand 
basic financial statements, or should strive to become financially literate within a reasonable period of time after being 
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee. At least one member of the Audit Committee must have accounting or 
related financial expertise and should be able to analyze and interpret a full set of financial statements, including notes, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 



 

 

 

2. Appointment and Vacancies 
 

The members of the Audit Committee are appointed or reappointed by the Board of Directors following 
each annual meeting of the shareholders of Eureka. Each member of the Audit Committee will continue to be a member 
of the Audit Committee until his or her successor is appointed unless he or she resigns or is removed by the Board of 
Directors of Eureka or ceases to be a Director of Eureka. Where a vacancy occurs at any time in the membership of the 
Audit Committee the Board of Directors of Eureka may appoint a qualified individual to fill such vacancy and must 
appoint a qualified individual if the membership of the Audit Committee is less than three Directors as a result of any 
such vacancy. 

 
C. MEETINGS 

 
1. Frequency 

 

The Audit Committee will meet at least four times per year on a quarterly basis, or more frequently as 
circumstances require. In addition, the Audit Committee may also meet at least once per year with management and the 
external auditors of Eureka in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that the Audit Committee or each of these 
groups believes should be discussed privately. 

 
2. Chair 

 

The Board of Directors of Eureka or, in the event of its failure to do so, the members of the Audit 
Committee, will appoint a Chair from amongst their number. If the Chair of the Audit Committee is not present at any 
meeting of the Audit Committee, the Chair of the meeting will be chosen by the Audit Committee from among the 
members present. 

 

The Audit Committee will also appoint a secretary who need not be a Director of Eureka. 
 
3. Time and Place of Meetings 

 

The time and place of meetings of the Audit Committee and the procedure at such meeting will be 
determined from time to time by the members of the Audit Committee, provided that: 

 
(a) a quorum for meetings of the Audit Committee will be two members present in person or by telephone or 

other telecommunication device that permits all persons participating in the meeting to speak and hear 
each other, and 

 
(b) notice of the time and place of every meeting will be given in writing or facsimile to each member of 

the Audit Committee, the internal auditors, the external auditors and the corporate secretary of Eureka at 
least 24 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting. 

 

Any person entitled to notice of a meeting of the Audit Committee may waive such notice (an attendance 
at a meeting is a waiver of notice of the meeting, except where a member attends a meeting for the express purpose of 
objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called). 

 

A meeting of the Audit Committee may be called by the corporate secretary of Eureka on the direction of 
the President of Eureka, by any member of the Audit Committee or the external auditors. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Audit Committee will at all times have the right to determine who will and will not be present at any part of 
the meeting of the Audit Committee. 

 
 



 

 

 

4. Agenda 
 

The Chairman will ensure that the agenda for each upcoming meeting of the Audit Committee is circulated 
to each member of the Audit Committee as well as each of the external auditors and corporate secretary of Eureka in 
advance of the meeting of the Audit Committee not later than three business days prior to each meeting. 

 
5. Resources 

 

The Audit Committee will have the authority to retain independent legal, accounting and other consultants 
to advise the Audit Committee, and to set the pay and compensation for such consultants. The Audit Committee may 
request any officer or employee of Eureka or its subsidiaries or the legal counsel to Eureka or the external auditors of 
Eureka to attend any meeting of the Audit Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Audit 
Committee. 

 
D. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
The Board of Directors of Eureka has delegated the following duties and responsibilities to the Audit 

Committee and the Audit Committee shall have the sole authority and responsibility to carry out these duties and 
responsibilities. 

 
1. Review and Reporting Procedures 

 

The Audit Committee will make regular reports to the Board of Directors of Eureka. The Audit Committee 
will review and re-assess the Audit Committee Charter on an annual basis and make recommendations for changes to 
this Charter. The Audit Committee will also periodically perform a self- assessment of its performance against its 
mandate. 

 
2. Financial Reporting 

 

The Audit Committee will review and discuss with management, the internal auditors (as applicable) 
and the external auditors of Eureka the following financial statements and related information prior to filing or public 
dissemination: 

 
(a) annual audited financial statements of Eureka, including notes; 

 
(b) interim financial statements of Eureka; 

 
(c) management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) relating to each of the annual audited financial 

statements and the interim financial statements of Eureka; 
 

(d) news releases and material change reports announcing annual or interim financial results or otherwise 
disclosing the financial performance of Eureka, including the use of non-GAAP earnings measures; 

 
(e) the annual report of Eureka; 

 
(f) all financial-related disclosure to be included in management proxy circulars of Eureka in connection 

with meetings of shareholders; and 
 

(g) all financial-related disclosure to be included in or incorporated by reference into any prospectus or 
other offering documents that may be prepared by Eureka. 

 

As part of this review process, the Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors without 



 

 

 

management present to receive input from the external auditors with respect to the acceptability and quality of the relevant 
financial information. 

The Audit Committee will also review the following items in relation to the above listed 
documents: 

 
(a) significant accounting and reporting issues or plans to change accounting practices or policies and the 

financial impact thereof; 
 

(b) any significant or unusual transactions; 
 

(c) significant management estimates and judgments; and 
 

(d) monthly financial statements. 
 

Following the review by the Audit Committee of the documents set out above, the Audit Committee 
will recommend to the Board of Directors that such documents be approved by the Board of Directors and filed with all 
applicable securities regulatory bodies and/or be sent to shareholders. 

 
3. External Auditors 

 

The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work 
of the external auditors of Eureka (including resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditors 
regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing its audit report or performing other audit, review or 
attest services. As a result, the Audit Committee will review and recommend the appointment of the external auditors 
and the remuneration of the external auditors. 

 

The Audit Committee will review on an annual basis the performance of the external auditors of Eureka. 
The Audit Committee will discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or non- audit services that the 
external auditors propose to provide to Eureka or any of its subsidiaries that may impact the objectivity and independence of 
the external auditors in order to satisfy itself of the independence of the external auditors. 

 

In addition, the Audit Committee will review on an annual basis the scope and plan of the work to be done 
by the external auditors of Eureka for the coming financial year. 

 
Prior to the release of the annual financial statements of Eureka, the Audit Committee will discuss 

certain matters required to be communicated to the Audit Committee by the external auditors in accordance with the 
standards established by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The Committee will also consider the external 
auditors’ judgment about the quality and appropriateness of Eureka’s accounting principles as applied in the Eureka’s 
financial reporting. 

 
4. Legal and Compliance 

 
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing with management of Eureka the following: 

 
(a) any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations) and 

other relationships of Eureka and its subsidiaries which would have a material current or future effect 
on the financial condition of Eureka; 

 
(b) major risk exposures facing Eureka and the steps that management has taken to monitor, control and 

manage such exposures, including Eureka’s risk assessment and risk management guidelines and 
policies; 



 

 

 

 
(c) any litigation, claim or other contingency, including tax assessments that could have a material effect 

upon the financial position or operating results of Eureka and its subsidiaries and the manner in which 
these matters have been disclosed in the financial statements; and 
the quarterly and annual certificates of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of 
Eureka certifying Eureka’s quarterly and annual financial filings in compliance with Multilateral 
Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

 
5. Internal Controls 

 
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the adequacy of Eureka’s internal control structures 

and procedures designed to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 
 

The Audit Committee is responsible for establishing procedures for the following: 
 

(a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by Eureka regarding accounting, internal 
accounting controls, or auditing matters; and 

 
(b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees or consultants of Eureka of concerns regarding 

questionable accounting or auditing matters. 
 

The Audit Committee will review and approve Eureka’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees 
and former partners and employees of the present and former external auditors. The Audit Committee will also review 
the letters from the external auditors of Eureka outlining the material weaknesses in internal controls noted from their 
audit, including relevant drafts of such letters. 
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APPENDIX G
2018 STOCK OPTION PLAN OF EUREKA RESOURCES, INC.

[see attached]
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5. ELIGIBILITY

Options shall be granted only to Eligible Persons, any registered savings plan established by an
Eligible Person or any corporation wholly owned by an Eligible Person. The term “Eligible Person”
means:

(a) a senior officer or director of the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries;

(b) either:

(i) an individual who is considered an employee under the Income Tax Act,

(ii) an individual who works full time for the Corporation providing services
normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and
direction by the Corporation over the details and methods of work as an
employee of the Corporation, but for whom income tax deductions are not
made at source, or

(iii) an individual who works for the Corporation on a continuing and regular basis
for a minimum amount of time per week (the number of hours should be
disclosed in the submission) providing services normally provided by an
employee and who is subject to the same control and direction by the
Corporation over the details and methods of work as an employee of the
Corporation, but for whom income tax deductions are not made at source

(in any case, an “Employee”);

(c) an individual employed by a corporation, incorporated association or organization, body
corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual (a
“Company”), which individual is providing management services to the Corporation
through such Company, or an individual (together with a Company, a “Person”)
providing management services directly to the Corporation, which management services
are required for the ongoing successful operation of the business enterprise of the
Corporation, but excluding a Person engaged in Investor Relations Activities (as
hereafter defined) (a “Management Company Employee”);

(d) an individual (or a company or partnership of which the individual is an employee,
shareholder or partner), other than an Employee, Management Company Employee,
director or senior officer, who:

(i) provides ongoing consulting services to the Corporation or an Affiliate of the
Corporation under a written contract other than services provided in relation to
a Distribution (as defined in the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange (the “TSX
V”);

(ii) possesses technical, business or management expertise of value to the
Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation;
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(iii) spends a significant amount of time and attention on the business and affairs of
the Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation;

(iv) has a relationship with the Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation that
enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the
Corporation; and

(v) does not engage in Investor Relations Activities (as hereafter defined)

any such individual, a “Consultant”;

(e) an individual (or a company or partnership of which the individual is an employee,
shareholder or partner), other than an Employee, Management Company Employee,
director or senior officer, that falls within the definition of Consultant contained in
subsections 5(d)(i) through (iv) which provides Investor Relations Activities (an “Investor
Relations Consultant”); or

(f) a person that falls within the definition of Eligible Person contained in any of
subsections 5(a), (b) or (d) which provides Investor Relations Activities (an “Investor
Relations Person”).

For purposes of the foregoing, a Company is an “Affiliate” of another Company if: (a) one of them is the
subsidiary of the other; or (b) each of them is controlled by the same person.

The term “Investor Relations Activities” means any activities or oral or written communications, by or
on behalf of the Corporation or a shareholder of the Corporation, that promote or reasonably could be
expected to promote the purchase or sale of securities of the Corporation, but does not include:

(a) the dissemination of information provided, or records prepared, in the ordinary course
of business of the Corporation:

(i) to promote the sale of products or services of the Corporation,

(ii) to raise public awareness of the Corporation, or

(iii) that cannot reasonably be considered to promote the purchase or sale of
securities of the Corporation;

(b) activities or communications necessary to comply with the requirements of

(i) applicable securities laws, policies or regulations,

(ii) the rules, and regulations of the TSX V or the by laws, rules or other regulatory
instruments of any other self regulatory body or exchange having jurisdiction
over the Corporation; or

(c) communications by a publisher of, or writer for, a newspaper, magazine or business or
financial publication, that is of general and regular paid circulation, distributed only to
subscribers to it for value or to purchasers of it, if:
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(i) the communication is only through the newspaper, magazine or publication,
and

(ii) the publisher or writer received no commission or other consideration other
than for acting in the capacity of publisher or writer; or

(d) activities or communications that may be otherwise specified by the TSX V.

For stock options to be granted to Employees, Consultants, Management Company Employees or
Investor Relations Persons, the Corporation and the Optionee must each represent that the Optionee is
a bona fide Employee, Consultant, Management Company Employee or Investor Relations Person as the
case may be. The terms “insider”, “controlled” and “subsidiary” shall have the meanings ascribed
thereto in the Securities Act (British Columbia) from time to time. Subject to the foregoing, the Board or
Committee, as applicable, shall have full and final authority to determine the persons who are to be
granted options under the Plan and the number of Shares subject to each option.

6. LIMITS WITH RESPECT TO CONSULTANTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS PERSONS

(a) The maximum number of stock options which may be granted to any one Consultant
under the Plan, any other stock option plans of the Corporation or other options for
services granted by the Corporation, within any 12 month period, must not exceed 2%
of the Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the grant (on a non diluted basis),
without the prior consent of the TSX V.

(b) The maximum number of stock options which may be granted to Investor Relations
Persons under the Plan, any other stock option plans of the Corporation or other
options granted for services by the Corporation, within any 12 month period must not
exceed, in the aggregate, 2% of the Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the
grant (on a non diluted basis), without the prior consent of the TSX V.

7. PRICE

The purchase price (the “Price”) for the Shares under each option shall be determined by the
Board or Committee, as applicable, on the basis of the market price of the Shares, where “market price”
shall mean the prior trading day closing price of the Shares on any stock exchange on which the Shares
are listed or the last trading price on the prior trading day on any dealing network where the Shares
trade, and where there is no such closing price or trade on the prior trading day, “market price” shall
mean the average of the daily high and low board lot trading prices of the Shares on any stock exchange
on which the Shares are listed or dealing network on which the Shares trade for the five (5) immediately
preceding trading days. In the event the Shares are listed on the TSX V, the price may be the market
price less any discounts from the market price allowed by the TSX V, subject to a minimum price of
$0.10. In the event the Shares are not listed on any exchange and do not trade on any dealing network,
the market price will be determined by the Board. The approval of disinterested shareholders will be
required for any reduction in the Price of a previously granted option to an insider of the Corporation.

8. PERIOD OF OPTION AND RIGHTS TO EXERCISE

Subject to the provisions of this paragraph 8 and paragraphs 9, 10 and 17 below, options will be
exercisable in whole or in part, and from time to time, during the currency thereof. Options shall not be
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granted for a term exceeding five years. The Shares to be purchased upon each exercise of any option
(the “Optioned Shares”) shall be paid for in full at the time of such exercise. Except as provided in
paragraphs 9, 10 and 17 below, no option which is held by a service provider may be exercised unless
the Optionee is then a service provider for the Corporation.

9. CESSATION OF PROVISION OF SERVICES

Subject to paragraph 10 below, if any Optionee who is a service provider shall cease to be an
Eligible Person of the Corporation for any reason (whether or not for cause), the Optionee may, but only
within the period of ninety days (unless such period is extended by the Board or the Committee, as
applicable, to a maximum of one year next succeeding such cessation, and approval is obtained from the
stock exchange on which the Shares trade where required), or thirty days if the Eligible Person is an
Investor Relations Person (unless such period is extended by the Board or the Committee, as applicable,
to a maximum of one year next succeeding such cessation, and approval is obtained from the stock
exchange on which the Shares trade where required), next succeeding such cessation and in no event
after the expiry date of the Optionee’s options, exercise the Optionee’s options unless such period is
extended as provided in paragraph 10 below.

10. DEATH OF OPTIONEE

In the event of the death of an Optionee during the currency of the Optionee’s option, the
options theretofore granted to the Optionee shall be exercisable within, but only within, the period of
one year next succeeding the Optionee’s death. Before expiry of any options under this paragraph 10,
the Board or Committee, as applicable, shall notify the Optionee’s representative in writing of such
expiry.

11. NON ASSIGNABILITY AND NON TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTION

Any option granted under the Plan shall be non assignable and non transferable by an Optionee
otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and options shall be exercisable,
during an Optionee’s lifetime, only by the Optionee.

12. ADJUSTMENTS IN SHARES SUBJECT TO PLAN

The aggregate number and kind of shares available under the Plan shall be appropriately
adjusted in the event of a reorganization, recapitalization, stock split, stock dividend, combination of
shares, merger, consolidation, rights offering or any other change in the corporate structure or shares of
the Corporation. The options granted under the Plan may contain such provisions as the Board or
Committee, as applicable, may determine with respect to adjustments to be made in the number and
kind of shares covered by such options and in the option price in the event of any such change. If there
is a reduction in the exercise price of the options of an insider of the Corporation, the Corporation will
be required to obtain approval from disinterested shareholders.

13. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF THE PLAN

The Board or Committee, as applicable, may at any time amend or terminate the Plan, but any
such amendment shall be subject to regulatory approval, if required.
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14. EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE PLAN

The Plan becomes effective on the date of its approval by the Board.

15. EVIDENCE OF OPTIONS

Each option granted under the Plan shall be embodied in a written option agreement between
the Corporation and the applicable Optionee which shall give effect to the provisions of the Plan.

16. EXERCISE OF OPTION

Subject to the provisions of the Plan and the particular option, an option may be exercised from
time to time by an Optionee delivering to the Corporation, at its registered office, a written notice of
exercise specifying the number of Shares with respect to which the option is being exercised and
accompanied by payment in cash or certified cheque for the full amount of the purchase price of the
Shares then being purchased.

Upon receipt of a certificate of an authorized officer directing the issue of Shares purchased
under the Plan, the transfer agent is authorized and directed to issue and countersign share certificates
for the Optioned Shares in the name of such Optionee or the Optionee’s legal personal representative or
as may be directed in writing by the Optionee’s legal personal representative.

17. VESTING RESTRICTIONS

Options issued under the Plan may vest at the discretion of the Board or Committee, as
applicable, provided that if required by any stock exchange on which the Shares then trade, options
issued to Investor Relations Consultants must vest in stages over not less than 12 months with no more
than one quarter (1/4) of the options vesting in any three month period.

18. NOTICE OF SALE OF ALL OR SUBSTANTIALLY ALL SHARES OR ASSETS

If at any time when an option granted under this Plan remains unexercised with respect to any
Optioned Shares:

(a) the Corporation seeks approval from its shareholders for a transaction which, if
completed, would constitute an Acceleration Event; or

(b) a third party makes a bona fide formal offer or proposal to the Corporation or its
shareholders which, if accepted, would constitute an Acceleration Event,

the Corporation shall notify the Optionees in writing of such transaction, offer or proposal as soon as
practicable and, provided that the Board or Committee, as applicable, has determined that no
adjustment shall be made pursuant to section 12 hereof, (i) the Board or Committee, as applicable, may
permit any Optionee to exercise their options granted under this Plan, as to all or any of the Optioned
Shares in respect of which such option has not previously been exercised (regardless of any vesting
restrictions), during the period specified in the notice (but in no event later than the expiry date of the
option), so that the Optionee may participate in such transaction, offer or proposal; and (ii) the Board or
Committee, as applicable, may require the acceleration of the time for the exercise of the said option
and of the time for the fulfilment of any conditions or restrictions on such exercise.
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For these purposes, an “Acceleration Event” means:

(a) the acquisition by any “offeror” (as defined National Instrument 62 104 Take Over
Bids and Issuer Bids of the Canadian Securities Administrators) of beneficial ownership
of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Corporation, by means of a
take over bid or otherwise;

(b) any consolidation or merger of the Corporation in which the Corporation is not the
continuing or surviving corporation or pursuant to which shares of the Corporation
would be converted into cash, securities or other property, other than a merger of the
Corporation in which shareholders immediately prior to the merger have the same
proportionate ownership of stock of the surviving corporation immediately after the
merger;

(c) any sale, lease exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related
transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation; or

(d) the approval by the shareholders of the Corporation of any plan of liquidation or
dissolution of the Corporation.

19. RIGHTS PRIOR TO EXERCISE

An Optionee shall have no rights whatsoever as a shareholder in respect of any of the Optioned
Shares (including any right to receive dividends or other distributions therefrom or thereon) other than
in respect of Optioned Shares in respect of which the Optionee shall have exercised the option to
purchase hereunder and which the Optionee shall have actually taken up and paid for.

20. EXPIRY OF OPTION

(a) On the expiry date of any option granted under the Plan, and subject to any extension of
such expiry date permitted in accordance with the Plan, such option shall forthwith
expire and terminate and be of no further force or effect whatsoever as to such of the
Optioned shares in respect of which the option has not been exercised.

(b) Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Plan, and subject to the applicable
provisions in the TSX V Corporate Finance Manual, if an option expires during a Blackout
Period (as defined herein) applicable to an applicable Optionee, then the expiration date
for that option shall be the date that is the tenth business day after the expiry date of
such Blackout Period, unless, at the applicable time, the applicable Optionee or the
Corporation is subject to a cease trade order (or similar order under applicable
securities laws) in respect of the Corporation’s securities. This section applies to all
options outstanding under this Plan. For the purposes of this Plan, “Blackout Period”
means a period of time during which an Optionee cannot exercise an option or sell
Optioned Shares due to the Corporation’s insider trading policy or any other applicable
policy of the Corporation.
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21. TAX MATTERS

The Corporation shall have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require an
Optionee to remit to the Corporation, the required amount to satisfy federal, provincial and local taxes,
domestic or foreign, required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to any taxable event
arising as a result of the Plan, including the grant or exercise of any stock option granted under the Plan.
With respect to any required withholding, the Corporation shall have the irrevocable right to, and the
Optionee consents to, the Corporation setting off any amounts required to be withheld, in whole or in
part, against amounts otherwise owing by the Corporation to the Optionee (whether arising pursuant to
the Optionee’s relationship as a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Corporation or
otherwise), or may make such other arrangements that are satisfactory to the Optionee and the
Corporation. In addition, the Corporation may elect, in its sole discretion, to satisfy the withholding
requirement, in whole or in part, by withholding such number of Shares issuable upon exercise of the
stock options as it determines are required to be sold by the Corporation, as trustee, to satisfy any
withholding obligations net of selling costs. The Optionee consents to such sale and grants to the
Corporation an irrevocable power of attorney to effect the sale of such Shares issuable upon exercise of
the stock options and acknowledges and agrees that the Corporation does not accept responsibility for
the price obtained on the sale of such Shares issuable upon exercise of the stock options.

22. GOVERNING LAW

This Plan, and all matters related hereto or arising hereunder, shall be construed in accordance
with and be governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia and shall be deemed to have been
made in said Province, and shall be in accordance with all applicable securities laws.
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APPENDIX H

AUDITED ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANDMANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF EUREKA RESOURCES, INC. AS AT AND FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2017 AND OCTOBER 31,

2016 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 31, 2018 AND 2017

[see attached]
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EUREKA RESOURCES INC.
CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at January 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

January 31,
2018

October 31,
2017

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 68,781 $ 2,686
Restricted cash – Note 8 - 72,011
GST receivable 2,407 20,333
BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable – Note 6 11,112 11,112
Yukon Mining Exploration grant receivable – Note 6 - 80,000
Prepaid expenses 5,625 15,028

Total current assets 87,925 201,170

Non-current assets
Reclamation bonds – Note 7 21,204 21,718
Exploration and evaluation assets – Notes 6 and 9 1,169,570 1,168,164

Total non-current assets 1,190,774 1,189,882

Total assets $ 1,278,699 $ 1,391,052

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 45,986 $ 67,406
Due to related parties – Note 9 140,582 290,397

Total current liabilities 186,568 357,803

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital – Note 8 7,390,156 7,269,573
Reserves – Note 8 938,536 938,536
Deficit (7,236,561) (7,174,860)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,092,131 1,033,249

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,278,699 $ 1,391,052

Corporate Information – Note 1
Basis of Preparation – Note 2
Commitments – Notes 6 and 8
Subsequent Events – Note 12

Approved by the Directors:

“Brent Petterson”    Director “Michael Sweatman”    Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements



EUREKA RESOURCES INC.
CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

2018 2017

EXPENS ES
Accounting and audit – Note 9 $ 9,000 $ 15,130
Consulting fees – Note 9 6,424 28,500
Filing and listing fees 1,400 4,633
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (403) 902
Insurance 3,536 2,500
Legal 7,586 10,702
Management fees – Note 9 18,000 18,000
Marketing 5,000 54,753
Office 3,525 3,486
Rent 3,275 2,075
Shareholder communications 1,500 3,843
Share-based compensation – Notes 8 and 9 - 114,000
Storage 429 411
Transfer agent 2,042 1,823
Travel and entertainment 207 3,395
Website 180 530

(61,701) (264,683)
OTHER
    Unrealized loss on marketable securities – Note 5 - (6,250)

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period $ (61,701) $ (270,933)

Basic and diluted loss per share $     (0.001) $     (0.008)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 47,307,511 36,008,140

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements



EUREKA RESOURCES INC.
CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

2018 2017

Cash Provided By (Used In):

Operating Activities
Loss for the period $ (61,701) $ (270,933)

Adjustments for items not involving cash:
Share-based compensation - 114,000
Unrealized loss on marketable securities - 6,250
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 514 782

Net changes in non-cash working capital components:
GST receivable 17,926 1,180
Prepaid expenses 9,403 18,958
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (18,743) 12,241
Due to related parties 32,784 105

(19,817) (117,417)

Investing Activities
Yukon Mining Exploration grant received 80,000 -
Exploration and evaluation assets (186,682) (56,871)

(106,682) (56,871)
Financing Activities

Proceeds from the issuance of shares 126,250 73,587
Share issuance costs (5,667) (1,992)

120,583 71,595

Change in cash during period (5,916) (102,693)

Cash and restricted cash, beginning of period 74,697 392,664

Cash and restricted cash, end of period $ 68,781 $ 289,971

Supplementary cash flow information:

Interest paid in cash $ - $ -

Income taxes paid in cash $ - $ -

Non-cash Transactions – Note 11

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Eureka Resources Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, 
Canada on June 16, 1981.  Eureka Minerals (USA) Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada, 
USA on June 23, 2016.  

The Company’s business is the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties located in the Province 
of British Columbia, Canada, in the Yukon Territory, Canada and in the State of Nevada, USA.  The Company’s 
common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the symbol “EUK”.  The 
Company’s head office is Suite 1100 - 1111 Melville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 3V6. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of Compliance

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.  

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements do not include all of the information and disclosures 
required to be included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.  These condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual financial 
statements for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016.

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on May 24, 2018 by the 
directors of the Company.

Going Concern

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements are prepared using IFRS applicable to a going concern, 
which contemplates the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.  Future operations are dependent on the 
Company’s ability to raise additional equity financing and the attainment of profitable operations.

The Company has a history of operating losses and at January 31, 2018, has an accumulated deficit of $7,236,561.
At January 31, 2018, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $98,643.  The Company will require 
additional equity financings in order to continue exploration of its exploration and evaluation assets and fund its 
administrative operations but believes that it can maintain operations for the next twelve months.

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the 
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary 
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. These conditions may cast significant doubt about 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Principles of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and the following subsidiary:  

Name of subsidiary Country of Incorporation
Percentage 
ownership Principal Activity

Eureka Minerals (USA) Inc. USA 100% Exploration of Mineral Properties

The Company consolidates the subsidiary on the basis that it controls the subsidiary through its ability to govern its 
financial and operating policies.  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d…)

Basis of Measurement 

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
financial instruments classified as financial instruments as fair value through profit and loss, which are stated at their 
fair value. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for 
cash flow information.  All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified. 

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

Critical Judgments

The preparation of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make 
judgments regarding the going concern of the Company as discussed in Note 2.

Estimations and assumptions

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made at 
the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the 
following:

i) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The carrying amount of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets properties does not necessarily represent 
present or future values, and the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets have been accounted for under the 
assumption that the carrying amount will be recoverable. Recoverability is dependent on various factors, including 
the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to 
complete the development and upon future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the mineral 
properties themselves. Additionally, there are numerous geological, economic, environmental and regulatory factors 
and uncertainties that could impact management’s assessment as to the overall viability of its properties or to the 
ability to generate future cash flows necessary to cover or exceed the carrying value of the Company’s exploration 
and evaluation assets.

ii) Share-based Payments

The estimation of share-based payments includes estimating the inputs used in calculating the fair value for share-
based payments expense included in profit or loss and share-based share issuance costs included in equity. Share-
based payments expense and share-based share issuance costs are estimated using the Black-Scholes options-pricing 
model as measured on the grant date to estimate the fair value of stock options. This model involves the input of 
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected price volatility of the Company’s common shares, the 
expected life of the options, and the estimated forfeiture rate.

iii) Income Taxes

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an assessment 
of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry 
of those deductions. Management assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets 
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable 
income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful discovery, extraction, development and commercialization 
of mineral reserves. To the extent that management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize future tax 
deductions changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or fewer deferred tax assets, and future 
income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

All expenditures related to the cost of exploration and evaluation of mineral resources including acquisition costs for 
interests in mineral claims are capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets and are classified as intangible assets. 
General exploration costs not related to specific mineral properties or incurred prior to acquisition are expensed as 
incurred. If economically recoverable reserves are developed, capitalized costs of the related property are 
reclassified as mining assets and upon commencement of commercial production, are amortized using the units of 
production method over estimated recoverable reserves. Impairment is assessed at the level of cash-generating units.

Exploration and evaluation assets are regularly reviewed for impairment or whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. When an impairment review is 
undertaken, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the higher of a value in use (being the present value 
of expected future cash flows of the relevant cash generating unit) and fair value less costs to sell. If the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Impairment of a property is generally considered to 
have occurred if one of the following factors are present; the rights to explore have expired or are near to expiry with 
no expectation of renewal, no further substantive expenditures are planned or budgeted, exploration and evaluation 
work is discontinued in an area for which commercially viable quantities have not been discovered, and indications 
exist that development in a specific area is likely to proceed, but the carrying amount is unlikely to be recovered in 
full by development or sale.

The Company has not yet determined whether or not any of its exploration and evaluation assets contain 
economically recoverable reserves. Amounts capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets do not necessarily 
reflect present or future values.

Decommissioning and Restoration Provisions

The Company recognizes liabilities for legal or constructive obligations associated with the retirement of 
exploration and evaluation assets and equipment. The net present value of future rehabilitation costs is capitalized to 
the related asset along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period incurred. Discount 
rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. 

The Company’s estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements, 
discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are 
recorded directly to the related assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

The Company had no decommissioning liabilities as at January 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017.

Government assistance 

When the Company is entitled to receive mineral exploration tax credits or other government grants, these amounts 
are recognized as a recovery of exploration and evaluation assets when there is reasonable assurance of their receipt.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d...)

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates and has 
been determined for each entity within the Company.  The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian 
dollar and the functional currency of Eureka Minerals (USA) Inc. is the Canadian dollar.  The functional currency 
determinations were conducted through an analysis of the consideration factors identified in IAS 21.

i) Transactions and Balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the relevant functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the 
Company that are determined in foreign amounts are translated at the rate of exchange at the date of the statement of 
financial position.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in the statement of loss.

Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.  These 
reclassifications did not affect prior years’ comprehensive losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d...)

Share-based Payments

The stock option plan allows Company employees, directors and consultants to acquire shares of the Company. The 
fair value of options granted is recognized as a share-based payments expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes 
(direct employee) or provides services similar to those performed by a direct employee.  Consideration paid on the 
exercise of stock options is credited to share capital and the fair value of the options is reclassified from contributed 
reserves to share capital.

The fair value is measured at grant date and each tranche is recognized over the period during which the options 
vest. The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model which takes 
into consideration the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. At each financial position 
reporting date, the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of stock options that are 
expected to vest.

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods or services received 
by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the share-based 
payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received.

Income Taxes

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the local taxable income or loss for the year, using local tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the financial position reporting date, and includes any adjustments to tax 
payable or receivable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred income taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the financial position reporting date. Deferred tax is not recognized 
for temporary differences which arise on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realized. 

Flow-through shares

Canadian income tax legislation permits an enterprise to issue securities referred to as flow-through shares, whereby 
the investor can claim the tax deductions arising from the renunciation of the related resource expenditures. The 
Company accounts for flow-through shares whereby the premium paid for the flow-through shares in excess of the 
market value of the shares without flow-through features at the time of issue is credited to other liabilities and 
included in income tax recovery at the same time the qualifying expenditures are made.

Loss Per Share

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss 
attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share does not adjust the loss attributable to common shareholders or 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d...)

Financial Instruments

Financial Assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following four 
categories: held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivables or at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). 

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized through 
profit or loss.  The Company’s cash, restricted cash and marketable securities are classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity assets are measured at amortized cost.  The 
Company’s GST receivable, BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable and Yukon Mining Exploration grant
receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Financial assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair 
value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income and loss except for losses in value 
that are considered other than temporary which are recognized in profit or loss. As at January 31, 2018 and October
31, 2017, the Company has not classified any financial assets as available for sale. The Company classifies its 
reclamation bonds as held to maturity.

Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs 
associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 
If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows:

a) Financial assets carried at amortized cost: The loss is the difference between the amortized cost of the asset and 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly through 
the use of an allowance account.

b) Available-for-sale financial assets: The impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of the asset 
and its fair value at the measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized in the statement of 
loss and comprehensive loss. This amount represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive 
income that is reclassified to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPL or other financial 
liabilities.  

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating 
the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial 
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to 
related parties are classified as other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as 
FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period the carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any.  The recoverable amount 
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Fair value is determined as the amount that would be 
obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties.  In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  If the recoverable 
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period.  For an asset that does not 
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.  Following the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation charge applicable to the 
asset is adjusted prospectively in order to systematically allocate the revised carrying amount, net of any residual 
value, over the remaining useful life.

Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate and its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior 
years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Share Capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and 
stock options are recognized as a deduction from equity. Common shares issued for consideration other than cash, 
are valued based on their market value at the date the shares are issued. 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of warrants attached to private 
placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on 
fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  The Company considers the 
fair value of common shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable component and the 
common shares are valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing market price on the announcement date.  
The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 
contributed reserves.

New Standards Adopted for the Year Ended October 31, 2017

There were no changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies during the year ended October 31, 2017 
that had a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

New Standards Adopted for the Year Ended October 31, 2018

IFRS 15 - New standard to establish principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.  The adoption of this new standard had no effect 
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were issued by the 
IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for future accounting periods.  The following have not yet been adopted by the 
Company and are being evaluated to determine their impact.
a) IFRS 9 – New standard that replaced IAS 39 for classification and measurement, effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

b) IFRS 16 – Leases: New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019. 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to 
the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The fair values of the Company’s receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties 
approximate their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the 
Company’s reclamation bonds also approximates its carrying value. The following table illustrates the classification 
of the Company’s financial instruments within the fair value hierarchy as at January 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

October 31, 2017:
Cash $ 2,686 $ - $ -
Restricted cash $ 72,011 $ - $ -

January 31, 2018:
Cash $ 68,781 $ - $ -

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:

Credit risk 

The Company’s cash is held with large financial institutions. The Company’s receivables consist of sales taxes and 
exploration grants and tax credits receivable from the Government of Canada and the Governments of British 
Columbia and the Yukon Territory. Management believes that credit risk concentration with respect to cash and 
receivables is remote.

Liquidity risk 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due. As at January 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $68,781 to settle current liabilities of 
$186,568. Management intends to raise additional funds through equity financings or alternative forms of financing 
to meet its current liabilities when they become due.  See going concern discussion in Note 2.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d...)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, and commodity 
and equity prices. 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company has cash which is not subject to significant risks in fluctuating interest rates.  The Company’s 
current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit certificates issued by its banking 
institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings 
of its banks. An increase to interest rates by 1% would have an insignificant effect on the Company’s 
operations.

b) Price risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity price risk is defined 
as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 
general movements in the level of the stock market. The Company’s marketable securities are subject to price 
risk.  Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to 
commodity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices of gold, 
individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by 
the Company.

c) Foreign currency risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash denominated in US dollars. As 
at January 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017 a 10% fluctuation in the US Dollar against the Canadian Dollar 
would not have a significant impact on profit and loss.

5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

During the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had the following marketable securities 
transactions:

2018 2017
Fair value, beginning $ - $ 28,750
Unrealized loss - (6,250)
Fair value, ending $ - $ 22,500

The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities is measured at each reporting date by reference to the closing 
price of the shares.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

FG Gold Project:

The Company holds a 100% interest in 33 contiguous claims comprising the FG Gold Project area.  The claims are
located in the Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia.

i. Under the terms of a Settlement Agreement in which a dispute between the Company and a former optionee 
of the property was settled, the Company must issue 200,000 common shares to the former optionee owners 
upon completion of a positive feasibility study;

ii. In addition, the Company must issue 210,000 common shares to a former director in consideration for 
exploration work done on the property, as follows:

Upon completion of feasibility study recommending production 70,000
Upon commencement of production 70,000
Upon repayment of pre-production capital costs 70,000

iii. The property is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) which becomes payable after the capital 
required to bring the property into commercial production is recovered from production.  The NSR is 
limited to a maximum of $2,600,000 with an allowance for the change in the Consumer Price Index from 
September 22, 1989 to the date the royalty becomes payable. 

Canarc Resource Corp (“Canarc”) Option Agreement

On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into an option agreement with Canarc which provided Canarc the option 
to earn up to a 75% interest in the FG Property.

In July, 2017, Canarc informed the Company that it would not be proceeding with the option agreement on the FG 
property, and the agreement terminated on August 4, 2017.  Canarc paid the Company $35,000 in lieu of exploration 
work that it was required to perform on certain of the FG claims.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)

Gemini Lithium Project:

On January 20, 2016, the Company entered into an interim agreement with Nevada Sunrise Gold Corporation 
(“Nevada Sunrise”), a public company with directors and officers in common with the Company, to acquire a 50% 
participating interest in the Gemini Lithium Project (“Gemini”) located in the Lida Valley, Esmeralda County, 
Nevada, USA.  

Pursuant to the terms of the interim agreement, the Company had the right to acquire a 50% participating interest in 
Gemini by reimbursing Nevada Sunrise for 50% of the Gemini acquisition and evaluation costs.  In addition, the 
Company would issue Nevada Sunrise 500,000 common shares as a prospect fee, with 300,000 shares to be issued 
on receipt of regulatory acceptance of the agreement and 200,000 to be issued on the first anniversary of such 
acceptance.  The Company and Nevada Sunrise would enter into a joint venture on Gemini with Nevada Sunrise 
acting as operator of exploration. The interim agreement was subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and 
approvals all of which were met.  The agreement was a non-arm’s length transaction under TSXV policies. The 
non-independent directors abstained from voting on the agreement. 

On May 4, 2016, the companies signed an addendum to the interim agreement in which they agreed that the 
companies had completed their due diligence review on Gemini, that a definitive joint venture agreement would be 
entered into (signed on September 21, 2016) and that in the event that one of the companies divests of its 50% 
interest in Gemini, the remaining company would become the operator at Gemini by default. The Company paid 
Nevada Sunrise 50% of the acquisition and evaluation costs.

On June 6, 2016, the companies received TSXV acceptance of the interim agreement and the addendum and the 
Company issued 300,000 common shares with a fair value of $28,500 to Nevada Sunrise.

On May 2, 2017, Nevada Sunrise divested its 50% interest in Gemini, and consequently the Company became the 
operator of the Gemini project.  In late 2017, Nevada Sunrise re-acquired its 50% interest in Gemini as a result of 
the termination of an option agreement.

On June 6, 2017, the Company issued 200,000 common shares with a fair value of $11,000 to Nevada Sunrise.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)

Gold Creek Project:

On November 14, 2016, the Company entered into an option agreement under which the Company was granted the
option to earn up to a 100% interest in the Gold Creek Project, located in the Cariboo Mining Division, British 
Columbia.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company could earn up to a 100% interest in Gold Creek in three stages:

- 49% by incurring a minimum of $30,000 in exploration expenditures by November 14, 2016 (incurred);

- an additional 26%, by issuing 50,000 common shares (issued with a fair value of $2,500) and incurring an 
additional $50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2017 (incurred);

- an additional 25% by issuing an additional 100,000 common shares (issued with a fair value of $5,000) and 
incurring an additional $50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2018 (incurred).

At January 31, 2018, the Company has exercised its option on the Gold Creek property and owns a 100% interest in 
the property.  The vendor retained a 1% net smelter royalty of which the Company may purchase 0.5% for 
$1,000,000.

BC Mining Exploration Tax Credit

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable of 
$11,112 (2016 - $Nil) as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the Gold Creek property.

Luxor Gold Project:

On December 12, 2016, the Company entered into a purchase agreement in which the Company purchased a 100% 
interest in three non-contiguous claim blocks covering 360 claims and known as the Luxor Project located in the 
Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory. 

On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 2,500,000 common shares with a fair value of $262,500 to the vendors.
The vendors agreed to an arrangement under which the shares become free trading on the following dates:

- June 28, 2017               833,334 shares (released);
- December 28, 2017:     833,334 shares (released);
- June 28, 2018:              833,332 shares.

In addition, the Company issued 125,000 common shares with a fair value of $13,125 as a finder’s fee.

The Company has committed to use the vendors to perform exploration work on the properties totaling $750,000 
over four years as follows:

- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2017 (incurred);
- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2018;
- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2019;
- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2020;

The vendors retained a 2% net smelter return royalty. The Company may purchase the royalty for $1,000,000.

Yukon Mineral Exploration Program (“YMEP”)
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During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a Yukon Mineral Exploration grant receivable of 
$40,000 (2016 - $Nil), received under YMEP, as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the Luxor property.

6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)

Tak Gold Project:

On January 9, 2017, the Company entered into a purchase agreement in which the Company purchased a 100%
interest in 82 claims known as the Tak Project located in the Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory.

On February 6, 2017, the Company issued 500,000 common shares with a fair value of $50,000 to the vendors.  The 
vendors agreed to an arrangement under which the shares become free trading on the following dates:

- On closing                                                  125,000 shares (released)
- Six months from closing                            125,000 shares (released)
- Twelve months from closing                     125,000 shares (released)
- Eighteen months from closing                   125,000 shares

The vendors retained a 2% net smelter return royalty.  The Company may purchase 1% for $1,000,000.

Yukon Mineral Exploration Program (“YMEP”)

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a Yukon Mineral Exploration grant receivable of 
$40,000 (2016 - $Nil), received under YMEP, as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the Tak property.

CKN Project:

On April 5, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement to earn a 100% interest in 2 claims covering 1,356 
hectares known as the CKN Project, located in the Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia. To earn the 100% 
interest, the Company must make the following cash and share payments to the vendor, and incur the following 
minimum exploration expenditures:

Due Date Cash Common Shares
Exploration 
Expenditures

Closing Date $15,000 (paid) 50,000 (issued) $Nil

On or before July 1, 2018 $20,000 100,000 $40,000

On or before July 1, 2019 $30,000 100,000 $80,000

On or before July 1, 2020 $50,000 200,000 $100,000

On or before July 1, 2021 $100,000 250,000 $Nil

On April 21, 2017, the Company received TSXV acceptance of the option agreement issued 50,000 common shares 
with a fair value of $4,750. In May 2017, the Company staked two additional contiguous claims at a cost of $859 
which covered an additional 491 hectares and brought the total claim block to 1,847 hectares.

On December 23, 2017, the Company informed the vendor that it would not be proceeding with the option 
agreement on the CKN Project. The Company recorded a write-off of exploration and evaluation assets of $36,901
at October 31, 2017.

7. RECLAMATION BONDS

The Company has placed a reclamation bond of $10,000 with the Province of British Columbia as security for 
reclamation obligations under the mining regulations in the Province of British Columbia. The Company has placed 
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a reclamation bond of US$9,108 with the Bureau of Land Management in the State of Nevada as security for 
reclamation obligations under mining regulations in the State of Nevada.

8. SHARE CAPITAL

a) Authorized:  

Unlimited number of common shares without par value

b) Issued: 

On January 31, 2018, there were 50,462,402 (October 31, 2017 – 45,712,402) common shares issued and 
outstanding.

Three Months Ended January 31, 2018:

On December 28, 2017, the Company issued 4,000,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
4,000,000 common shares at $0.025 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000.  In connection with the private 
placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $4,550.

On January 22, 2018, the Company issued 750,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
750,000 common shares at $0.035 per share for gross proceeds of $26,250.  In connection with the private 
placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $367 and filing fees of $750.

Year Ended October 31, 2017:

Private Placement

On December 29, 2016, the Company issued 707,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
707,000 flow-through units at $0.10 per unit for proceeds of $70,700.  As the unit price received for the flow-
through units was equivalent to the market price of the Company’s common shares on the date of issuance, no 
premium was recorded on the flow-through units.  Each unit contained one flow-through common share and 
one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common 
share at $0.15 per share until December 29, 2018. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid 
finder’s fees of $1,992 and issued 19,920 finder’s warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to 
purchase one non-flow-through unit with the same terms as the private placement units at $0.10 per unit until 
December 29, 2018.

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $1,394 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price 
volatility, determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.94%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 145%
Dividend rate 0%



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

All share purchase warrants issued, including those issued as finders' fees, are subject to an acceleration clause, 
which will cause the warrants, if unexercised, to expire on the date which is 30 days after the date that the 
volume-weighted average trading price of the Company's common shares on the TSXV exceeds $0.25 per share 
over a period of ten consecutive trading days.

8. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b)    Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2017: (cont’d)

Private Placement

On May 31, 2017, the Company issued 6,340,430 units (3,261,055 flow-through units at $0.09 per unit and 
3,079,375 non-flow-through units at $0.08 per unit) for total proceeds of $539,845. The Company allocated 
proceeds of $32,611 to other income for the flow-through premium on the flow-through portion of the private 
placement.  In addition, the Company allocated proceeds of $63,404 to contributed surplus for the fair value of 
the warrants issued on the private placement using the residual method.

A portion of the proceeds from the flow-through units were held in trust and released as eligible expenditures 
were incurred. At October 31, 2017, there were funds held in trust of $72,011 (2016 - $Nil).  These funds were 
classified as restricted cash on the consolidated statement of financial position.  They were released during the 
three months ended January 31, 2018.

Each flow-through unit consisted of one flow-through common share and one-half of one share purchase 
warrant.  Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share 
until May 31, 2019.  The proceeds from the issuance of the flow-through units were used for exploration of the 
Company’s mineral properties in British Columbia and the Yukon Territory. 

Each non-flow-through unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each 
whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until May 31, 
2019.  

The Company paid finder’s fees of $30,675, 187,500 common shares with a fair value of $13,125, 187,500 
share purchase warrants and 13,332 finder’s warrants.

Each share purchase warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until 
May 31, 2019.  Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase a non-flow-through unit at $0.09 per unit 
until May 31, 2019.

The fair value of the share purchase warrants issued was calculated as $5,625 using the Black-Scholes Option 
Pricing Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price 
volatility, determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.88%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 126%



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Dividend rate 0%

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $533 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price 
volatility, determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.88%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 126%
Dividend rate 0%

8. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b)    Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2017: (cont’d)

Luxor Acquisition

On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 2,625,000 common shares with a fair value of $275,625 to acquire a 
100% interest in the Luxor Project. 

Finder’s Warrants Exercised

On January 20, 2017, the Company issued 38,500 common shares and 38,500 warrants exercisable at $0.125 
per share until April 29, 2018 pursuant to the exercise of 38,500 finder’s warrants at $0.075 for proceeds of 
$2,887.

Tak Acquisition

On February 6, 2017, the Company issued 500,000 common shares with a fair value of $50,000 to acquire a 
100% interest in the Tak Project.  

CKN Option Payment

On April 21, 2017, the Company issued 50,000 common shares with a fair value of $4,750 as an option 
payment on the CKN Project.

Gemini Prospect Fee

On June 6, 2017, the Company issued 200,000 common shares with a fair value of $11,000 as a prospecting fee 
on the Gemini Project.

Gold Creek Option Payment

On July 5, 2017, the Company issued 150,000 common shares with a fair value of $7,500 as an option payment 
on the Gold Creek Project.
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8. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

c)     Stock Options: 

The Company has a Stock Option Plan (“the Plan”) under which it is authorized to grant options to directors, 
officers, consultants or employees of the Company.  The number of options that may be granted under the Plan 
is limited to 10% of the number of issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the date of grant.  
The exercise price of options granted under the Plan may not be less than the market value of the Company’s 
common shares on the date of grant.  Options granted under the Plan have a maximum life of five years and vest 
on the date of grant, over a period determined by management, or over a period mandated by TSX-V policy.

A summary of stock option activity for the three months ended January 31, 2018 and for the year ended October
31, 2017 is as follows:

Number of Options Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Outstanding options, October 31, 2016 2,300,000 $0.10
     Granted 1,150,000 $0.12
     Cancelled (350,000) $0.11
Outstanding options, October 31, 2017 and January 31, 2018 3,100,000 $0.11
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8. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

c) Stock Options: (cont’d)

On January 16, 2017, the Company granted 950,000 stock options to directors, officers and consultants of the 
Company.  The options entitle the holders to purchase one common share for each option held at $0.13 until 
January 16, 2022. The fair value of the stock options of $114,000 or $0.12 per option was determined using the 
Black Scholes option valuation model.   

On April 28, 2017, the Company granted 200,000 stock options to a director of the Company.  The options 
entitle the holder to purchase one common share for each option held at $0.10 until April 28, 2022. The fair 
value of the stock options of $16,000 or $0.08 per option was determined using the Black Scholes option 
valuation model.     

Share-based compensation expense was determined using the following weighted average assumptions: 

Year ended
October 31, 2017

Risk-free interest rate 1.39%
Expected life of options 5 years
Annualized volatility 169%
Dividend rate 0%
Forfeiture rate 0%
Share price on grant date $   0.12

At January 31, 2018, there were 3,100,000 stock options outstanding entitling the holders thereof the right to 
purchase one common share for each option held as follows:

Number of options
outstanding and exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,200,000 $0.10 June 23, 2020
800,000 $0.10 June 27, 2021
900,000 $0.13 January 16, 2022
200,000 $0.10 April 28, 2022

3,100,000

At January 31, 2018, the stock options had a weighted average remaining life of 3.23 years.
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8. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

d) Share Purchase Warrants: 

A summary of share purchase warrant activity for the three months ended January 31, 2018 and for the year
ended October 31, 2017 is as follows:

Three Months Ended
January 31, 2018

Year Ended
October 31, 2017

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Warrants outstanding, beginning of period 11,975,115 $ 0.14 9,900,400 $ 0.12

Warrants issued                  -
   

3,749,715 $ 0.15

Warrants expired       -
       

(1,675,000) $ 0.11
Warrants outstanding, end of period 11,975,115 $ 0.14 11,975,115 $ 0.14

 

At January 31, 2018, there were 11,975,115 share purchase warrants outstanding entitling the holders thereof 
the right to purchase one common share for each warrant held as follows:

Number of warrants
outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,215,000 $0.125 June 10, 2020
2,740,566 $0.125 April 29, 2018
2,033,334 $0.125 May 6, 2018

525,000 $0.20 September 9, 2018
662,500 $0.15 October 20, 2018

1,087,500 $0.15 October 26, 2018
353,500 $0.15 December 29, 2018

3,357,715 $0.15 May 31, 2019
11,975,115

At January 31, 2018, the weighted average remaining life of the outstanding warrants is 0.87 years.

Subsequent to January 31, 2018, 4,773,900 warrants exercisable at $0.125 expired unexercised.
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8. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

e) Finder’s Warrants:

A summary of finders warrant activity for the three months ended January 31, 2018 and for the year ended 
October 31, 2017 is as follows:

Three Months Ended
January 31, 2018

Year Ended
October 31, 2017

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Finders warrants outstanding, beginning of 
period       351,805 $ 0.09

      
357,053 $ 0.08

Finders warrants exercised                   - $ 0.075
       
(38,500) $ 0.075

Finders warrants issued                  - $ 0.10
       

33,252 $ 0.10

Finders warrants outstanding, end of period       351,805 $ 0.09
      

351,805 $ 0.09

At January 31, 2018, there were 351,805 finder’s warrants outstanding entitling the holders thereof the right to 
purchase one unit with the same terms as the private placement to which they relate as follows:

 
Number of finder’s warrants

outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date
116,900 $0.075 April 29, 2018
86,333 $0.075 May 6, 2018
9,000 $0.14 September 9, 2018

42,000 $0.10 October 20, 2018
64,320 $0.10 October 26, 2018
19,920 $0.10 December 29, 2018
13,332 $0.09 May 31, 2019

351,805

At January 31, 2018, the finder’s warrants had a weighted average remaining life of 0.48 years.

Subsequent to January 31, 2018, 203,233 finder’s warrants exercisable at $0.075 expired unexercised.
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred the following charges by directors
of the Company and by companies with directors and officers in common with the Company.

2018 2017

Accounting fees $ 9,000 $ 10,000
Consulting fees 5,712 8,000
Exploration and evaluation assets 445 21,350
Management fees 18,000 18,000
Share-based compensation - 72,000

$ 33,157 $ 129,350

Key Management Compensation:

During the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred the following key management 
compensation charges. Key management includes the Company’s directors and executive officers.

2018 2017

Accounting fees $ 9,000 $ 10,000
Consulting fees 5,712 8,000
Exploration and evaluation assets 445 21,350
Management fees 18,000 18,000
Share-based compensation - 72,000

$ 33,157 $ 129,350

At January 31, 2018, due to related parties includes $140,582 (October 31, 2017 - $290,397) payable to directors of 
the Company and to companies with directors and officers in common with the Company for fees and expenses.

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

10. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

Operating Segment
 
The Company operates in one industry, being the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties.
 
Geographic Segments

The Company's non-current assets are located in the following countries:

 October 31, 2017
 Canada USA Total
Reclamation bonds $ 10,000 $ 11,718 $ 21,718
Exploration and evaluation assets 973,990 194,174 1,168,164
 $ 983,990 $ 205,892 $ 1,189,882

 January 31, 2018
 Canada USA Total
Reclamation bonds $ 10,000 $ 11,204 $ 21,204
Exploration and evaluation assets 974,906 194,664 1,169,570
 $ 984,906 $ 205,868 $ 1,190,774

11. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on current cash flows are excluded from the 
statements of cash flows.  The following transactions were excluded from the statements of cash flows:

During the Three Months Ended January 31, 2018:

- As at January 31, 2018 there was $335 included in exploration and evaluation assets which relates to accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities (October 31, 2017 - $3,012)

- As at January 31, 2018 there was $Nil included in exploration and evaluation assets which relates to due to 
related parties (October 31, 2017 - $182,599)

During the Three Months Ended January 31, 2017:

- the Company issued 19,920 finder’s warrants with a fair value of $1,394 pursuant to a finder’s fee agreements
on a private placement.

- the Company reclassified $3,851 from reserves to share capital on the exercise of 38,500 finder’s warrants.

- the Company issued 2,625,000 common shares with a fair value of $275,625 to acquire the exploration and 
evaluation assets.
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Acquisition of Kore Mining Ltd.

On February 24, 2018, the Company signed an amalgamation agreement with Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore”), a private 
British Columbia corporation, under which the Company agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of Kore in exchange for common shares of the Company by way of a three-cornered amalgamation. 
Kore, through its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries, owns 100% interests in the Imperial and Long Valley gold 
development projects, located in California, USA. The transaction will constitute a reverse takeover of the Company
by Kore under the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange.

Share Consolidation

As a condition of closing of the transaction, the Company will complete a consolidation of its issued and outstanding 
common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for each ten pre-consolidation common shares.

At the Company’s annual general and special meeting held on March 22, 2018, the shareholders of the Company 
authorized the board of directors to proceed with the share consolidation. 

Terms of the Transaction

The transaction will be effected by way of a three-cornered amalgamation, without court approval, under the 
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), pursuant to which, through the amalgamation of a newly 
incorporated British Columbia subsidiary of the Company and Kore, the Company will acquire all of the issued and 
outstanding Kore common shares in exchange for the issuance of shares of the Company (on a post-consolidation 
basis) and Kore will become a subsidiary of the Company.

On April 30, 2018, the Company issued 2,548,000 common shares at $0.05 per share to settle total indebtedness of 
$127,400. As of the date of these financial statements, the Company has 53,010,402 common shares issued and 
outstanding which will be reduced to 5,301,040 common shares on a post-consolidation basis. 

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company has agreed to issue three post-consolidation common shares in 
exchange for each Kore share, resulting in the shareholders of Kore being issued a total of 56,121,606 common
shares (on a post-consolidation basis). The exchange ratio was determined on the basis of this number of shares 
outstanding at closing. However, prior to the closing, the Company intends to issue shares in settlement of certain 
outstanding liabilities. If the actual number of outstanding shares immediately prior to the effective time (including 
any common shares issued in connection with the debt settlement) is greater than such amount, then the exchange 
ratio will be adjusted to ensure that, immediately following the closing, the former Kore shareholders will hold no 
less than 91.8% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares (prior to giving effect to the private placement 
(as defined below)). The transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including the receipt of approval of the 
TSX Venture Exchange.

Following the closing, the Company will continue on with the business of Kore and remain a Tier 2 Mining Issuer, 
with Kore as its operating subsidiary (with the Company, after the closing, being referred to herein as the resulting 
issuer). The resulting issuer is anticipated to hold all existing assets of the Company and Kore at closing. It is 
expected that, in connection with closing, the Company will change its name to Kore Mining Ltd., or such other 
name as agreed by the parties, with a corresponding change of trading symbol of the Company.

Certain common shares to be issued to Kore shareholders in connection with the transaction will be subject to 
escrow under the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange.
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS – (cont’d)

Private Placement

In connection with the transaction, the Company will undertake a private placement of subscription receipts for 
minimum gross proceeds of $2,000,000 and maximum gross proceeds of $7,000,000, on terms to be agreed to by the 
parties. 

On April 12, 2018, the Company announced a brokered private placement of subscription receipts to be undertaken 
through PI Financial Corp. pursuant to which it will offer up to 44,000,000 subscription receipts at $0.05 per 
subscription receipt for gross proceeds of up to $2,200,000. The private placement offering is intended to be the 
concurrent financing in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Kore.

Each subscription receipt will entitle the holder thereof the right to receive one unit of the Company. Each unit to be 
issued on conversion of the subscription receipts will consist of one common share and one-half of one share 
purchase warrant. Each full warrant will entitle the holder thereof the right to acquire an additional common share 
for a period of 24 months from the date of closing at $0.075 per share.

The number of units underlying the subscription receipts will be adjusted to reflect the one for ten share 
consolidation such that an aggregate of up to 4,400,000 units will be issued on conversion of the subscription 
receipts at $0.50 per unit with the attached warrants exercisable into common shares at $0.75 per share.

The net proceeds of the private placement offering will be held in escrow and, upon satisfaction or waiver of certain 
conditions, including all conditions of the closing of the transaction, will be released to the Company.

Expiry of the warrants will be subject to an acceleration clause if, following the issuance of the warrants, the closing 
price of the Company’s common shares equals or exceeds $1.00 per share, on a post-consolidation basis, for a 
period of 10 consecutive trading days during the exercise period. In that case, the Company may accelerate the 
expiry date of the warrants to 30 calendar days from the date notice is given by the Company, by way of a news 
release to the holders of the warrants.

The Company has agreed to grant PI Financial Corp. the option to offer such number of additional subscription 
receipts as is equal to up to 15% cent of the subscription receipts issued under the private placement offering. The 
agent's option may be exercised in whole or in part at any time up to two days prior to the closing of the offering.

The Company has agreed to pay the agent a cash commission equal to 7% of the gross proceeds of the offering 
(including any proceeds derived from exercise of the agent's option). In addition, subject to compliance with all 
required regulatory approvals, the Company will issue to the agent such number of compensation warrants as is 
equal to 7% of the aggregate subscription receipts sold under the offering (including on any exercise of the agent's 
option), each of which will entitle the agent to purchase one common share at $0.05 per share on a pre-consolidation 
basis ($0.50 per share on a post-consolidation basis) for a period of 24 months following the date of closing.
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS – (cont’d)

Conditions of Closing of the Transaction

The transaction is subject to a number of terms and conditions, including, among other things:

the Company and Kore obtaining all necessary consents, orders and regulatory approvals;
completion of a private placement for minimum gross proceeds of $2,000,000 and maximum gross proceeds of 
$7,000,000;
there being no material change occurring with respect to the businesses of the companies;
satisfaction of obligations under the agreement relating to each of the parties;
delivery by each of the parties of standard closing documents, including legal opinions;
approval of the transaction by the shareholders of both companies;
execution of support and voting agreements by all directors and officers of the companies and any shareholders 
holding greater than 10% of the issued and outstanding shares in either of the companies.

The Company intends to seek a waiver from the TSX Venture Exchange of any requirement for a sponsor in 
connection with the transaction.

It is expected that, following closing, all of the current directors and officers of the Company will resign and the 
board of directors of the resulting issuer will consist of five directors, four of which will be nominated by Kore and 
one of which will be nominated by the Company. The newly constituted board shall be placed before shareholders 
of the resulting issuer for election at the next occurring shareholders meeting.

Exclusivity and Break Fees

The Company and Kore have agreed to exclusivity terms in the agreement. However, nothing shall prohibit either 
party from complying with their duties and/or fiduciary obligations under applicable law, including, without 
limitation, with respect to any unsolicited proposal received by either party that may be superior to the transaction.

The Company and Kore have each agreed to immediately notify the other party of any information it may receive 
concerning an actual or intended offer for any or all of its assets or any of its securities and shall allow the other 
party the opportunity to match any actual bona fide offer presented in writing within three business days of such 
notice. Should the other party elect not to match the actual or intended offer, and should the recipient accept the 
offer, the recipient of the accepted offer must pay the other party a break fee of $50,000.

Principal Shareholders

In connection with the transaction, it is expected that an aggregate of 19,500,300 shares of the Company will be 
issued to 1130447 B.C. Ltd. and 15,000,300 shares of the Company will be issued to Blaxland Pacific Management 
Corp. (each on a post-consolidation basis) in exchange for their Kore shares, representing approximately 31.9% and 
24.5 %, respectively, of the Company’s outstanding shares following the closing. Each of these Kore shareholders is 
a privately incorporated British Columbia company. The foregoing percentages have been calculated based on there 
being 61,167,846 common shares of the Company issued and outstanding after giving effect to the transaction but 
before the issuance of any common shares in connection with the debt settlement and the private placement.

Trading in the Company’s shares has been halted and is expected to remain halted until closing of the transaction.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Eureka Resources Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Eureka Resources Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at October 31, 2017 and 2016, and the consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Eureka Resources Inc. as at October 31, 2017 and 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements which describes 
conditions and matters that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about Eureka 
Resources Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants

February 16, 2018



EUREKA RESOURCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2017 2016

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 2,686 $ 392,664
Restricted cash – Note 9 72,011 -
Marketable securities – Note 5 - 28,750
GST receivable 20,333 10,617
BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable – Note 6 11,112 22,755
Yukon Mining Exploration grant receivable – Note 6 80,000 -
Prepaid expenses 15,028 26,408

Total current assets 201,170 481,194

Non-current assets
Reclamation bonds – Note 7 21,718 17,212
Exploration and evaluation assets – Notes 6 and 10 1,168,164 283,921

Total non-current assets 1,189,882 301,133

Total assets $ 1,391,052 $ 782,327

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 67,406 $ 30,742
Due to related parties – Note 10 290,397 395

Total current liabilities 357,803 31,137

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital – Note 9 7,269,573 6,439,649
Reserves – Note 9 938,536 741,431
Deficit (7,174,860) (6,429,890)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,033,249 751,190

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,391,052 $ 782,327

Corporate Information – Note 1
Basis of Preparation – Note 2
Commitments – Notes 6 and 9
Subsequent Events – Note 14

Approved by the Directors:

“Brent Petterson” Director “Michael Sweatman” Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



EUREKA RESOURCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the Years Ended October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2017 2016

EXPENSES
Accounting and audit – Note 10 $ 62,830 $ 51,900
Consulting fees – Note 10 134,170 41,850
Filing and listing fees 18,042 18,845
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 643 (577)
Insurance 13,734 1,250
Legal 29,098 33,664
Management fees – Note 10 72,000 50,000
Marketing 220,091 121,667
Office 13,349 12,257
Rent – Note 10 8,892 4,350
Shareholder communications 16,003 24,278
Share-based compensation – Notes 9 and 10 130,000 81,000
Storage 1,668 1,435
Transfer agent 9,887 11,894
Travel and entertainment 5,288 7,401
Website 2,225 6,216

(737,920) (467,430)
OTHER ITEMS

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities – Note 5 (3,750) 3,750
Gain on sale of marketable securities – Note 5 990 -
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 6 (36,901) -
Other income - flow-through premium – Note 9 32,611 -

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (744,970) $ (463,680)

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.018) $ (0.018)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 40,959,076 26,174,124

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



EUREKA RESOURCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2017 2016

Cash Provided By (Used In):

Operating Activities
Loss for the year $ (744,970) $ (463,680)

Adjustments for items not involving cash:
Share-based compensation 130,000 81,000
Unrealized (gain) loss on marketable securities 3,750 (3,750)
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets 36,901 -
Gain on sale of marketable securities (990) -
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 494 -
Other income – flow-through premium (32,611) -

Net changes in non-cash working capital components:
GST receivable (9,716) (5,414)
BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable 11,643 -
Yukon Mining Exploration grant receivable (80,000) -
Prepaid expenses 11,380 (26,408)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 33,652 (2,002)
Due to related parties 107,403 24,145

(533,064) (396,109)

Investing Activities
Reclamation bonds (5,000) (12,212)
Exploration and evaluation assets (386,658) (255,697)

(391,658) (267,909)
Financing Activities

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 25,990 -
Proceeds from the issuance of shares and warrants 613,432 1,024,655
Share issuance costs (32,667) (30,652)

606,755 994,003

Change in cash during year (317,967) 329,985

Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year 392,664 62,679

Cash and restricted cash, end of year $ 74,697 $ 392,664

Supplementary cash flow information:

Interest paid in cash $ - $ -

Income taxes paid in cash $ - $ -

Non-cash Transactions – Note 12

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Eureka Resources Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada 
on June 16, 1981.  Eureka Minerals (USA) Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada, USA on June 
23, 2016.

The Company’s business is the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties located in the Province 
of British Columbia, Canada, in the Yukon Territory, Canada and in the State of Nevada, USA.  The Company’s 
common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the symbol “EUK”.  The 
Company’s head office is Suite 1100 - 1111 Melville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 3V6. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations as issued 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on February 16, 2018 by the directors of the 
Company.

Going Concern

These consolidated financial statements are prepared using IFRS applicable to a going concern, which contemplates 
the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course of business.  Future operations are dependent on the Company’s ability to raise 
additional equity financing and the attainment of profitable operations.

The Company has a history of operating losses and at October 31, 2017, has an accumulated deficit of $7,174,860.  
At October 31, 2017, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $156,633.  The Company will require 
additional equity financings in order to continue exploration of its exploration and evaluation assets and fund its 
administrative operations, but believes that it can maintain operations for the next twelve months.

These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification 
of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. These conditions may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.

Principles of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and the following subsidiary:  

Name of subsidiary Country of Incorporation
Percentage 
ownership Principal Activity

Eureka Minerals (USA) Inc. USA 100% Exploration of Mineral Properties

The Company consolidates the subsidiary on the basis that it controls the subsidiary through its ability to govern its 
financial and operating policies.  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d…)

Basis of Measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments 
classified as financial instruments as fair value through profit and loss, which are stated at their fair value. In addition,
these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow information.  
All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified. 

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

Critical Judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make judgments regarding the 
going concern of the Company as discussed in Note 2.

Estimations and assumptions

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made at the 
end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following:

i) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The carrying amount of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets properties does not necessarily represent 
present or future values, and the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets have been accounted for under the 
assumption that the carrying amount will be recoverable. Recoverability is dependent on various factors, including 
the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to 
complete the development and upon future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the mineral 
properties themselves. Additionally, there are numerous geological, economic, environmental and regulatory factors 
and uncertainties that could impact management’s assessment as to the overall viability of its properties or to the 
ability to generate future cash flows necessary to cover or exceed the carrying value of the Company’s exploration 
and evaluation assets.

ii) Share-based Payments

The estimation of share-based payments includes estimating the inputs used in calculating the fair value for share-
based payments expense included in profit or loss and share-based share issuance costs included in equity. Share-
based payments expense and share-based share issuance costs are estimated using the Black-Scholes options-pricing 
model as measured on the grant date to estimate the fair value of stock options. This model involves the input of highly 
subjective assumptions, including the expected price volatility of the Company’s common shares, the expected life of 
the options, and the estimated forfeiture rate.

iii) Income Taxes

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an assessment 
of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry 
of those deductions. Management assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets 
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable 
income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful discovery, extraction, development and commercialization of 
mineral reserves. To the extent that management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize future tax deductions 
changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or fewer deferred tax assets, and future income tax 
provisions or recoveries could be affected.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

All expenditures related to the cost of exploration and evaluation of mineral resources including acquisition costs for 
interests in mineral claims are capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets and are classified as intangible assets. 
General exploration costs not related to specific mineral properties or incurred prior to acquisition are expensed as 
incurred. If economically recoverable reserves are developed, capitalized costs of the related property are reclassified 
as mining assets and upon commencement of commercial production, are amortized using the units of production 
method over estimated recoverable reserves. Impairment is assessed at the level of cash-generating units.

Exploration and evaluation assets are regularly reviewed for impairment or whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. When an impairment review is 
undertaken, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the higher of a value in use (being the present value of 
expected future cash flows of the relevant cash generating unit) and fair value less costs to sell. If the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Impairment of a property is generally considered to have 
occurred if one of the following factors are present; the rights to explore have expired or are near to expiry with no 
expectation of renewal, no further substantive expenditures are planned or budgeted, exploration and evaluation work 
is discontinued in an area for which commercially viable quantities have not been discovered, and indications exist 
that development in a specific area is likely to proceed, but the carrying amount is unlikely to be recovered in full by 
development or sale.

The Company has not yet determined whether or not any of its exploration and evaluation assets contain economically 
recoverable reserves. Amounts capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets do not necessarily reflect present or 
future values.

Decommissioning and Restoration Provisions

The Company recognizes liabilities for legal or constructive obligations associated with the retirement of exploration 
and evaluation assets and equipment. The net present value of future rehabilitation costs is capitalized to the related 
asset along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period incurred. Discount rates using a 
pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. 

The Company’s estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements, discount 
rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are recorded directly 
to the related assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

The Company had no decommissioning liabilities as at October 31, 2017 and 2016.

Government assistance 

When the Company is entitled to receive mineral exploration tax credits or other government grants, these amounts 
are recognized as a recovery of exploration and evaluation assets when there is reasonable assurance of their receipt.  



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d...)

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates and has 
been determined for each entity within the Company.  The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar 
and the functional currency of Eureka Minerals (USA) Inc. is the Canadian dollar.  The functional currency 
determinations were conducted through an analysis of the consideration factors identified in IAS 21.

i) Transactions and Balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the relevant functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company 
that are determined in foreign amounts are translated at the rate of exchange at the date of the statement of financial 
position.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in 
the statement of loss.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d...)

Share-based Payments

The stock option plan allows Company employees, directors and consultants to acquire shares of the Company. The 
fair value of options granted is recognized as a share-based payments expense with a corresponding increase in equity. 
An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct 
employee) or provides services similar to those performed by a direct employee.  Consideration paid on the exercise 
of stock options is credited to share capital and the fair value of the options is reclassified from contributed reserves 
to share capital.

The fair value is measured at grant date and each tranche is recognized over the period during which the options vest. 
The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model which takes into
consideration the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. At each financial position reporting date, 
the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of stock options that are expected to vest.

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods or services received 
by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the share-based 
payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received.

Income Taxes

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the local taxable income or loss for the year, using local tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the financial position reporting date, and includes any adjustments to tax 
payable or receivable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred income taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the financial position reporting date. Deferred tax is not recognized for temporary 
differences which arise on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realized. 

Flow-through shares

Canadian income tax legislation permits an enterprise to issue securities referred to as flow-through shares, whereby 
the investor can claim the tax deductions arising from the renunciation of the related resource expenditures. The 
Company accounts for flow-through shares whereby the premium paid for the flow-through shares in excess of the 
market value of the shares without flow-through features at the time of issue is credited to other liabilities and included 
in income tax recovery at the same time the qualifying expenditures are made.

Loss Per Share

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss 
attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period.  Diluted loss per share does not adjust the loss attributable to common shareholders or the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti dilutive.



Eureka Resources Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d...)

Financial Instruments

Financial Assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following four 
categories: held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivables or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized through 
profit or loss.  The Company’s cash, restricted cash and marketable securities are classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity assets are measured at amortized cost.  The 
Company’s GST receivable, BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable and Yukon Mining Exploration grant
receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Financial assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair 
value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income and loss except for losses in value 
that are considered other than temporary which are recognized in profit or loss. As at October 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Company has not classified any financial assets as available for sale. The Company classifies its reclamation bonds 
as held to maturity.

Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs associated 
with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If 
such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows:

a) Financial assets carried at amortized cost: The loss is the difference between the amortized cost of the asset and 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest 
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of 
an allowance account.

b) Available-for-sale financial assets: The impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of the asset 
and its fair value at the measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized in the statement of 
loss and comprehensive loss. This amount represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive 
income that is reclassified to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPL or other financial 
liabilities.  

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable 
transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of 
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties are classified as 
other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held 
for trading and recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized in 
profit or loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period the carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any.  The recoverable amount is the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the 
sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties.  In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  If the recoverable amount of an asset is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount 
and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period.  For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.  Following the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation charge applicable to the asset is adjusted 
prospectively in order to systematically allocate the revised carrying amount, net of any residual value, over the 
remaining useful life.

Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate and its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years.  
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Share Capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and 
stock options are recognized as a deduction from equity. Common shares issued for consideration other than cash, are 
valued based on their market value at the date the shares are issued. 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of warrants attached to private 
placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on 
fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  The Company considers the 
fair value of common shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable component and the 
common shares are valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing market price on the announcement date.  
The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 
contributed reserves.

New Standards Adopted for the Year Ended October 31, 2016

Effective November 1, 2015, the following standards were adopted but did not have a material impact on the financial 
statements.

IFRS 7 Amended to require additional disclosures on transition from IAS 39 and IFRS 9

There were no changes to the Company’s accounting policies during the year ended October 31, 2017 that had a 
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were issued by the IASB 
or IFRIC that are mandatory for future accounting periods.  The following have not yet been adopted by the Company 
and are being evaluated to determine their impact.

a) IFRS 15 - New standard to establish principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers, effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2017.

b) IFRS 9 – New standard that replaced IAS 39 for classification and measurement, effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

c) IFRS 16 – Leases: New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of leases with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to the 
relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The fair values of the Company’s receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties 
approximate their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the 
Company’s reclamation bonds also approximates its carrying value. The following table illustrates the classification 
of the Company’s financial instruments within the fair value hierarchy as at October 31, 2017 and 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

October 31, 2017:
Cash $ 2,686 $ - $ -
Restricted cash $ 72,011 $ - $ -

October 31, 2016:
Cash $ 392,664 $                  - $                  -
Marketable securities $ 28,750 $ - $ -

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:

Credit risk 

The Company’s cash is held with large financial institutions. The Company’s receivables consist of sales taxes and 
exploration grants and tax credits receivable from the Government of Canada and the Governments of British 
Columbia and the Yukon Territory. Management believes that credit risk concentration with respect to cash and 
receivables is remote.

Liquidity risk 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities 
when due. As at October 31, 2017, the Company had cash and restricted cash of $74,697 to settle current liabilities of 
$357,803. Management intends to raise additional funds through equity financings or alternative forms of financing 
to meet its current liabilities when they become due.  See going concern discussion in Note 2.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d...)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, and commodity and 
equity prices. 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company has cash which is not subject to significant risks in fluctuating interest rates.  The Company’s 
current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit certificates issued by its banking 
institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings 
of its banks. An increase to interest rates by 1% would have an insignificant effect on the Company’s operations.

b) Price risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity price risk is defined 
as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 
general movements in the level of the stock market. The Company’s marketable securities are subject to price 
risk.  Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to 
commodity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices of gold, 
individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by 
the Company.

c) Foreign currency risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash denominated in US dollars. As 
at October 31, 2017 and 2016 a 10% fluctuation in the US Dollar against the Canadian Dollar would not have a 
significant impact on profit and loss.

5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

2017 2016
Fair value, beginning $ 28,750 $ -
Acquisitions (non-cash) (Note 6) - 25,000
Proceeds on sale (25,990) -
Unrealized gain (loss) (3,750) 3,750
Realized gain on sale 990 -
Fair value, ending $ - $ 28,750

The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities is measured at each reporting date by reference to the closing 
price of the shares.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

FG Gold Project:

The Company holds a 100% interest in 33 contiguous claims comprising the FG Gold Project area.  The claims are 
located in the Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia.

i. Under the terms of a Settlement Agreement in which a dispute between the Company and a former optionee 
of the property was settled, the Company must issue 200,000 common shares to the former optionee owners 
upon completion of a positive feasibility study;

ii. In addition, the Company must issue 210,000 common shares to a former director in consideration for 
exploration work done on the property, as follows:

Upon completion of feasibility study recommending production 70,000
Upon commencement of production 70,000
Upon repayment of pre-production capital costs 70,000

iii. The property is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) which becomes payable after the capital 
required to bring the property into commercial production is recovered from production.  The NSR is limited 
to a maximum of $2,600,000 with an allowance for the change in the Consumer Price Index from September 
22, 1989 to the date the royalty becomes payable. 

Canarc Resource Corp (“Canarc”) Option Agreement

On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into an option agreement with Canarc which provided Canarc the option 
to earn up to a 75% interest in the FG Property.

During the year ended October 31, 2016, Canarc issued the Company 250,000 common shares with a fair value of 
$25,000 (Note 5) and purchased 750,000 units of the Company at $0.14 per unit for $105,000.

In July, 2017, Canarc informed the Company that it would not be proceeding with the option agreement on the FG 
property, and the agreement terminated on August 4, 2017.  Canarc paid the Company $35,000 in lieu of exploration 
work that it was required to perform on certain of the FG claims.

BC Mining Exploration Tax Credit

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable of 
$Nil (2016 - $35,928) as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the FG property.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)

Gemini Lithium Project:

On January 20, 2016, the Company entered into an interim agreement with Nevada Sunrise Gold Corporation 
(“Nevada Sunrise”), a public company with directors and officers in common with the Company, to acquire a 50% 
participating interest in the Gemini Lithium Project (“Gemini”) located in the Lida Valley, Esmeralda County, Nevada, 
USA.  

Pursuant to the terms of the interim agreement, the Company had the right to acquire a 50% participating interest in 
Gemini by reimbursing Nevada Sunrise for 50% of the Gemini acquisition and evaluation costs.  In addition, the 
Company would issue Nevada Sunrise 500,000 common shares as a prospect fee, with 300,000 shares to be issued on 
receipt of regulatory acceptance of the agreement and 200,000 to be issued on the first anniversary of such acceptance.  
The Company and Nevada Sunrise would enter into a joint venture on Gemini with Nevada Sunrise acting as operator 
of exploration. The interim agreement was subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and approvals all of which 
were met.  The agreement was a non-arm’s length transaction under TSXV policies. The non-independent directors 
abstained from voting on the agreement. 

On May 4, 2016, the companies signed an addendum to the interim agreement in which they agreed that the companies
had completed their due diligence review on Gemini, that a definitive joint venture agreement would be entered into 
(signed on September 21, 2016) and that in the event that one of the companies divests of its 50% interest in Gemini, 
the remaining company would become the operator at Gemini by default. The Company paid Nevada Sunrise 50%
of the acquisition and evaluation costs.

On June 6, 2016, the companies received TSXV acceptance of the interim agreement and the addendum and the 
Company issued 300,000 common shares with a fair value of $28,500 to Nevada Sunrise.

On May 2, 2017, Nevada Sunrise divested its 50% interest in Gemini, and consequently the Company became the 
operator of the Gemini project.  In late 2017, Nevada Sunrise re-acquired its 50% interest in Gemini as a result of the 
termination of an option agreement.

On June 6, 2017, the Company issued 200,000 common shares with a fair value of $11,000 to Nevada Sunrise.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)

Gold Creek Project:

On November 14, 2016, the Company entered into an option agreement under which the Company was granted the
option to earn up to a 100% interest in the Gold Creek Project, located in the Cariboo Mining Division, British 
Columbia.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company could earn up to a 100% interest in Gold Creek in three stages:

- 49% by incurring a minimum of $30,000 in exploration expenditures by November 14, 2016 (incurred);

- an additional 26%, by issuing 50,000 common shares (issued with a fair value of $2,500) and incurring an 
additional $50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2017 (incurred);

- an additional 25% by issuing an additional 100,000 common shares (issued with a fair value of $5,000) and 
incurring an additional $50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2018 (incurred).

At October 31, 2017, the Company has exercised its option on the Gold Creek property and owns a 100% interest in 
the property.  The vendor retained a 1% net smelter royalty of which the Company may purchase 0.5% for $1,000,000.

BC Mining Exploration Tax Credit

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable of 
$11,112 (2016 - $Nil) as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the Gold Creek property.

Luxor Gold Project:

On December 12, 2016, the Company entered into a purchase agreement in which the Company purchased a 100% 
interest in three non-contiguous claim blocks covering 360 claims and known as the Luxor Project located in the 
Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory. 

On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 2,500,000 common shares with a fair value of $262,500 to the vendors. The 
vendors agreed to an arrangement under which the shares become free trading on the following dates:

- June 28, 2017               833,334 shares (released);
- December 28, 2017:     833,334 shares (released);
- June 28, 2018:              833,332 shares.

In addition, the Company issued 125,000 common shares with a fair value of $13,125 as a finder’s fee.

The Company has committed to use the vendors to perform exploration work on the properties totaling $750,000 over 
four years as follows:

- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2017 (incurred);
- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2018;
- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2019;
- $187,500 on or before December 28, 2020;

The vendors retained a 2% net smelter return royalty. The Company may purchase the royalty for $1,000,000.

Yukon Mineral Exploration Program (“YMEP”)

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a Yukon Mineral Exploration grant receivable of 
$40,000 (2016 - $Nil), received under YMEP, as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the Luxor property.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)

Tak Gold Project:

On January 9, 2017, the Company entered into a purchase agreement in which the Company purchased a 100% interest 
in 82 claims known as the Tak Project located in the Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory.

On February 6, 2017, the Company issued 500,000 common shares with a fair value of $50,000 to the vendors.  The 
vendors agreed to an arrangement under which the shares become free trading on the following dates:

- On closing                                                  125,000 shares (released)
- Six months from closing                            125,000 shares (released)
- Twelve months from closing                     125,000 shares (released)
- Eighteen months from closing                   125,000 shares

The vendors retained a 2% net smelter return royalty.  The Company may purchase 1% for $1,000,000.

Yukon Mineral Exploration Program (“YMEP”)

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company recorded a Yukon Mineral Exploration grant receivable of 
$40,000 (2016 - $Nil), received under YMEP, as a reduction to the capitalized balance of the Tak property.

CKN Project:

On April 5, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement to earn a 100% interest in 2 claims covering 1,356 
hectares known as the CKN Project, located in the Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia. To earn the 100% 
interest, the Company must make the following cash and share payments to the vendor, and incur the following 
minimum exploration expenditures:

Due Date Cash Common Shares
Exploration 
Expenditures

Closing Date $15,000 (paid) 50,000 (issued) $Nil

On or before July 1, 2018 $20,000 100,000 $40,000

On or before July 1, 2019 $30,000 100,000 $80,000

On or before July 1, 2020 $50,000 200,000 $100,000

On or before July 1, 2021 $100,000 250,000 $Nil

On April 21, 2017, the Company received TSXV acceptance of the option agreement issued 50,000 common shares 
with a fair value of $4,750. In May 2017, the Company staked two additional contiguous claims at a cost of $859 
which covered an additional 491 hectares and brought the total claim block to 1,847 hectares.

Subsequent to October 31, 2017, the Company informed the vendor that it would not be proceeding with the option 
agreement on the CKN Project, and the agreement terminated on December 23, 2017. The Company recorded a write-
off of exploration and evaluation assets of $36,901 at October 31, 2017.

7. RECLAMATION BONDS

The Company has placed a reclamation bond of $10,000 (2016 - $5,000) which is pledged to the Province of British 
Columbia as security for reclamation obligations under the mining regulations in the Province of British Columbia.
The Company has placed a reclamation bond of US$9,108 (2016 - US$9,108) with the Bureau of Land Management 
in the State of Nevada as security for reclamation obligations under mining regulations in the State of Nevada.
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8. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, to pursue the exploration and evaluation of its mineral properties and to maintain a flexible capital structure 
for the benefit of all its stakeholders. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light 
of changes in the economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust its 
capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue common shares, enter into joint venture arrangements, acquire or 
dispose of assets or alter the amount of cash on hand. The Company does not have any major capital expenditures 
committed during the next fiscal year. Management reviews its capital structure on a regular basis to ensure that the 
above-noted objectives are met.  The Company anticipates future access to equity markets to fund continued 
exploration and evaluation of its mineral properties and the fund future growth of the business.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended October 31, 2017.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

9. SHARE CAPITAL

a) Authorized:  

Unlimited number of common shares without par value

b) Issued: 

On October 31, 2017, there were 45,712,402 (2016 – 34,913,972) common shares issued and outstanding.

Year Ended October 31, 2017:

Private Placement

On December 29, 2016, the Company issued 707,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
707,000 flow-through units at $0.10 per unit for proceeds of $70,700.  As the unit price received for the flow-
through units was equivalent to the market price of the Company’s common shares on the date of issuance, no 
premium was recorded on the flow-through units.  Each unit contained one flow-through common share and one-
half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share 
at $0.15 per share until December 29, 2018. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s 
fees of $1,992 and issued 19,920 finder’s warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase one non-
flow-through unit with the same terms as the private placement units at $0.10 per unit until December 29, 2018.

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $1,394 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.94%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 145%
Dividend rate 0%

All share purchase warrants issued, including those issued as finders' fees, are subject to an acceleration clause, 
which will cause the warrants, if unexercised, to expire on the date which is 30 days after the date that the volume-
weighted average trading price of the Company's common shares on the TSXV exceeds $0.25 per share over a 
period of ten consecutive trading days.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b)    Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2017: (cont’d)

Private Placement

On May 31, 2017, the Company issued 6,340,430 units (3,261,055 flow-through units at $0.09 per unit and 
3,079,375 non-flow-through units at $0.08 per unit) for total proceeds of $539,845. The Company allocated 
proceeds of $32,611 to other income for the flow-through premium on the flow-through portion of the private 
placement.  In addition, the Company allocated proceeds of $63,404 to contributed surplus for the fair value of 
the warrants issued on the private placement using the residual method.

A portion of the proceeds from the flow-through units were held in trust and released as eligible expenditures 
were incurred.  At October 31, 2017, there were funds held in trust of $72,011 (2016 - $Nil).  These funds were 
classified as restricted cash on the consolidated statement of financial position.  They were released subsequent 
to October 31, 2017. 

Each flow-through unit consisted of one flow-through common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  
Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until May 31, 
2019.  The proceeds from the issuance of the flow-through units were used for exploration of the Company’s 
mineral properties in British Columbia and the Yukon Territory. 

Each non-flow-through unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each 
whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until May 31, 2019.  

The Company paid finder’s fees of $30,675, 187,500 common shares with a fair value of $13,125, 187,500 share 
purchase warrants and 13,332 finder’s warrants.

Each share purchase warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until 
May 31, 2019.  Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase a non-flow-through unit at $0.09 per unit 
until May 31, 2019.

The fair value of the share purchase warrants issued was calculated as $5,625 using the Black-Scholes Option 
Pricing Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price 
volatility, determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.88%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 126%
Dividend rate 0%

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $533 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.88%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 126%
Dividend rate 0%
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b)    Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2017: (cont’d)

Luxor Acquisition

On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 2,625,000 common shares with a fair value of $275,625 to acquire a 
100% interest in the Luxor Project. 

Finder’s Warrants Exercised

On January 20, 2017, the Company issued 38,500 common shares and 38,500 warrants exercisable at $0.125 per 
share until April 29, 2018 pursuant to the exercise of 38,500 finder’s warrants at $0.075 for proceeds of $2,887.

Tak Acquisition

On February 6, 2017, the Company issued 500,000 common shares with a fair value of $50,000 to acquire a 100% 
interest in the Tak Project.  

CKN Option Payment

On April 21, 2017, the Company issued 50,000 common shares with a fair value of $4,750 as an option payment 
on the CKN Project.

Gemini Prospect Fee

On June 6, 2017, the Company issued 200,000 common shares with a fair value of $11,000 as a prospecting fee 
on the Gemini Project.

Gold Creek Option Payment

On July 5, 2017, the Company issued 150,000 common shares with a fair value of $7,500 as an option payment 
on the Gold Creek Project.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b)    Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2016:

Incentive Warrant Program

On December 31, 2015, the Company offered the holders of 4,000,000 share purchase warrants issued on June 
10, 2015 (the "June Warrants") an incentive warrant to exercise their warrants early.  Each June Warrant was 
exercisable to purchase one common share at $0.05 per share until June 10, 2016 or at $0.10 per share until June 
10 2017.  The Company would issue the holder of a June Warrant who exercises their June Warrant between 
January 4, 2016 and January 29, 2016 an incentive warrant for each June Warrant exercised.  Each Incentive 
Warrant would entitle the holder to acquire an additional common share at $0.075 per share until June 10, 2016, 
and thereafter at $0.125 per share until June 10, 2020.

On January 29, 2016, the Company announced that incentive warrant program resulted in the exercise of 
1,315,000 June Warrants for proceeds of $65,750. The Company issued the holders who exercised their June 
Warrants an incentive warrant and a common share for each June Warrant exercised.  The fair value of the 
incentive warrants of $65,750 or $0.05 per warrant was allocated to directly to equity.  The fair value was 
determined using the Black Scholes option valuation model with the following assumptions: 

Risk-free interest rate 2.00%
Expected life of warrants 4.38 years
Annualized volatility 180%
Dividend rate 0%

Shares for Debt

On March 21, 2016, the Company issued 906,333 common shares at $0.075 per share to settle outstanding debts 
of $67,975.  The shares were issued to seven creditors. Included in the totals were 566,333 common shares issued 
to related parties to settle debts totalling $42,475 (Note 10).

Private Placements

On April 29, 2016, the Company issued 2,693,666 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 2,693,666
units at $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of $202,025.  Each unit contained one common share and one warrant 
entitling the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.125 until April 29, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $12,285, issued 163,800 finder’s 
warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.075 until April 29, 2018.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b)    Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2016: (cont’d)

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $16,380 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 1%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 157%
Dividend rate 0%

On May 6, 2016, the Company issued 2,033,334 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 2,033,334 
units at $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of $152,500.  Each unit contained one common share and one warrant 
entitling the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.125 until May 6, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $6,475, issued 86,333 finder’s 
warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.075 until May 6, 2018.

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $8,633 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 1%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 150%
Dividend rate 0%

On September 9, 2016, the Company issued 1,050,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
1,050,000 units at $0.14 per unit for gross proceeds of $147,000.  Each unit contained one common share and 
one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common 
share at $0.20 until September 9, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $1,260, issued 9,000 finder’s 
warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.14 until September 9, 2018.

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $720 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 1%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 142%
Dividend rate 0%
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b) Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2016: (cont’d)

On October 20, 2016, the Company issued 1,325,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
1,325,000 units at $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $132,500.  Each unit contained one common share and 
one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common 
share at $0.15 until October 20, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $4,200, issued 42,000 finder’s 
warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.10 until October 20, 2018.

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $4,200 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.94%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 147%
Dividend rate 0%

On October 26, 2016, the Company issued 2,175,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 
2,175,000 units at $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $217,500.  Each unit contained one common share and 
one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common 
share at $0.15 until October 26, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $6,432, issued 64,320 finder’s 
warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.10 until October 26, 2018.

The fair value of the finders’ warrants issued was calculated as $6,432 using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model using the weighted average assumptions below. Fair value is particularly impacted by stock price volatility, 
determined using historical price data for a term equivalent to the expected life of the warrant.

Risk-free interest rate 0.94%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Annualized volatility 147%
Dividend rate 0%

All the share purchase warrants issued in conjunction with the above private placements, including those issued 
as finders' fees, are subject to acceleration clauses, which will cause the warrants, if unexercised, to expire on the 
date which is 30 days after the date that the volume-weighted average trading price of the Company's common 
shares on the TSXV exceeds $0.25 per share for certain warrants and $0.35 per share for others over a period of 
ten consecutive trading days.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

b) Issued: (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2016: (cont’d)

Gemini – Prospect Fee

On June 6, 2016, the Company issued 300,000 common shares at a value of $28,500 to Nevada Sunrise as a 
prospect fee on the Gemini Lithium Project (Note 6).

Warrants Exercised

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company issued 3,300,000 common shares at $0.05 per share for 
proceeds of $165,000 pursuant to the exercise of 3,300,000 share purchase warrants.

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company issued 100,000 common shares at $0.075 per share for 
proceeds of $7,500 pursuant to the exercise of 100,000 share purchase warrants. 

Finder’s Warrants Exercised

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company issued 8,400 common shares and 8,400 warrants 
exercisable at $0.125 per share until April 29, 2018 pursuant to the exercise of 8,400 finder’s warrants at $0.075 
for proceeds of $630.

c) Stock Options: 

The Company has a Stock Option Plan (“the Plan”) under which it is authorized to grant options to directors, 
officers, consultants or employees of the Company.  The number of options that may be granted under the Plan 
is limited to 10% of the number of issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the date of grant.  
The exercise price of options granted under the Plan may not be less than the market value of the Company’s 
common shares on the date of grant.  Options granted under the Plan have a maximum life of five years and vest 
on the date of grant, over a period determined by management, or over a period mandated by TSX-V policy.

A summary of stock option activity for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Number of Options Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Outstanding options, October 31, 2015 1,400,000 $0.10
     Issued 900,000 $0.10
Outstanding options, October 31, 2016 2,300,000 $0.10
     Issued 1,150,000 $0.12
     Cancelled (350,000) $0.11
Outstanding options, October 31, 2017 3,100,000 $0.11
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

Stock Options: (cont’d)

On June 27, 2016, the Company granted 900,000 stock options to directors, officers and consultants of the 
Company.  The options entitle the holders to purchase one common share for each option held at $0.10 until June 
27, 2021. The fair value of the stock options of $81,000 or $0.09 per option was determined using the Black 
Scholes option valuation model.

On January 16, 2017, the Company granted 950,000 stock options to directors, officers and consultants of the 
Company.  The options entitle the holders to purchase one common share for each option held at $0.13 until 
January 16, 2022. The fair value of the stock options of $114,000 or $0.12 per option was determined using the 
Black Scholes option valuation model.

On April 28, 2017, the Company granted 200,000 stock options to a director of the Company.  The options entitle 
the holder to purchase one common share for each option held at $0.10 until April 28, 2022. The fair value of 
the stock options of $16,000 or $0.08 per option was determined using the Black Scholes option valuation model.

Share-based compensation expense was determined using the following weighted average assumptions: 

Year ended 
October 31, 2017

Year ended
October 31, 2016

Risk-free interest rate 1.39% 1.38%
Expected life of options 5 years 5 years
Annualized volatility 169% 171%
Dividend rate 0% 0%
Forfeiture rate 0% 0%
Share price on grant date $   0.12 $   0.095

At October 31, 2017, there were 3,100,000 stock options outstanding entitling the holders thereof the right to 
purchase one common share for each option held as follows:

Number of options
outstanding and exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,200,000 $0.10 June 23, 2020
800,000 $0.10 June 27, 2021
900,000 $0.13 January 16, 2022
200,000 $0.10 April 28, 2022

3,100,000

At October 31, 2017, the stock options had a weighted average remaining life of 3.48 years.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

d) Share Purchase Warrants: 

A summary of share purchase warrant activity for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Year Ended
October 31, 2017

Year Ended
October 31, 2016

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Warrants outstanding, beginning of year 9,900,400 $ 0.12 4,975,000 $ 0.06

Warrants exercised                 - - (3,400,000) $ 0.05
Warrants issued 3,749,715 $ 0.15 8,325,400 $ 0.13

Warrants expired (1,675,000) $ 0.11                -                -
Warrants outstanding, end of year 11,975,115 $ 0.14 9,900,400 $ 0.12

 

At October 31, 2017, there were 11,975,115 share purchase warrants outstanding entitling the holders thereof the 
right to purchase one common share for each warrant held as follows:

Number of warrants
outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,215,000 $0.125 June 10, 2020
2,740,566 $0.125 April 29, 2018
2,033,334 $0.125 May 6, 2018

525,000 $0.20 September 9, 2018
662,500 $0.15 October 20, 2018

1,087,500 $0.15 October 26, 2018
353,500 $0.15 December 29, 2018

3,357,715 $0.15 May 31, 2019
11,975,115

At October 31, 2017, the weighted average remaining life of the outstanding warrants is 1.12 years.

e) Finders Warrants: 

A summary of finders warrant activity for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Year Ended
October 31, 2017

Year Ended
October 31, 2016

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Finders warrants outstanding, beginning of 
year 357,053 $ 0.08               - $ -

Finders warrants exercised (38,500) $ 0.075 (8,400) $ 0.075
Finders warrants issued 33,252 $ 0.10 365,453 $ 0.08
Finders warrants outstanding, end of year 351,805 $ 0.09 357,053 $ 0.08
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

e) Finders Warrants: (cont’d)

At October 31, 2017, there were 351,805 finder’s warrants outstanding entitling the holders thereof the right to 
purchase one unit with the same terms as the private placement to which they relate as follows:

 
Number of finder’s warrants

outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date
116,900 $0.075 April 29, 2018

86,333 $0.075 May 6, 2018
9,000 $0.14 September 9, 2018

42,000 $0.10 October 20, 2018
64,320 $0.10 October 26, 2018
19,920 $0.10 December 29, 2018
13,332 $0.09 May 31, 2019

351,805

At October 31, 2017, the finder’s warrants had a weighted average remaining life of 0.73 years.
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10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred the following charges by directors of the 
Company and by companies with directors and officers in common with the Company.

2017 2016

Accounting fees $ 37,000 $ 28,000
Consulting fees 32,500 16,400
Exploration and evaluation assets – acquisition costs 11,000 28,500
Exploration and evaluation assets – exploration costs 402,722 26,903
Management fees 72,000 50,000
Rent - 2,250
Share-based compensation 88,000 54,000

$ 643,222 $ 206,053

Key Management Compensation:

During the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred the following key management 
compensation charges. Key management includes the Company’s directors and executive officers.

2017 2016

Accounting fees $ 37,000 $ 28,000
Consulting fees 32,500 16,400
Exploration and evaluation assets – exploration costs 402,722 26,903
Management fees 72,000 50,000
Share-based compensation 88,000 54,000

$ 632,222 $ 175,303

At October 31, 2017, due to related parties includes $290,397 (October 31, 2016 - $395) payable to directors of the 
Company and to companies with directors and officers in common with the Company for fees and expenses.

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

During the year ended October 31, 2016, certain directors and officers settled a total of $42,475 in debt, in exchange 
for 566,333 common shares, with a fair value of $0.075 per share.
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11. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

Operating Segment
 
The Company operates in one industry, being the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties.
 
Geographic Segments

The Company's non-current assets are located in the following countries:

 October 31, 2017
 Canada USA Total
Reclamation bonds $ 10,000 $ 11,718 $ 21,718
Exploration and evaluation assets 973,990 194,174 1,168,164
 $ 983,990 $ 205,892 $ 1,189,882

 October 31, 2016
 Canada USA Total
Reclamation bonds $ 5,000 $ 12,212 $ 17,212
Exploration and evaluation assets 122,882 161,039 283,921
 $ 127,882 $ 173,251 $ 301,133
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12. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on current cash flows are excluded from the 
statements of cash flows.  The following transactions were excluded from the statements of cash flows:

During the Year Ended October 31, 2017:

- the Company issued a total of 33,252 finder’s warrants with a total fair value of $1,927 pursuant to a finder’s fee 
agreements on private placements.

- the Company issued 187,500 share purchase warrants with a fair value of $5,625 pursuant to a finder’s fee 
agreement on a private placement.

- the Company issued 187,500 common shares with a fair value of $13,125 pursuant to a finder’s fee agreement 
on a private placement.

- the Company reclassified $3,851 from reserves to share capital on the exercise of 38,500 finder’s warrants.

- the Company issued 3,325,000 common shares with a fair value of $337,875 to acquire the exploration and 
evaluation assets.

- the Company issued 200,000 common shares with a fair value of $11,000 to Nevada Sunrise as a prospect fee on 
the Gemini Lithium Project.

- the Company had exploration and evaluation costs of $3,012 in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

- the Company had exploration and evaluation costs of $182,599 in due to related parties.

- The Company recognized $63,404 for the fair value of warrants issued in a private placement as a reclassification 
between share capital and reserves.

- The Company recognized $32,611 for a flow-through premium liability as a reclassification between share capital 
and accrued liabilities.

During the Year Ended October 31, 2016:

- the Company recorded a BCMETC receivable of $22,755 against exploration and evaluation assets.

- the Company issued 906,333 common shares for accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $25,500 due to 
related parties of $42,475.

- the Company issued a total of 365,453 finder’s warrants with a total fair value of $36,365 pursuant to finder’s 
fee agreements on private placements.

- the Company reclassified $840 from reserves to share capital on the exercise of 8,400 finder’s warrants.

- the Company issued 300,000 common shares with a fair value of $28,500 to Nevada Sunrise as a prospect fee on 
the Gemini Property. 

- the Company received 250,000 common shares with a fair value of $25,000 to from Canarc as an option payment 
on the FG Property. 

- the Company recognized $65,750 as the fair value of incentive warrants issued as a reclassification between share 
capital and reserves.
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13. INCOME TAXES

The following table reconciles the expected income tax recovery at the statutory income tax rates to the amounts 
recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016:

In September 2017, the British Columbia (“BC”) Government proposed changes to the general corporate income tax 
rate to increase the rate from 11% to 12% effective January 1, 2018 and onwards.  This change in tax rate was 
substantively enacted on October 26, 2017.  The relevant deferred tax balances have been remeasured to reflect the 
increase in the Company's combined Federal and Provincial (BC) general corporate income tax rate from 26% to 27%.   

The significant components of the Company’s temporary differences, unused tax credits and unused tax losses that 
have not been included on the statements of financial position are as follows:

2017 Expiry Dates 2016 Expiry Dates
Temporary Differences
Exploration and evaluation assets 1,689,000 No expiry date $ 2,918,000 No expiry date
Canadian eligible capital - No expiry date 20,000 No expiry date
Property and equipment 20,000 No expiry date - No expiry date
Share issue costs 67,000 No expiry date 42,000 No expiry date
Allowable capital loss - No expiry date 2,000 No expiry date
Non-capital losses 1,677,000 2026-2037 1,048,000 2026-2036

Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Yukon Mineral Exploration Grant

The Company received a Yukon Mineral Exploration grant of $80,000.

Private Placement

On December 28, 2017, the Company issued 4,000,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 4,000,000 
common shares at $0.025 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000. In connection with the private placement, the 
Company paid finder’s fees of $4,550.

On January 22, 2018, the Company issued 750,000 common shares pursuant to the private placement of 750,000 
common shares at $0.035 per share for gross proceeds of $26,250. In connection with the private placement, the 
Company paid finder’s fees of $367.

2017 2016
Loss for the year $ (744,970) $ (463,680)

Expected income tax recovery (194,000) (121,000)
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchange rates (48,000) (12,000)
Impact of flow-through shares, tax credits and other government assistance 118,000 -
Adjustment to prior years provision versus statutory tax returns and expiry of 
non-capital losses 232,000 18,000
Share issue costs (12,000) (8,000)
Permanent differences 26,000 21,000
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences (122,000) 102,000
Total income tax recovery $ - $ -
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
This MD&A includes certain forward-looking statements or information.  All statements other than 
statements of historical fact included in this MD&A including statements relating to the potential 
mineralization or geological merits of the Company's mineral properties and the future plans, 
objectives or expectations of the Company are forward-looking statements that involve various 
risks and uncertainties.  Such forward-looking statements include among other things, statements 
regarding future commodity pricing, estimation of mineral reserves and resources, timing and 
amounts of estimated exploration expenditures and capital expenditures, costs and timing of the 
exploration and development of new deposits, success of exploration activities, permitting time 
lines, future currency exchange rates, requirements for additional capital, government regulation of 
mining operations, environmental risks, anticipated reclamation expenses, timing and possible 
outcome of pending litigation, timing and expected completion of property acquisitions or 
dispositions, and title disputes. They may also include statements with respect to the Company’s 
mineral discoveries, plans, out-look and business strategy.  The words “may”, “would”, “could”, 
“should”, “will”, “likely”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “plan”, “forecast”, 
“project” and “believe” or other similar words and phrases are intended to identify forward-looking 
information.

Forward-looking statements are predictions based upon current expectations and involve known 
and unknown risks and uncertainties.  There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to 
be accurate and actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in 
such statements.  

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company's plans or 
expectations include risks relating to the actual results of exploration programs, fluctuating 
commodity prices, the possibility of equipment breakdowns and delays, the availability of 
necessary exploration equipment including drill rigs, exploration cost overruns, general economic 
or business conditions, regulatory changes, and the timeliness of government or regulatory 
approvals to conduct planned exploration work.  Additional factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the Company's plans or expectations include political events, fluctuations 
in mineralization grade, geological, technical, mining or processing problems, future profitability 
on production, the ability to raise sufficient capital to fund exploration or production, litigation, 
legislative, environmental and other judicial, regulatory, political and competitive developments, 
inability to obtain permits, general volatility in the equity and debt markets, accidents and labour
disputes and the availability of qualified personnel.

Although the Company has attempted to identify all of the factors that may affect our forward-
looking statements or information, this list of the factors is not exhaustive. Readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date 
the statements were made, and readers are advised to consider such forward-looking statements in 
light of the risks and uncertainties detailed throughout this MD&A.  The Company disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking information, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except where required by applicable securities laws. 



PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

To Our Shareholders,

On November 27, 2017, Eureka Resources Inc. (“Eureka” or “the Company”) announced that it 
was conducting a review of strategic alternatives focused on maximizing shareholder value which 
included a review of the Company’s capital structure, property portfolio and potential business 
combinations or joint ventures. As part of that review, the Company completed an equity financing 
of $126,250 to enhance its financial position.

On February 24, 2018, Eureka signed an amalgamation agreement with Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore”) 
pursuant to which Eureka agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Kore in exchange for common shares of Eureka by way of a three-cornered amalgamation. Kore 
owns 100% interests in the Imperial and Long Valley gold development projects located in 
California. The projects have had over 141,000 metres of historic drilling.

Combined, historical estimates of resources at Imperial and Long Valley total 2,090,200 measured 
and indicated ounces of gold and 1,869,500 inferred ounces of gold. A qualified person has not 
done sufficient work to classify the historical estimates as current resources and Kore is not treating 
the historical estimates as current resources. Significant data compilation, re-drilling, resampling 
and data verification will be required by a qualified person before the historical estimates at the 
projects can be classified as current resources.

The transaction will constitute a reverse takeover of Eureka by Kore under the policies of the TSX 
Venture Exchange. As a condition of closing of the transaction, Eureka will complete a 
consolidation of its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one post-consolidated 
Eureka share for each 10 pre-consolidated Eureka shares. In addition, prior to closing, Eureka will
complete a shares-for-debt transaction to eliminate certain liabilities.

Eureka believes that this transaction will benefit current Eureka shareholders given that the 
combined entity will have a stronger portfolio of gold properties and will be funded with a 
minimum of $2,000,000 as a condition of closing the transaction.

The transaction is subject to various corporate and regulatory conditions. Full details of the Kore 
transaction can be read in the “Proposed Transaction” section later in this MD&A.

Sincerely,

“Michael Sweatman”

Michael Sweatman, President and CEO



INTRODUCTION

Eureka Resources Inc. (“Eureka” or “the Company”) is an exploration stage company with a strong 
technical team, whose strategy is to acquire projects in prospective areas that have the potential to 
deliver important discoveries and create value for its shareholders. The Company’s primary focus 
is exploration for precious metals in British Columbia and the Yukon Territory.

The Company’s common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) 
under the symbol “EUK”. The Company’s head office is Suite 1100 - 1111 Melville Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 3V6.  The registered and records office is c/o McMillan 
LLP, Suite 1500 - 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V7X 1L3.

This discussion and analysis of financial position, results of operations and cash flows of Eureka
Resources Inc. for the three months ended January 31, 2018 includes information up to and 
including April 2, 2018 and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s unaudited 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended January 31, 2018
and the Company’s audited annual consolidated financial statements for the years ended October
31, 2017 and 2016.  All the financial statements were prepared using International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Board of Directors of the Company has approved this MD&A.

The reader is encouraged to review the Company’s statutory filings at www.sedar.com and to 
review other information about the Company on its website at www.eurekaresourcesinc.com.



OVERALL PERFORMANCE
 
FG Gold Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

The FG Gold project (“FG Gold”) is a strata-controlled gold project located at the headwaters of 
the Horsefly River, 50 kms east of Horsefly, B.C. and consists of 30 contiguous claims (10,084 
hectares). Over $15.0 million of exploration work has been completed on FG Gold, establishing a 
Measured and Indicated resource of 376,000 ounces of gold at an average grade of 0.776 g/t (using 
a 0.5 g/t cut-off), and an Inferred resource of 634,900 ounces of gold at an average grade of 0.718 
g/t (using a 0.5 g/t cut-off). Mineralization has been outlined over a 3 km strike length, and
additional mineralization could extend along an interpreted 10 km strike length. Further details on 
the gold resource can be found in “NI 43-101 Technical Report, Frasergold Exploration Project, 
Cariboo Mining Division, dated July 27, 2015” available on SEDAR or on the Company’s website. 

Work in 2016 consisted of soil sampling in the northwest extension and a geophysical interpretation 
of a 2008 airborne geophysical survey in the northwest and southeast extensions and in the south 
limb area. Interpretation of geophysical results indicates that the favourable horizon is identified 
from electromagnetic results and offsetting of the horizon is interpreted from magnetic results. Soil 
anomalies correlate well with interpreted favourable stratigraphic horizon to the northwest and 
provide drill targets for future programs. Similar geophysical features are interpreted to the 
southeast and on the south limb and provide areas for future geochemical surveys.

Eureka intends to conduct an exploration program on the interpreted offset of the Main Zone which 
was discovered in 2016 from a thorough re-interpretation of a 2007 airborne survey.  However, 
timing of an exploration program is not certain.  The Company believes that a successful drilling 
program on the offset on the Main Zone could add significantly to the known gold resources at the 
property.

An exploration permit was recently received for the FG Gold Project which allows, subject to 
several conditions, drilling of up to ten drill holes in the northwest area of the FG Gold property 
proximal to current roads.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d)
 
Gold Creek Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

On November 14, 2016, Eureka entered into an option agreement to earn up to a 100% interest in 
the Gold Creek project (“Gold Creek”).

Under the terms of the option agreement, Eureka can earn up to a 100% interest in Gold Creek as
follows:

- 49% by incurring a minimum of $30,000 in exploration expenditures by November 14, 2016 
(incurred);

- an additional 26% by issuing 50,000 common shares (issued) and by incurring an additional 
$50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2017 (incurred);

- an additional 25% by issuing an additional 100,000 common shares (issued) and by incurring 
an additional $50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2018 (incurred).

The vendor retained a 1% net smelter royalty.  The Company may purchase one-half of the royalty 
for $1,000,000.

Mineralization at Gold Creek is located 2 kms north of the village of Likely, B.C. The property
consists of 33 contiguous mineral claims totalling 9,673 hectares.  The Gold Creek property is 
accessible via a well-maintained all-weather road. Gold mineralization encountered to date at Gold 
Creek strikes toward the Spanish Mountain deposit which is located 8 kms to the southeast. Spanish 
Mountain hosts a 2.48-million-ounce measured and indicated gold resource (see Spanish Mountain 
Gold Ltd. news release dated April 10, 2017). The Gold Creek mineralized zone is interpreted to 
occur above the stratigraphic unit, which hosts the Spanish Mountain mineralization.

There are numerous soil anomalies on the property over a 12 km strike length. Much of Gold Creek
is covered by overburden and remains virtually unexplored. Limited percussion drilling was 
completed in the 1980’s, with anomalous values of gold up to 1.1g/t reported over a hole length of 
1.5 metres.

A 2008 program consisted of 6 diamond drill holes totalling 1,060 metres. A 2011 program 
consisted of 25 drill holes totalling 2,501 metres, of which 5 (1,037 metres) were diamond drill 
holes and 16 drill holes (1,464 metres) were reverse-circulation. The program outlined a gold-rich 
zone with sample values ranging from anomalous to 13.4 g/t Au. The purpose of the 2008 and 
2011 drill programs was to test numerous gold soil anomalies as well as expand upon low-grade 
bulk-tonnage gold mineralization encountered in earlier drill programs. Analysis of the 2008 and 
2011 drill data indicates that there appears to be a 300-metre-long zone of low-grade gold 
mineralization over widths of 75 to 100 metres open along strike to the southeast and to depth.  
Nine drill holes have tested this zone to date, indicating the zone dips steeply to the northeast and 
to a vertical depth of at least 250 metres.

A rock chip and soil sampling program was completed at Gold Creek by Eureka in late 2016 
extending grid-work completed by the previous operator. Samples were analysed for gold by MMI 
techniques, and results indicate some weak to moderate anomalies ranging to 22.4 ppb Au.  Rock 
chips were collected from showing areas and graded up to 8.65 ppm Au.



OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d)
 
Gold Creek Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

2017 Drill Program

In May 2017, Eureka completed its initial diamond drill program at Gold Creek.

The 2017 drill program consisted of three holes totalling 331 metres and was focused on a gold-
bearing zone containing disseminated and high-grade vein-controlled gold mineralization. 
Eureka's 2017 drill program served as verification of work conducted by the previous operator and 
as a guide to design future exploration programs in this area of the property.

Drilling was conducted in previously disturbed areas to mitigate environmental disturbance. The 
program utilized a diamond drill providing HQ diameter core and twinned a historical reverse 
circulation drill hole which terminated in gold mineralization at 45.72 metres. In 2011, the previous 
operator drilled hole GC11-27 (twinned as part of the 2017 drill program) which returned 41.20 
metres of 0.893 g/t Au, including 1.51 metres of 3.400 g/t Au.

With the completion of the 2017 drill program, Eureka has satisfied its work commitment required 
to earn a 100% interest in Gold Creek. Eureka completed the earn-in by issuing 150,000 common 
shares to the vendor on July 5, 2017.



OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d)

Luxor Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

The Luxor project (“Luxor”) is located in the Dawson Range Gold Belt of western Yukon, a district 
of major porphyry, breccia and vein deposits and occurrences, and is comprised of three non-
contiguous claim blocks referred to as the Ophir, Sheba, and Hav. The project consists of 360 
claims (approximately 7,000 hectares) and is located 65–80 kms southeast of Dawson City. 
Neighbouring projects include the Coffee deposit recently acquired by Goldcorp, and Western 
Copper and Gold Corporation’s Casino deposit. The area is accessed via a well-maintained gravel 
road from Dawson City.

Placer gold mining in the Klondike district of the Yukon has been active since the late 1890’s gold 
rush.  Bedrock exploration commenced in the area in the 1970’s and resulted in the development 
of the Casino deposit. 

Mineralization in the district is gold, silver, copper and molybdenum porphyry deposits (Casino), 
mineralized breccia deposits (Coffee), and lode and stockwork veins (Golden Saddle). All three 
styles of mineralization have been identified near the non-contiguous Ophir, Sheba and Hav claim 
blocks. Placer mining has produced gold from creeks draining these properties.  There is no 
documented history of bedrock exploration.  

On December 12, 2016, Eureka entered into an agreement to purchase a 100% interest in Luxor. 

On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 2,500,000 common shares to the vendors.  The vendors 
agreed to an arrangement under which the shares will become free trading on the following dates:

June 28, 2017               833,334 shares;
December 28, 2017:    833,334 shares;
June 28, 2018:              833,332 shares.

In addition, the Company issued 125,000 common shares as a finder’s fee. 

The Company has committed to use the vendors to perform exploration work on Luxor totalling 
$750,000 over four years as follows: 

$187,500 on or before December 28, 2017 (incurred);
$187,500 on or before December 28, 2018;
$187,500 on or before December 28, 2019;
$187,500 on or before December 28, 2020;

The vendors will retain a 2% net smelter return royalty for gold produced from Luxor. The 
Company may purchase the royalty for $1,000,000. 



OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d)

Etta Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

In May 2017, the Company staked the Etta 1-24 claims in an area close to the Sheba and Ophir 
claims. The Etta 1-24 claims cover the south flank of the Indian River Valley as well as tributaries 
of Eureka Creek, both of which support highly productive active placer operations. Eureka 
included the newly staked Etta claim block in its recent airborne geophysical surveying program.

TAK Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

The TAK project (“TAK”) is located in the Dawson Range Gold Belt of western Yukon and is 
comprised of 82 contiguous claims (1,695 hectares). TAK is located 100 kilometres southeast of
Dawson City, and approximately 30 kilometres south of Luxor.  Placer mining at TAK has 
produced gold from creeks draining the western portion of the property. There is no documented 
history of bedrock exploration. 

On February 21, 2017, Eureka commenced a ground magnetic survey and a VLF (very low 
frequency) electromagnetic survey on TAK. The work was performed and directed by Aurora 
Geosciences Ltd. of Whitehorse, YT. The data obtained from the survey will provide Eureka with 
valuable information to assist in the development of a phase 2 exploration plan for TAK. Since 
acquiring TAK, the Company's technical group has commenced a review of all the historical data 
acquired as part of the transaction. Eureka plans to integrate the historical data with the 2017 
geophysical results in order to prioritize target areas on the property. 

On January 9, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase a 100% interest in TAK.

On February 6, 2017, the Company issued 500,000 common shares as consideration for the 
purchase.  The TAK vendors have agreed to an arrangement under which the shares will become 
free trading as follows: 

On closing                                               125,000 shares
Six months from closing                            125,000 shares
Twelve months from closing                      125,000 shares
Eighteen months from closing                    125,000 shares

The vendors will retain a 2% net smelter royalty for gold produced from TAK.  The Company may 
purchase 1% for $1,000,000.

2017 Geophysical Survey – Luxor, Etta and TAK:

In April 2017, Eureka entered into a contract with Geotech Ltd. to conduct a helicopter-borne,
VTEM time-domain system and magnetic geophysical survey over the Company's Luxor, Etta and 
TAK claims.

The survey and data acquisition was completed in May 2017 and consisted of 1,152 line kilometres 
flown at 100-metre line spacing. The data resulting from the survey has been interpreted and will 
be used to guide and design future ground-based exploration.



OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d)

CKN Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

On April 5, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement to earn a 100% interest in 2 claims 
covering 1,356 hectares known as the CKN Project (“CKN”).

To earn the 100% interest, the Company would make the following cash and share payments to the 
vendor, and incur the following minimum exploration expenditures:

Due Date Cash Common 
Shares

Exploration  
Expenditures

Closing Date $15,000 (paid) 50,000 (issued) $Nil
On or before July 1, 2018 $20,000 100,000 $40,000

On or before July 1, 2019 $30,000 100,000 $80,000

On or before July 1, 2020 $50,000 200,000 $100,000
On or before July 1, 2021 $100,000 250,000 $Nil

The vendor retained a 2% net smelter royalty on the property.  The Company had the right to 
purchase one-half of the royalty for $1,000,000 any time prior to commercial production.

On April 21, 2017, the Company received TSXV acceptance of the option agreement and issued 
50,000 common shares with a fair value of $4,750.

In May 2017, the Company staked 2 additional contiguous claims covering 491 hectares, bringing 
the total claim block to 1,847 hectares contained in 4 contiguous claims. The new staking covered
the balance of a magnetic anomaly identified in British Columbia government data.

CKN is located adjacent to the northeast boundary of the Gibraltar copper-molybdenum mine 
currently operated by Taseko Mines Ltd. and is accessible by road from Williams Lake.    

The Company completed a ground geological and geochemical study on the CKN property in the 
fall of 2017 to establish potential drill targets. The Company terminated the option agreement on 
the CKN property on December 23, 2017.  The Company recorded a write-off of exploration and 
evaluation assets of $36,901 effective October 31, 2017.



OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d)

Gemini Lithium Project, Esmeralda County, Nevada:

Eureka owns a 50% interest in the Gemini Lithium Project (“Gemini”) located in the Lida Valley, 
Esmeralda County, Nevada, approximately 40 km (26 miles) south of the Clayton Valley, which 
contains North America’s only producing lithium mine. Gemini consists of 134 placer claims 
(approximately 1,085 hectares).

Exploration work in 2016 consisted of ground TDEM and CSAMT surveys over Gemini West and 
Gemini East. The surveys were successful in determining conductive horizons within both sub-
basins indicating the possible presence of lithium-bearing brines. 

John R. Kerr, P.Eng., is the Company's designated Qualified Person for this MD&A within the 
meaning of National Instrument 43-101 and has reviewed and approved the technical 
information described herein.

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

The following financial data is selected information for the most recently completed fiscal years:

October 31, October 31, October 31,
2017 2016 2015

Total revenue $ - $ - $ -
Net and comprehensive income (loss) $ (744,970) $ (463,680) $ 85,099
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share $          (0.018) $          (0.018) $           0.005
Total assets $ 1,391,052 $ 782,327 $ 169,006
Total non-current liabilities $ - $ - $ -
Dividends $ - $ - $ -

All the annual results were derived from audited financial statements prepared using IFRS.



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company recorded a comprehensive loss of $61,701 for the three months ended January 31,
2018 compared to $270,933 for the three months ended January 31, 2017.

Consulting fees decreased to $6,424 for the three months ended January 31, 2018 compared to 
$28,500 for the three months ended January 31, 2017. During the three months ended January 31,
2017, the Company incurred technical and due diligence costs related to the property acquisitions.

Marketing expense was $5,000 for the three months ended January 31, 2018 compared to $54,753
for the three months ended January 31, 2017. During the three months ended January 31, 2017, 
the Company completed a marketing program in Germany and an investment radio program in the 
United States.

Share-based compensation was $Nil for the three months ended January 31, 2018 compared to 
$114,000 for the three months ended January 31, 2017. The Company granted 950,000 stock 
options during the 2017 period.

During the three months ended January 31, 2018, the Company received a Yukon Mining 
Exploration grant of $80,000.

During the three months ended January 31, 2018, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation 
costs of $1,406 compared to $56,871 during the three months ended January 31, 2017.

During the three months ended January 31, 2018, the Company received net proceeds from the 
issuance of common shares of $120,583 compared to $71,595 for the three months ended January 
31, 2017.



SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The figures for the quarters ended October 31, 2017 and 2016 are calculated from the Company’s 
annual audited consolidated financial statements.  All other amounts are from unaudited condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements prepared by management.

Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2
January 31, October 31, July 31, April 30,

2018 2017 2017 2017

Total revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Comprehensive loss $ (61,701) $ (168,082) $ (173,096) $ (132,859)
Basic and diluted loss per share $         (0.001) $         (0.004) $         (0.004) $         (0.003)

Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2
January 31, October 31, July 31, April 30,

2017 2016 2016 2016

Total revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Comprehensive loss $ (270,933) $ (171,051) $ (186,731) $ (65,456)
Basic and diluted loss per share $         (0.007) $         (0.006) $         (0.007) $         (0.003)

Variances in quarterly results can be due to stock-based compensation incurred in a quarter as the 
Company’s stock options generally vest on the grant date and therefore are fully expensed in the 
quarter in which they are granted.  Another factor which could cause a significant variance in 
quarterly results would include the write-off of a mineral property.



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company has a history of operating losses and at January 31, 2018 has an accumulated deficit 
of $7,236,561.  At January 31, 2018, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $98,643.
The Company will require additional equity financings in order to continue exploration of its 
mineral properties and fund its administrative expenses.

Historically, the Company has been able to fund administrative overheads and property acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation through equity financings.  The continued uncertainty in the financial 
equity markets may make it difficult to raise capital through the private placement of shares.  The 
junior mining industry is considered speculative in nature which could make it even more difficult 
to fund.  

While the Company is using its best efforts to achieve its business plans by examining various 
financing alternatives, there is no assurance that the Company will be successful with its financing 
ventures.

Financing Activities

Three Months Ended January 31, 2018:

Private Placement

On December 28, 2017, the Company issued 4,000,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 4,000,000 common shares at $0.025 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000.  In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $4,550.

On January 22, 2018, the Company issued 750,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 750,000 common shares at $0.035 per share for gross proceeds of $26,250.  In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $367.

Year Ended October 31, 2017:

Private Placement

On May 31, 2017, the Company issued 6,340,430 units (3,261,055 flow-through units at $0.09 per 
unit and 3,079,375 non-flow-through units at $0.08 per unit) for total proceeds of $539,845.  The 
Company allocated proceeds of $32,611 to other income for the flow-through premium on the flow-
through portion of the private placement.  In addition, the Company allocated proceeds of $63,404 
to contributed surplus for the fair value of the warrants issued on the private placement.

Each flow-through unit consisted of one flow-through common share and one-half of one share 
purchase warrant.  Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share 
at $0.15 per share until May 31, 2019.  The proceeds from the issuance of the flow-through units 
were used for exploration of the Company’s mineral properties in British Columbia and the Yukon 
Territory. 



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financing Activities – (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2017:

Each non-flow-through unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one share purchase 
warrant.  Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 
per share until May 31, 2019.  The proceeds from the issuance of the non-flow-through units were
used for working capital.

The Company paid finder’s fees of $30,675, 187,500 common shares with a fair value of $13,125,
187,500 share purchase warrants and 13,332 finder’s warrants.  Each share purchase warrant 
entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until May 31, 2019.  
Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase a non-flow-through unit at $0.09 per unit until 
May 31, 2019.

Private Placement

On December 29, 2016, the Company issued 707,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 707,000 flow-through units at $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $70,700.  Each 
unit contained one flow-through common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each 
full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until 
December 29, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $1,992 and issued 
19,920 finder’s warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase one non-flow-
through unit with the same terms as the private placement units at $0.10 per unit until December 
29, 2018.

Finder’s Warrants Exercised

On January 20, 2017, the Company issued 38,500 common shares and 38,500 warrants exercisable 
at $0.125 per share until April 29, 2018 pursuant to the exercise of 38,500 finder’s warrants at 
$0.075 for proceeds of $2,887.

Marketable Securities

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company sold its marketable securities for proceeds 
of $25,990 resulting in a gain on sale of marketable securities of $990.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements to report.



TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

At April 2, 2018, the directors of the Company were Michael Sweatman, Warren Stanyer, John
Kerr, Kristian Whitehead, Brent Petterson and Gary Vivian.  The officers of the Company were 
Michael Sweatman (CEO), Brent Petterson (CFO) and Christina Boddy (Corporate Secretary).
Additional related parties include MDS Management Ltd, MBP Management Ltd, Rhodanthe 
Corporate Services, Infiniti Drilling Corporation, Aurora Geoscience Ltd, companies with officers 
or directors in common, namely Michael Sweatman, Brent Petterson, Christina Boddy, Kristian 
Whitehead and Gary Vivian. Nevada Sunrise Gold Corporation is a public company with directors 
and officers in common with the Company.

During the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred the following 
charges by directors of the Company and by companies with directors and officers in common with 
the Company.

2018 2017

Accounting fees (Petterson) $ 9,000 $ 10,000
Consulting fees (Stanyer, Kerr, Whitehead) 5,712 8,000
Exploration and evaluation assets (Whitehead) 445 21,350
Management fees (Sweatman, Boddy) 18,000 18,000
Share-based compensation - 72,000

$ 33,157 $ 129,350

Key Management Compensation:

During the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred the following 
key management compensation charges.  Key management includes the Company’s directors and 
executive officers. 

2018 2017

Accounting fees (Petterson) $ 9,000 $ 10,000
Consulting fees (Stanyer, Kerr, Whitehead) 5,712 8,000
Exploration and evaluation assets (Whitehead) 445 21,350
Management fees (Sweatman, Boddy) 18,000 18,000
Share-based compensation - 72,000

$ 33,157 $ 129,350



TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES – (cont’d)

During the three months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017, share-based compensation expense 
related to stock options granted was as follows:

2018 2017
John Kerr $ - $ 12,000
Kristian Whitehead - 12,000
Warren Stanyer - 12,000
Michael Sweatman - 12,000
Brent Petterson - 12,000
Christina Boddy - 12,000

$ - $ 72,000

At January 31, 2018, due to related parties includes $140,582 (October 31, 2017 - $290,397)
payable to directors of the Company and to companies with directors and officers in common with 
the Company for fees and expenses.

At January 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017, due to related parties included the following:

January 31,
2018

October 31, 
2017

Gary Vivian – fees $ 4,000 $ 3,000
Aurora Geoscience Ltd – fees and expenses - 140,408
John Kerr - fees 5,500 4,500
MBP Management Ltd - fees 31,500 22,050
MDS Management Ltd - fees 42,000 29,400
Mike Sweatman - expenses - 444
John Kerr & Associates Ltd – fees and expenses - 2,078
Rhodanthe Corporate Services - fees 21,000 14,700
Warren Stanyer - fees 10,500 7,350
Nevada Sunrise Gold Corporation - expenses 21,582 22,060
Infiniti Drilling Corp – fees and expenses - 40,907
Kristian Whitehead - fees 4,500 3,500

$ 140,582 $ 290,397



PROPOSED TRANSACTION – ACQUISITION OF KORE MINING LTD.

Acquisition of Kore Mining Ltd.

On February 24, 2018, the Company signed an amalgamation agreement with Kore Mining Ltd. 
(“Kore”), a private British Columbia corporation, under which the Company agreed to acquire all 
of the issued and outstanding common shares of Kore in exchange for common shares of the 
Company by way of a three-cornered amalgamation. Kore, through its wholly-owned U.S. 
subsidiaries, owns 100% interests in the Imperial and Long Valley gold development projects, 
located in California, USA. The transaction will constitute a reverse takeover of the Company by 
Kore under the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange.

Share Consolidation

As a condition of closing of the transaction, the Company will complete a consolidation of its issued 
and outstanding common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for each ten 
pre-consolidation common shares.

Terms of the Transaction

The transaction will be affected by way of a three-cornered amalgamation under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia), pursuant to which, through the amalgamation of a newly 
incorporated British Columbia subsidiary of the Company and Kore, the Company will acquire all 
of the issued and outstanding Kore common shares in exchange for the issuance of shares of the 
Company (on a post-consolidation basis) and Kore will become a subsidiary of the Company.

As of the date of these financial statements, the Company has 50,462,402 common shares issued 
and outstanding which will be reduced to 5,046,240 common shares on a post-consolidation basis. 
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company has agreed to issue three post-consolidation 
common shares in exchange for each Kore share, resulting in the shareholders of Kore being issued 
a total of 56,121,606 common shares (on a post-consolidation basis). The exchange ratio was 
determined on the basis of this number of shares outstanding at closing. However, prior to the 
closing, the Company intends to issue shares in settlement of certain outstanding liabilities. If the 
actual number of outstanding shares immediately prior to the effective time (including any common 
shares issued in connection with the debt settlement) is greater than such amount, then the exchange 
ratio will be adjusted to ensure that, immediately following the closing, the former Kore 
shareholders will hold no less than 91.8% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares 
(prior to giving effect to the private placement (as defined below)).  The transaction is subject to 
various closing conditions, including the receipt of approval of the TSX Venture Exchange.

Following the closing, the Company will continue on with the business of Kore and remain a Tier 
2 Mining Issuer, with Kore as its operating subsidiary (with the Company, after the closing, being 
referred to herein as the resulting issuer). The resulting issuer is anticipated to hold all existing 
assets of the Company and Kore at closing. It is expected that, in connection with closing, the 
Company will change its name to Kore Mining Ltd., or such other name as agreed by the parties, 
with a corresponding change of trading symbol of the Company.

Certain common shares to be issued to Kore shareholders in connection with the transaction will 
be subject to escrow under the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange.



PROPOSED TRANSACTION – ACQUISITION OF KORE MINING LTD. – (cont’d)

Private Placement

In connection with the transaction, it is expected that the Company will undertake a private 
placement of subscription receipts for minimum gross proceeds of $2,000,000 and maximum gross 
proceeds of $7,000,000, on terms to be agreed to by the parties. At the closing of the private 
placement, the proceeds will be placed in escrow with an escrow agent and released upon 
satisfaction of the release condition, which is expected to occur immediately prior to closing.

Conditions of Closing of the Transaction

The transaction is subject to a number of terms and conditions, including, among other things:

the Company and Kore obtaining all necessary consents, orders and regulatory 
approvals;
completion of a private placement for minimum gross proceeds of $2,000,000 and 
maximum gross proceeds of $7,000,000;
there being no material change occurring with respect to the businesses of the 
companies;
satisfaction of obligations under the agreement relating to each of the parties;
delivery by each of the parties of standard closing documents, including legal 
opinions;
approval of the transaction by the shareholders of both companies;
execution of support and voting agreements by all directors and officers of the 
companies and any shareholders holding greater than 10% of the issued and 
outstanding shares in either of the companies.

The Company intends to seek a waiver from the TSX Venture Exchange of any requirement for a 
sponsor in connection with the transaction.

It is expected that, following closing, all of the current directors and officers of the Company will 
resign and the board of directors of the resulting issuer will consist of five directors, four of which 
will be nominated by Kore and one of which will be nominated by the Company. The newly 
constituted board shall be placed before shareholders of the resulting issuer for election at the next 
occurring shareholders meeting.



PROPOSED TRANSACTION – ACQUISITION OF KORE MINING LTD. – (cont’d)

Exclusivity and Break Fees

The Company and Kore have agreed to exclusivity terms in the agreement. However, nothing shall 
prohibit either party from complying with their duties and/or fiduciary obligations under applicable 
law, including, without limitation, with respect to any unsolicited proposal received by either party 
that may be superior to the transaction.

The Company and Kore have each agreed to immediately notify the other party of any information 
it may receive concerning an actual or intended offer for any or all of its assets or any of its 
securities and shall allow the other party the opportunity to match any actual bona fide offer 
presented in writing within three business days of such notice. Should the other party elect not to 
match the actual or intended offer, and should the recipient accept the offer, the recipient of the 
accepted offer must pay the other party a break fee of $50,000.

Principal Shareholders

In connection with the transaction, it is expected that an aggregate of 19,500,300 shares of the 
Company will be issued to 1130447 B.C. Ltd. and 15,000,300 shares of the Company will be issued 
to Blaxland Pacific Management Corp. (each on a post-consolidation basis) in exchange for their 
Kore shares, representing approximately 31.9% and 24.5 %, respectively, of the Company’s 
outstanding shares following the closing. Each of these Kore shareholders is a privately 
incorporated British Columbia company. The foregoing percentages have been calculated based on 
there being 61,167,846 common shares of the Company issued and outstanding after giving effect 
to the transaction but before the issuance of any common shares in connection with the debt 
settlement and the private placement.
 
Trading in the Company’s shares has been halted and is expected to remain halted until closing of 
the transaction.



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following:

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The carrying amount of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets does not necessarily 
represent present or future values, and the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets have been 
accounted for under the assumption that the carrying amount will be recoverable. Recoverability is 
dependent on various factors, including the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the 
ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development and upon 
future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the mineral properties themselves. 
Additionally, there are numerous geological, economic, environmental and regulatory factors and 
uncertainties that could impact management’s assessment as to the overall viability of its properties 
or to the ability to generate future cash flows necessary to cover or exceed the carrying value of the 
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets.

Share-based Payments

The estimation of share-based payments includes estimating the inputs used in calculating the fair 
value for share-based payments expense included in profit or loss and share-based share issuance 
costs included in equity. Share-based payments expense and share-based share issuance costs are 
estimated using the Black-Scholes options-pricing model as measured on the grant date to estimate 
the fair value of stock options. This model involves the input of highly subjective assumptions, 
including the expected price volatility of the Company’s common shares, the expected life of the 
options, and the estimated forfeiture rate.

Income Taxes

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets based 
on an assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against 
future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. Management assesses whether it is 
probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate 
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income, which 
in turn is dependent upon the successful discovery, extraction, development and commercialization 
of mineral reserves. To the extent that management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize 
future tax deductions changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or fewer deferred 
tax assets, and future income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected.



CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There were no changes in the Company’s significant accounting policies during the three months
ended January 31, 2018 that had a material effect on its condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements.  The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 3 to its condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended January 31, 2018.

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were 
issued by the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for future accounting periods.  The following have 
not yet been adopted by the Company and are being evaluated to determine their impact.

- IFRS 9: New standard that replaced IAS 39 for classification and measurement, effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

- IFRS 16 – Leases: New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Financial Assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the 
following four categories: held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivables or at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized through profit or loss.  The Company’s cash is classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity assets are measured at 
amortized cost.  The Company’s GST receivable, BC Mining Exploration Tax Credit receivable
and Yukon Mining Exploration Grant receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Financial 
assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized in other comprehensive income and loss except for losses in value that are considered 
other than temporary which are recognized in profit or loss. As at January 31, 2018 and October
31, 2017, the Company has not classified any financial assets as held to maturity or available for 
sale. The Company classifies its reclamation bonds as held to maturity.

Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while 
transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount 
of the asset.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows:

a) Financial assets carried at amortized cost: The loss is the difference between the amortized 
cost of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using 
the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.

b) Available-for-sale financial assets: The impairment loss is the difference between the 
original cost of the asset and its fair value at the measurement date, less any impairment 
losses previously recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. This amount 
represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive income that is 
reclassified to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS – (cont’d)

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPL 
or other financial liabilities.  

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective 
interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
due from related parties are classified as other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated 
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized in profit 
or loss. 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

- Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The fair values of the Company’s receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to 
related parties approximate their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these 
instruments. 

The following table illustrates the classification of the Company’s financial instruments within the 
fair value hierarchy as at January 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

October 31, 2017:
Cash $ 2,686 $ - $ -
Restricted cash $ 72,011 $ - $ -

January 31, 2018:
Cash $ 68,781 $ - $ -



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS – (cont’d)

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on its financial instruments are summarized below:

Credit risk 

The Company’s cash is held with large financial institutions.  The Company’s receivables consist 
of sales taxes and exploration tax credits receivable from the Government of Canada and the 
Governments of British Columbia and the Yukon Territory.  Management believes that credit risk 
concentration with respect to receivables is remote.

Liquidity risk 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity 
to meet liabilities when due.  At January 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $68,781 to settle 
current liabilities of $186,568. Management intends to raise additional funds through equity 
financings or shares for debt to meet its current liabilities when they become due.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, 
and commodity and equity prices. 

a) Interest rate risk:

The Company has cash which is not subject to significant risks in fluctuating interest rates.  
The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term 
deposit certificates issued by its banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors 
the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks. An increase to 
interest rates by 1% would have an insignificant effect on operations.

b) Price risk:

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity 
price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to 
movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock 
market. The Company’s marketable securities are subject to price risk.  Commodity price 
risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to 
commodity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity 
prices of gold, individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.

c) Foreign currency risk:

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash and 
accounts payable denominated in US dollars.  As at January 31, 2018 and October 31,
2017, a 10% fluctuation in the US Dollar against the Canadian Dollar would not have a 
significant impact on profit and loss.



RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In addition to the risks and uncertainties detailed earlier in this MD&A, the Company is also subject 
to other risks and uncertainties including the following: 

General Risk Associated with the Mining Industry

The business of mineral deposit exploration and extraction involves a high degree of risk.  Few 
properties that are explored ultimately become producing mines.  At present, none of the 
Company’s properties has a known commercial ore deposit.  The main operating risks include: 
securing adequate funding to maintain and advance exploration properties; ensuring ownership of 
and access to mineral properties by confirmation that claims and agreements are in good standing 
and obtaining permits for drilling and other exploration activities.  The market prices for gold and 
other metals can be volatile and there is no assurance that a profitable market will exist for a 
production decision to be made or for the ultimate sale of the metals even if commercial quantities 
of precious and other metals are discovered.

Exploration and development activities involve risks which careful evaluation, experience and 
knowledge may not, in some cases eliminate.  The commercial viability of any mineral deposit 
depends on many factors not all of which are within the control of management.  Some of the 
factors that affect the financial viability of a given mineral deposit include its size, grade and 
proximity to infrastructure, government regulation, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, 
environmental protection and reclamation and closure obligations, have an impact on the economic 
viability of a mineral deposit.  Management attempts to mitigate its exploration risk and may 
employ a strategy of joint ventures with other companies which balance the risk while at the same 
time allowing properties to be advanced.

Dependence on Key Personnel

Loss of certain members of the executive team or key operational leaders of the Company could 
have a disruptive effect on the implementation of the Company’s business strategy and the efficient 
running of day-to-day operations until their replacement is found.  Recruiting personnel is time 
consuming and expensive and competition for qualified personnel may be intense.  The Company 
may be unable to retain its key employees or attract, assimilate, retain or train other necessary 
qualified employees, which may restrict its growth potential.

Competitive Industry

Mining industry is intensely competitive and the Company will compete with other companies that 
have far greater resources.

Title to Mineral Properties

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to 
prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects.



RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES – (cont’d)

Permits and Licences

The operations of the Company will require licences and permits from various governmental 
authorities, which have been applied for and/or will be applied for at the proper time.  There can, 
however, be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary licences and permits 
required to carry out exploration, development and mining operations of its projects.

Environmental Regulation

The operations of the Company are subject to environmental regulations promulgated by 
government agencies from time to time. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and 
prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions or various substances produced in association with 
certain mining industry operations, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas, which would result 
in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation may result in the imposition of fines and 
penalties. In addition, certain types of operations require the submission and approval of 
environmental impact assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which means
stricter standards, and enforcement, fines and penalties for non-compliance are becoming more 
stringent. Environmental assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of 
responsibility for companies and their directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance 
with changes in governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of future 
operations.  The Company may become subject to liability for pollutions or hazards against which 
it cannot insure or again which it may elect not to insure where premium costs are disproportionate 
to the Company’s perception of the relevant risks.  The payment of such insurance premiums and 
of such liabilities would reduce the funds available for exploration and production activities.

Estimates of Mineral Resources may not be Realized

The mineral resource estimates published from time to time by the Company with respect to its 
properties are estimates only and no assurance can be given that any particular level of recovery of 
minerals will in fact be realized or that an identified resource will ever qualify as a commercially 
mineable (or viable) deposit which can be legally and economically exploited. In addition, the grade 
of mineralization ultimately mined may differ from that indicated by drilling results and such 
differences could be material. Production can be affected by such factors as permitting regulations 
and requirements, weather, environmental factors, unforeseen technical difficulties, unusual or 
unexpected geological formations, inaccurate or incorrect geologic, metallurgical or engineering 
work, and work interruptions, among other things. Short-term factors, such as the need for orderly 
development of deposits or the processing of new or different grades, may have an adverse effect 
on mining operations or the results of operations. There can be no assurance that minerals recovered 
in small-scale laboratory tests will be duplicated in large-scale tests under on-site conditions or in 
production scale operations. Material changes in resources, grades, stripping ratios or recovery rates 
may affect the economic viability of projects. The estimated resources described herein should not 
be interpreted as assurances of mine life or of the profitability of future operations. 



DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

a) Issued: Number

At April 2, 2018 50,462,402

b) Stock Options:

At April 2, 2018, the Company had 3,100,000 stock options outstanding entitling the holders 
thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held as follows:

Number of options
outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,200,000 $0.10 June 23, 2020
800,000 $0.10 June 27, 2021
900,000 $0.13 January 16, 2022
200,000 $0.10 April 28, 2022

3,100,000

c) Share Purchase Warrants:

At April 2, 2018, the Company had 11,975,115 share purchase warrants outstanding entitling 
the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each warrant held as follows:

Number of warrants
outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,215,000 $0.125 June 10, 2020
2,740,566 $0.125 April 29, 2018
2,033,334 $0.125 May 6, 2018

525,000 $0.20 September 9, 2018
662,500 $0.15 October 20, 2018

1,087,500 $0.15 October 26, 2018
353,500 $0.15 December 29, 2018

3,357,715 $0.15 May 31, 2019
11,975,115



DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA – (cont’d)

d) Finders Warrants:

At April 2, 2018, there were 351,805 finder’s warrants outstanding as follows:

Number of warrants
Outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

116,900 $0.075 April 29, 2018
86,333 $0.075 May 6, 2018
9,000 $0.14 September 9, 2018

42,000 $0.10 October 20, 2018
64,320 $0.10 October 26, 2018
19,920 $0.10 December 29, 2018
13,332 $0.09 May 31, 2019

351,805

Finder's warrants entitle the holders to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement to which they relate.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
This MD&A includes certain forward-looking statements or information.  All statements other than 
statements of historical fact included in this MD&A including statements relating to the potential 
mineralization or geological merits of the Company's mineral properties and the future plans, 
objectives or expectations of the Company are forward-looking statements that involve various 
risks and uncertainties.  Such forward-looking statements include among other things, statements 
regarding future commodity pricing, estimation of mineral reserves and resources, timing and 
amounts of estimated exploration expenditures and capital expenditures, costs and timing of the 
exploration and development of new deposits, success of exploration activities, permitting time 
lines, future currency exchange rates, requirements for additional capital, government regulation of 
mining operations, environmental risks, anticipated reclamation expenses, timing and possible 
outcome of pending litigation, timing and expected completion of property acquisitions or 
dispositions, and title disputes. They may also include statements with respect to the Company’s 
mineral discoveries, plans, out-look and business strategy.  The words “may”, “would”, “could”, 
“should”, “will”, “likely”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “plan”, “forecast”, 
“project” and “believe” or other similar words and phrases are intended to identify forward-looking 
information.

Forward-looking statements are predictions based upon current expectations and involve known 
and unknown risks and uncertainties.  There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to 
be accurate and actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in 
such statements.  

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company's plans or 
expectations include risks relating to the actual results of exploration programs, fluctuating 
commodity prices, the possibility of equipment breakdowns and delays, the availability of 
necessary exploration equipment including drill rigs, exploration cost overruns, general economic 
or business conditions, regulatory changes, and the timeliness of government or regulatory 
approvals to conduct planned exploration work.  Additional factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the Company's plans or expectations include political events, fluctuations 
in mineralization grade, geological, technical, mining or processing problems, future profitability 
on production, the ability to raise sufficient capital to fund exploration or production, litigation, 
legislative, environmental and other judicial, regulatory, political and competitive developments, 
inability to obtain permits, general volatility in the equity and debt markets, accidents and labour
disputes and the availability of qualified personnel.

Although the Company has attempted to identify all of the factors that may affect our forward-
looking statements or information, this list of the factors is not exhaustive. Readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date 
the statements were made, and readers are advised to consider such forward-looking statements in 
light of the risks and uncertainties detailed throughout this MD&A.  The Company disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking information, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except where required by applicable securities laws. 
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE 
 
To Our Shareholders,

During the year ended October 31, 2017, Eureka acquired new projects in the Cariboo Mining 
Division of British Columbia and in the Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory.

The Cariboo Mining Division of British Columbia is one of the most prolific mineral regions in 
western North America. The Dawson Range Gold Belt region of the Yukon Territory has recently 
attracted the attention of a significant number of both junior and senior companies, with the 
acquisition of the Coffee project by Goldcorp as the most notable example.

Eureka’s fiscal 2017 accomplishments include the following:

Entered into an option agreement in November 2016 to earn up to a 100% interest in the 
Gold Creek project located in the Cariboo. The Gold Creek project is located 8 kms from 
and within the same lithology as the Spanish Mountain deposit. Eureka has completed all 
of the requirements under the option agreement and has earned its 100% interest;
Received positive results from a three-hole diamond drill program completed at Gold 
Creek in May 2017; Hole #GC17-035 included 1.25 metres at 33.20 g/t Au, and Hole
#GC17-034 included 1.50 metres at 17.95 g/t Au;
Entered into an agreement in December 2016 to purchase a 100% interest in the Luxor 
project in the Dawson Range Gold Belt.  Luxor is comprised of the non-contiguous Sheba, 
Hav and Ophir properties.
Entered into an agreement in January 2017 to purchase a 100% interest in the Tak project
in the Dawson Range Gold Belt.
Completed an extensive airborne geophysical survey over all of Eureka’s Yukon properties 
in May 2017;
Completed a follow up geochemical and mapping program on three of the Yukon 
properties (Tak, Sheba and Etta) in September 2017.

As announced by News Release dated November 27, 2017, Eureka is conducting a review of 
strategic alternatives focused on maximizing shareholder value including a review of the 
Company’s capital structure, property portfolio, potential business combinations or joint ventures,
in order to determine the future direction of the Company. As part of that review, we have 
completed an equity financing of $126,250 to reduce accounts payable and enhance our financial 
position going forward.

Sincerely,

“Michael Sweatman”

Michael Sweatman, President and CEO
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INTRODUCTION 

Eureka Resources Inc. (“Eureka” or “the Company”) is an exploration stage company with a strong 
technical team, whose strategy is to acquire projects in prospective areas that have the potential to 
deliver important discoveries and create value for its shareholders. The Company’s primary focus 
is exploration for precious metals in British Columbia and the Yukon Territory.

The Company’s common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) 
under the symbol “EUK”. The Company’s head office is Suite 1100 - 1111 Melville Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 3V6.  The registered and records office is c/o McMillan 
LLP, Suite 1500 - 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V7X 1L3.

This discussion and analysis of financial position, results of operations and cash flows of Eureka
Resources Inc. for the year ended October 31, 2017 includes information up to and including 
February 16, 2018 and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual 
consolidated financial statements for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016. All the financial 
statements were prepared using International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Board 
of Directors of the Company has approved this MD&A.

The reader is encouraged to review the Company’s statutory filings at www.sedar.com and to 
review other information about the Company on its website at www.eurekaresourcesinc.com.
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
 
FG Gold Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

The FG Gold project (“FG Gold”) is a strata-controlled gold project located at the headwaters of 
the Horsefly River, 50 kms east of Horsefly, B.C. and consists of 30 contiguous claims (10,084 
hectares). Over $15.0 million of exploration work has been completed on FG Gold, establishing a 
Measured and Indicated resource of 376,000 ounces of gold at an average grade of 0.776 g/t (using 
a 0.5 g/t cut-off), and an Inferred resource of 634,900 ounces of gold at an average grade of 0.718 
g/t (using a 0.5 g/t cut-off). Mineralization has been outlined over a 3 km strike length, and 
additional mineralization could extend along an interpreted 10 km strike length. Further details on 
the gold resource can be found in “NI 43-101 Technical Report, Frasergold Exploration Project, 
Cariboo Mining Division, dated July 27, 2015” available on SEDAR or on the Company’s website. 

Work in 2016 consisted of soil sampling in the northwest extension and a geophysical interpretation 
of a 2008 airborne geophysical survey in the northwest and southeast extensions and in the south 
limb area. Interpretation of geophysical results indicates that the favourable horizon is identified 
from electromagnetic results and offsetting of the horizon is interpreted from magnetic results. Soil 
anomalies correlate well with interpreted favourable stratigraphic horizon to the northwest and 
provide drill targets for future programs. Similar geophysical features are interpreted to the 
southeast and on the south limb, and provide areas for future geochemical surveys.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 
 
FG Gold Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into an option agreement with Canarc Resource Corp. 
(“Canarc”) which provided Canarc the option to earn up to a 75% interest in the FG Gold project.

On TSX-V approval of the option agreement (received in September 2016), Canarc issued the 
Company 250,000 common shares of Canarc with a fair value of $25,000 and purchased 750,000 
units of Eureka at $0.14 per unit for proceeds of $105,000.

In order to earn the initial 51% interest in FG Gold, Canarc was required to:

(a) Incur aggregate exploration expenditures of $1,500,000 on the property as follows:

at least $500,000 is to be incurred in 2017,
at least $500,000 is to be incurred in 2018, and
the balance of the $1,500,000 is to be incurred in 2019.

(b) Issue Canarc shares to Eureka as set out below:
 

Payment Date Number of Shares
First Anniversary 250,000
Second Anniversary 250,000
Third Anniversary 250,000

(c) Pay the Company an annual cash payment equal to 50% of the British Columbia 
Mining Exploration Tax Credit received by Canarc with respect to FG Gold for 
expenditures incurred by Canarc (to an aggregate maximum of $1,500,000 in 
expenditures during the first option period) each year of the first option period.

In order to earn the additional 24% interest in the FG Gold project, Canarc was required to:

(a) Incur additional exploration expenditures of $1,500,000 on the property between the 
third anniversary and the fifth anniversary of the date of grant of the option. 

(b) Issue Canarc shares to Eureka as set out below:

Payment Date Number of Shares
Fourth Anniversary 750,000
Fifth Anniversary 750,000

(c) Pay the Company an annual cash payment equal to the greater of: (i) $75,000 and (ii) 
50% of the British Columbia Mining Exploration Tax Credit for expenditures incurred 
by Canarc (to an aggregate maximum of $1,500,000 in expenditures during the second 
option period) each year of the second option period.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 

FG Gold Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

In July 2017, Canarc informed the Company that it would not be proceeding with the option 
agreement on FG Gold and terminated the agreement on August 4, 2017.  Canarc paid the Company 
$35,000 in lieu of exploration work that Canarc was required to perform on certain of the FG Gold 
claims.

Eureka intends to locate a new exploration partner for the FG Gold or, subject to market conditions, 
operate its own exploration program on the interpreted offset of the Main Zone which was 
discovered in 2016 from a thorough re-interpretation of a 2007 airborne survey. Eureka believes 
that a successful drilling program on the offset on the Main Zone could add significantly to the 
known gold resources at the property.

An exploration permit was recently received for the FG Gold Project which allows, subject to 
several conditions, drilling of up to ten drill holes in the northwest area of the FG Gold property 
proximal to current roads.
 
Gold Creek Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

On November 14, 2016, Eureka entered into an option agreement to earn up to a 100% interest in 
the Gold Creek project (“Gold Creek”).

Under the terms of the option agreement, Eureka can earn up to a 100% interest in Gold Creek as
follows:

- 49% by incurring a minimum of $30,000 in exploration expenditures by November 14, 2016 
(incurred);

- an additional 26% by issuing 50,000 common shares (issued) and by incurring an additional 
$50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2017 (incurred);

- an additional 25% by issuing an additional 100,000 common shares (issued) and by incurring 
an additional $50,000 in exploration expenditures by August 31, 2018 (incurred).

The vendor retained a 1% net smelter royalty.  The Company may purchase one-half of the royalty 
for $1,000,000.

Mineralization at Gold Creek is located 2 kms north of the village of Likely, B.C. The property
consists of 33 contiguous mineral claims totalling 9,673 hectares.  The Gold Creek property is 
accessible via a well-maintained all-weather road. Gold mineralization encountered to date at Gold 
Creek strikes toward the Spanish Mountain deposit which is located 8 kms to the southeast. Spanish 
Mountain hosts a 2.48-million-ounce measured and indicated gold resource (see Spanish Mountain 
Gold Ltd. news release dated April 10, 2017). The Gold Creek mineralized zone is interpreted to 
occur above the stratigraphic unit, which hosts the Spanish Mountain mineralization.

There are numerous soil anomalies on the property over a 12 km strike length. Much of Gold Creek
is covered by overburden and remains virtually unexplored. Limited percussion drilling was 
completed in the 1980’s, with anomalous values of gold up to 1.1g/t reported over a hole length of 
1.5 metres.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 
 
Gold Creek Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

A 2008 program consisted of 6 diamond drill holes totalling 1,060 metres. A 2011 program
consisted of 25 drill holes totalling 2,501 metres, of which 5 (1,037 metres) were diamond drill 
holes and 16 drill holes (1,464 metres) were reverse-circulation. The program outlined a gold-rich 
zone with sample values ranging from anomalous to 13.4 g/t Au. The purpose of the 2008 and 
2011 drill programs was to test numerous gold soil anomalies as well as expand upon low-grade 
bulk-tonnage gold mineralization encountered in earlier drill programs. Analysis of the 2008 and 
2011 drill data indicates that there appears to be a 300-metre-long zone of low-grade gold 
mineralization over widths of 75 to 100 metres open along strike to the southeast and to depth.  
Nine drill holes have tested this zone to date, indicating the zone dips steeply to the northeast and 
to a vertical depth of at least 250 metres.

A rock chip and soil sampling program was completed at Gold Creek by Eureka in late 2016 
extending grid-work completed by the previous operator. Samples were analysed for gold by MMI 
techniques, and results indicate some weak to moderate anomalies ranging to 22.4 ppb Au.  Rock 
chips were collected from showing areas and graded up to 8.65 ppm Au.

2017 Drill Program

In May 2017, Eureka completed its initial diamond drill program at Gold Creek.

The 2017 drill program consisted of three holes totalling 331 metres and was focused on a gold-
bearing zone containing disseminated and high-grade vein-controlled gold mineralization. 
Eureka's 2017 drill program served as verification of work conducted by the previous operator and 
as a guide to design future exploration programs in this area of the property.

Drilling was conducted in previously disturbed areas to mitigate environmental disturbance. The 
program utilized a diamond drill providing HQ diameter core and twinned a historical reverse 
circulation drill hole which terminated in gold mineralization at 45.72 metres. In 2011, the previous 
operator drilled hole GC11-27 (twinned as part of the 2017 drill program) which returned 41.20 
metres of 0.893 g/t Au, including 1.51 metres of 3.400 g/t Au.

With the completion of the 2017 drill program, Eureka has satisfied its work commitment required 
to earn a 100% interest in Gold Creek. Eureka completed the earn-in by issuing 150,000 common 
shares to the vendor on July 5, 2017.  
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 
 
Gold Creek Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

2017 Assay Results

The assays in the table below have been derived using two separate assay methods for the purpose 
of attempting to accurately represent gold content. These two methods are screen metallic and 
regular fire assay procedures. The reasons for utilizing these two methods are due to the observed 
nuggety nature of the gold mineralization that has been encountered to date. This “nugget” effect 
can cause two fractions of the same sample to yield radically different results due to the 
heterogeneity of the gold mineralization placement within a sample. The Company has engaged 
Gary H. Giroux, MASc, PEng, to advise on future sampling protocols in order to assist in providing 
statistically valid results for future resource calculations. Readers are cautioned that the property is 
at an early stage and these results are considered the first phase and best efforts of the Company's 
exploration program to date.

                                   From      To    Width      Au         Screen metallic Au
GC17-035                      (m)     (m)      (m)   (g/t)           (g/t)

Significant intersection   85.85  170.50    84.65   0.96  0.71
Including                        88.70   89.80     1.10    3.59                 5.03
Including                       112.00  115.00     3.00    1.59                 5.05
Including                       136.25  137.50     1.25   33.20               5.76
Including                       143.50  145.00     1.50    8.11                 1.09
 
 
                                   From      To    Width     Au        Screen metallic Au
GC17-034       (m)     (m)      (m)   (g/t)                (g/t)

Significant intersection    10.00   28.30    18.30    2.92                 1.10
Including                         16.00   25.00     9.00    5.53            1.14
Including                         17.50   19.00     1.50 17.95                0.33
 
 
                             From      To    Width      Au        Screen metallic Au
GC17-033 (m)     (m)      (m) (g/t)               (g/t)

Significant intersection    13.00   28.00    15.00    0.71                 0.97
Including                         21.20   25.00     3.80   1.77           1.77
Significant intersection    40.00   85.00    45.00    0.64                 0.39
   
A program for continuing drilling and exploration is currently being planned. Subsequent drilling 
and exploration programs will focus on determining the extent of strike, depth and width of this 
zone. Financing for these future programs is yet to be determined; however, initial drilling may 
utilize existing flow-through funds.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 

Luxor Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

The Luxor project (“Luxor”) is located in the Dawson Range Gold Belt of western Yukon, a district 
of major porphyry, breccia and vein deposits and occurrences, and is comprised of three non-
contiguous claim blocks referred to as the Ophir, Sheba, and Hav. The project consists of 360 
claims (approximately 7,000 hectares) and is located 65–80 kms southeast of Dawson City. 
Neighbouring projects include the Coffee deposit recently acquired by Goldcorp, and Western 
Copper and Gold Corporation’s Casino deposit. The area is accessed via a well-maintained gravel 
road from Dawson City.
 
Placer gold mining in the Klondike district of the Yukon has been active since the late 1890’s gold 
rush.  Bedrock exploration commenced in the area in the 1970’s and resulted in the development 
of the Casino deposit. 

Mineralization in the district is gold, silver, copper and molybdenum porphyry deposits (Casino), 
mineralized breccia deposits (Coffee), and lode and stockwork veins (Golden Saddle). All three 
styles of mineralization have been identified near the non-contiguous Ophir, Sheba and Hav claim 
blocks. Placer mining has produced gold from creeks draining these properties.  There is no 
documented history of bedrock exploration.  

On December 12, 2016, Eureka entered into an agreement to purchase a 100% interest in Luxor. 

On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 2,500,000 common shares to the vendors.  The vendors
agreed to an arrangement under which the shares will become free trading on the following dates:

June 28, 2017               833,334 shares;
December 28, 2017:    833,334 shares;
June 28, 2018:              833,332 shares.

In addition, the Company issued 125,000 common shares as a finder’s fee. 

The Company has committed to use the vendors to perform exploration work on Luxor totalling 
$750,000 over four years as follows: 

$187,500 on or before December 28, 2017 (incurred);
$187,500 on or before December 28, 2018;
$187,500 on or before December 28, 2019;
$187,500 on or before December 28, 2020;

The vendors will retain a 2% net smelter return royalty for gold produced from Luxor. The 
Company may purchase the royalty for $1,000,000. 
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 

Etta Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

In May 2017, the Company staked the Etta 1-24 claims in an area close to the Sheba and Ophir 
claims. The Etta 1-24 claims cover the south flank of the Indian River Valley as well as tributaries 
of Eureka Creek, both of which support highly productive active placer operations. The Etta
property is underlain mainly by Permian Snowcap Assemblage sediments and lesser units of 
Permian Sulphur Creek Assemblage gneisses and intrusive rocks; these assemblages extend to the 
northwest and underlie much of the historic Klondike placer gold district. Eureka included the 
newly staked Etta claim block in its recent airborne geophysical surveying program.

Tak Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

The Tak project (“Tak”) is located in the Dawson Range Gold Belt of western Yukon and is 
comprised of 82 contiguous claims (1,695 hectares). Tak is located 100 kilometres southeast of 
Dawson City, and approximately 30 kilometres south of Luxor.  Placer mining at Tak has produced 
gold from creeks draining the western portion of the property. There is no documented history of 
bedrock exploration. 

On February 21, 2017, Eureka commenced a ground magnetic survey and a VLF (very low 
frequency) electromagnetic survey on Tak. The work was performed and directed by Aurora 
Geosciences Ltd. of Whitehorse, YT. The data obtained from the survey will provide Eureka with 
valuable information to assist in the development of a phase 2 exploration plan for Tak. Since 
acquiring Tak, the Company's technical group has commenced a review of all the historical data 
acquired as part of the transaction. Eureka plans to integrate the historical data with the 2017 
geophysical results in order to prioritize target areas on the property. 

On January 9, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase a 100% interest in Tak.

On February 6, 2017, the Company issued 500,000 common shares as consideration for the 
purchase.  The Tak vendors have agreed to an arrangement under which the shares will become 
free trading as follows: 

On closing                                               125,000 shares
Six months from closing                            125,000 shares
Twelve months from closing                    125,000 shares
Eighteen months from closing                    125,000 shares

The vendors will retain a 2% net smelter royalty for gold produced from Tak.  The Company may 
purchase 1% for $1,000,000.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 

Tak Project, Dawson Range Gold Belt, Yukon Territory:

2017 Geophysical Survey – Luxor, Etta and Tak:

In April 2017, Eureka entered into a contract with Geotech Ltd. to conduct a helicopter-borne,
VTEM time-domain system and magnetic geophysical survey over the Company's Luxor, Etta and 
Tak claims.

The survey and data acquisition was completed in May 2017 and consisted of 1,152 line kilometres 
flown at 100-metre line spacing. The data resulting from the survey has been interpreted and will 
be used to guide and design future ground-based exploration.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 

CKN Project, Cariboo Mining Division, British Columbia:

On April 5, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement to earn a 100% interest in 2 claims
covering 1,356 hectares known as the CKN Project (“CKN”).

To earn the 100% interest, the Company must make the following cash and share payments to the 
vendor, and incur the following minimum exploration expenditures:

Due Date Cash Common 
Shares

Exploration  
Expenditures

Closing Date $15,000 (paid) 50,000 (issued) $Nil

On or before July 1, 2018 $20,000 100,000 $40,000

On or before July 1, 2019 $30,000 100,000 $80,000
On or before July 1, 2020 $50,000 200,000 $100,000

On or before July 1, 2021 $100,000 250,000 $Nil

The vendor retained a 2% net smelter royalty on the property.  The Company has the right to 
purchase one-half of the royalty for $1,000,000 any time prior to commercial production.

On April 21, 2017, the Company received TSXV acceptance of the option agreement and issued 
50,000 common shares with a fair value of $4,750.

In May 2017, the Company staked 2 additional contiguous claims covering 491 hectares, bringing 
the total claim block to 1,847 hectares contained in 4 contiguous claims. The new staking covered
the balance of a magnetic anomaly identified in British Columbia government data.

CKN is located adjacent to the northeast boundary of the Gibraltar copper-molybdenum mine 
currently operated by Taseko Mines Ltd., and is accessible by road from Williams Lake.  Access 
is possible year-round with the optimum time for field work from early spring to late fall.  

The Company completed a ground geological and geochemical study on the CKN property in the 
fall of 2017 to establish potential drill targets. Subsequent to October 31, 2017, the Company 
informed the vendor that it would not be proceeding with the option agreement on the CKN Project,
subsequently terminating the agreement on December 23, 2017.  The Company recorded a write-
off of exploration and evaluation assets of $36,901 effective October 31, 2017.
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE – (cont’d) 

Gemini Lithium Project, Esmeralda County, Nevada:

Eureka owns a 50% interest in the Gemini Lithium Project (“Gemini”) located in the Lida Valley, 
Esmeralda County, Nevada, approximately 40 km (26 miles) south of the Clayton Valley, which 
contains North America’s only producing lithium mine. Gemini consists of 134 placer claims 
(approximately 1,085 hectares).

Exploration work in 2016 consisted of ground TDEM and CSAMT surveys over Gemini West and 
Gemini East. The surveys were successful in determining conductive horizons within both sub-
basins indicating the possible presence of lithium-bearing brines. 

John R. Kerr, P.Eng., is the Company's designated Qualified Person for this MD&A within the 
meaning of National Instrument 43-101 and has reviewed and approved the technical 
information described herein.

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

The following financial data is selected information for the most recently completed fiscal years:

October 31, October 31, October 31,
2017 2016 2015

Total revenue $ - $ - $ -
Net and comprehensive income (loss) $ (744,970) $ (463,680) $ 85,099
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share $          (0.018) $          (0.018) $           0.005
Total assets $ 1,391,052 $ 782,327 $ 169,006
Total non-current liabilities $ - $ - $ -
Dividends $ - $ - $ -

All the annual results were derived from audited financial statements prepared using IFRS.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company recorded a comprehensive loss of $744,970 for the year ended October 31, 2017
compared to $463,680 for the year ended October 31, 2016.

Consulting fees increased to $134,170 for the year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $41,850
for the year ended October 31, 2016. During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company 
incurred technical and due diligence costs related to the property acquisitions completed during the 
year.  In addition, the Company incurred financial consulting fees related to a private placement 
completed during the year.

Marketing expense was $220,091 for the year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $121,667 for 
the year ended October 31, 2016. Eureka listed its common shares for trading on Germany’s 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange to increase the Company's trading liquidity and facilitate investment by 
European investors. During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company completed a marketing 
program in Germany and an investment radio program in the United States. In Canada, the 
Company engaged Lukor Capital Corp. for marketing and corporate development.

Share-based compensation was $130,000 for the year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $81,000
for the year ended October 31, 2016. The Company granted 1,150,000 stock options in 2017 
compared to 900,000 stock options in 2016.

Subsequent to October 31, 2017, the Company informed the vendor of the CKN Project that it 
would not be proceeding with its option on the CKN Project.  The Company recorded a write-off 
of exploration and evaluation assets of $36,901 effective October 31, 2017.

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company issued 3,261,055 flow-through units at 
$0.09 per unit for proceeds of $293,495.  The Company allocated proceeds of $32,611 ($0.01 per 
unit) to other income for the flow-through premium.  

Investing Activities - Exploration and Evaluation Assets

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $182,207 on the Gold Creek project. In addition, the Company issued 150,000 common shares 
with a fair value of $7,500 to exercise its option on the Gold Creek project. The Company recorded 
a BC Mining Exploration Tax Credit receivable of $11,112.

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $264,525 on the Luxor project and staking costs of $1,550 to stake the Etta claims.  In addition, 
the Company issued 2,625,000 common shares with a fair value of $275,625 to acquire the Luxor 
project. The Company recorded a Yukon Mining Exploration Grant receivable of $40,000.  

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $160,838 on the Tak project.  In addition, the Company issued 500,000 common shares with a 
fair value of $50,000 to acquire the Tak project. The Company recorded a Yukon Mining 
Exploration Grant receivable of $40,000.  
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – (cont’d)

Investing Activities - Exploration and Evaluation Assets – (cont’d)

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company paid $15,000 and issued 50,000 common 
shares with a fair value of $4,750 to acquire the CKN project. The Company incurred exploration 
and evaluation costs of $16,292 on CKN and staking costs of $859. At October 31, 2017, the 
Company wrote-off the CKN project and recorded a charge of $36,901.

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $34,974 on the FG Gold project.  In July 2017, Canarc informed the Company that it would not 
be proceeding with the option agreement on the FG property.  Canarc paid the Company $35,000 
in lieu of exploration work that it was required to perform on certain of the FG claims.

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $87,686 on the FG project.  In addition, the Company recorded B.C. Mining Exploration Tax 
Credits of $35,928 and received 250,000 common shares of Canarc with a fair value of $25,000 as 
an option payment on the FG project.

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $7,793 and claim maintenance fees of $14,343 on the Gemini project. In addition, the Company 
issued 200,000 common shares with a fair value of $11,000 for acquisition costs on the Gemini 
project.

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation costs 
of $59,608 and claim maintenance fees of $72,931 on the Gemini project.  In addition, the Company 
issued 300,000 common shares with a fair value of $28,500 for acquisition costs on the Gemini 
project.   
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The figures for the quarters ended October 31, 2017 and 2016 are calculated from the Company’s 
annual audited consolidated financial statements.  All other amounts are from unaudited condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements prepared by management.

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
October 31, July 31, April 30, January 31,

2017 2017 2017 2017

Total revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Comprehensive loss $ (168,082) $ (173,096) $ (132,859) $ (270,933)
Basic and diluted loss per share $         (0.004) $         (0.004) $         (0.003) $         (0.007)

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
October 31, July 31, April 30, January 31,

2016 2016 2016 2016

Total revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Comprehensive loss $ (171,051) $ (186,731) $ (65,456) $ (40,442)
Basic and diluted loss per share $         (0.006) $         (0.007) $ (0.003) $         (0.002)

Variances in quarterly results can be due to stock-based compensation incurred in a quarter as the 
Company’s stock options generally vest on the grant date and therefore are fully expensed in the 
quarter in which they are granted.  Other factors which could cause variances in quarterly results 
could include such items as forgiveness of debt or the write-off of a mineral property.

In the quarter ended January 31, 2017, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense 
of $114,000 related to the granting of 950,000 stock options.

In the quarter ended July 31, 2016, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense of 
$81,000 related to the granting of 900,000 stock options.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company has a history of operating losses and at October 31, 2017 has an accumulated deficit 
of $7,174,860.  At October 31, 2017, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $156,633.
The Company will require additional equity financings in order to continue exploration of its 
mineral properties and fund its administrative expenses.

Historically, the Company has been able to fund administrative overheads and property acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation through equity financings.  The continued uncertainty in the financial 
equity markets may make it difficult to raise capital through the private placement of shares.  The 
junior mining industry is considered speculative in nature which could make it even more difficult 
to fund.  

While the Company is using its best efforts to achieve its business plans by examining various 
financing alternatives, there is no assurance that the Company will be successful with its financing 
ventures.

Financing Activities

Year Ended October 31, 2017:

Private Placement

On May 31, 2017, the Company issued 6,340,430 units (3,261,055 flow-through units at $0.09 per 
unit and 3,079,375 non-flow-through units at $0.08 per unit) for total proceeds of $539,845. The 
Company allocated proceeds of $32,611 to other income for the flow-through premium on the flow-
through portion of the private placement.  In addition, the Company allocated proceeds of $63,404
to contributed surplus for the fair value of the warrants issued on the private placement.

Each flow-through unit consisted of one flow-through common share and one-half of one share 
purchase warrant.  Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share 
at $0.15 per share until May 31, 2019.  The proceeds from the issuance of the flow-through units 
were used for exploration of the Company’s mineral properties in British Columbia and the Yukon 
Territory. 

Each non-flow-through unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one share purchase 
warrant.  Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 
per share until May 31, 2019.  The proceeds from the issuance of the non-flow-through units were
used for working capital.

The Company paid finder’s fees of $30,675, 187,500 common shares with a fair value of $13,125,
187,500 share purchase warrants and 13,332 finder’s warrants.  Each share purchase warrant 
entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until May 31, 2019.  
Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase a non-flow-through unit at $0.09 per unit until 
May 31, 2019.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financing Activities – (cont’d)

Year Ended October 31, 2017:

Private Placement

On December 29, 2016, the Company issued 707,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 707,000 flow-through units at $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $70,700.  Each 
unit contained one flow-through common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each 
full warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 per share until 
December 29, 2018. 

In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $1,992 and issued 
19,920 finder’s warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitled the holder to purchase one non-flow-
through unit with the same terms as the private placement units at $0.10 per unit until December 
29, 2018.

Finder’s Warrants Exercised

On January 20, 2017, the Company issued 38,500 common shares and 38,500 warrants exercisable 
at $0.125 per share until April 29, 2018 pursuant to the exercise of 38,500 finder’s warrants at 
$0.075 for proceeds of $2,887.

Marketable Securities

During the year ended October 31, 2017, the Company sold its marketable securities for proceeds 
of $25,990 resulting in a gain on sale of marketable securities of $990.

Subsequent to October 31, 2017:

Private Placement

On December 28, 2017, the Company issued 4,000,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 4,000,000 common shares at $0.025 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000.  In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $4,550.

On January 22, 2018, the Company issued 750,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 750,000 common shares at $0.035 per share for gross proceeds of $26,250.  In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $367.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES – (cont’d)

Financing Activities

Year Ended October 31, 2016:

Incentive Warrant Program

On December 31, 2015, the Company offered the holders of 4,000,000 share purchase warrants 
issued on June 11, 2015 (the "June Warrants") an incentive warrant to exercise their warrants early.  
Each June Warrant was exercisable to purchase one common share at $0.05 per share until June 
10, 2016 or at $0.10 per share until June 10, 2017.  The Company would issue the holder of a June 
Warrant who exercises their June Warrant between January 4, 2016 and January 29, 2016 an 
incentive warrant for each June Warrant exercised.  Each Incentive Warrant would entitle the holder 
to acquire an additional common share at $0.075 per share until June 10, 2016, and thereafter at 
$0.125 per share until June 10, 2020.

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the incentive warrant program resulted in the exercise of 
1,315,000 June Warrants at $0.05 for total proceeds of $65,750. The Company issued the holders 
who exercised their June Warrants an incentive warrant and a common share for each June Warrant 
exercised.  The fair value of the incentive warrants of $65,750 or $0.05 per warrant was considered 
non-compensatory and therefore was allocated to directly to equity.  

Shares for Debt

The Company issued 906,333 common shares at $0.075 per share to settle outstanding debts of 
$67,975.  The shares were issued to seven creditors.  Included in the totals were shares issued to 
insiders as follows: MDS Management Ltd. (Michael Sweatman), $15,750 for 210,000 shares; 
MBP Management Ltd. (Brent Petterson), $9,975 for 133,000 shares; Rhodanthe Corporate 
Services (Christina Boddy), $3,150 for 42,000 shares; Infiniti Drilling Corp. (Kristian Whitehead), 
$8,400 for 112,000 shares; John R. Kerr, $5,200 for 69,333 shares.

Private Placements

On April 29, 2016, the Company issued 2,693,666 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 2,693,666 units at $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of $202,025.  Each unit 
contained one common share and one warrant entitling the holder to purchase an additional 
common share at $0.125 until April 29, 2018. In connection with the private placement, the 
Company paid finder’s fees of $12,285, issued 163,800 finder’s warrants.  Each finder's warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private placement units at $0.075 
until April 29, 2018.

On May 6, 2016, the Company issued 2,033,334 common shares pursuant to the private placement 
of 2,033,334 units at $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of $152,500.  Each unit contained one 
common share and one warrant entitling the holder to purchase an additional common share at 
$0.125 until May 6, 2018. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s 
fees of $6,475, issued 86,333 finder’s warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one unit with the same terms as the private placement units at $0.075 until May 6, 2018.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES – (cont’d)

Financing Activities

Year Ended October 31, 2016:

On September 9, 2016, the Company issued 1,050,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 1,050,000 units at $0.14 per unit for gross proceeds of $147,000.  Each unit contained 
one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the 
holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.20 until September 9, 2018. In connection 
with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $1,260, issued 9,000 finder’s 
warrants.  Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the 
private placement units at $0.14 until September 9, 2018.

On October 20, 2016, the Company issued 1,325,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 1,325,000 units at $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $132,500.  Each unit contained 
one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the 
holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 until October 20, 2018. In connection with 
the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $4,200, issued 42,000 finder’s warrants.  
Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.10 until October 20, 2018.

On October 26, 2016, the Company issued 2,175,000 common shares pursuant to the private 
placement of 2,175,000 units at $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $217,500.  Each unit contained 
one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitled the 
holder to purchase an additional common share at $0.15 until October 26, 2018. In connection with 
the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $6,432, issued 64,320 finder’s warrants.  
Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement units at $0.10 until October 26, 2018.

Warrants Exercised

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company issued 3,300,000 common shares at $0.05 
per share for proceeds of $165,000 pursuant to the exercise of 3,300,000 share purchase warrants. 

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company issued 100,000 common shares at $0.075 
per share for proceeds of $7,500 pursuant to the exercise of 100,000 share purchase warrants. 

Finder’s Warrants Exercised

During the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company issued 8,400 common shares and 8,400 
warrants exercisable at $0.125 per share until April 29, 2018 pursuant to the exercise of 8,400 
finder’s warrants at $0.075 for proceeds of $630.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements to report.
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FOURTH QUARTER

Subsequent to October 31, 2017, the Company informed the vendor of the CKN Project that it 
would not be proceeding with its option on the CKN Project.  The Company recorded a write-off 
of exploration and evaluation assets of $36,901 effective October 31, 2017.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

At February 16, 2017, the directors of the Company were Michael Sweatman, Warren Stanyer,
John Kerr, Kristian Whitehead, Brent Petterson and Gary Vivian.  The officers of the Company 
were Michael Sweatman (CEO), Brent Petterson (CFO) and Christina Boddy (Corporate 
Secretary). Additional related parties include MDS Management Ltd, MBP Management Ltd, 
Rhodanthe Corporate Services, Infiniti Drilling Corporation, Aurora Geoscience Ltd, companies 
with officers or directors in common, namely Michael Sweatman, Brent Petterson, Christina 
Boddy, Kristian Whitehead and Gary Vivian. Nevada Sunrise Gold Corporation is a public 
company with directors and officers in common with the Company.

During the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred the following charges 
by directors of the Company and by companies with directors and officers in common with the 
Company.

2017 2016

Accounting fees (Petterson) $ 37,000 $ 28,000
Consulting fees (Stanyer, Kerr, Whitehead) 32,500 16,400
Exploration and evaluation assets (Whitehead) 402,722 26,903
Exploration and evaluation assets (Nevada Sunrise) 11,000 28,500
Management fees (Sweatman, Boddy) 72,000 50,000
Rent (Nevada Sunrise) - 2,250
Share-based compensation 88,000 54,000

$ 643,222 $ 206,053

Key Management Compensation:

During the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred the following key 
management compensation charges.  Key management includes the Company’s directors and 
executive officers. 

2017 2016

Accounting fees $ 37,000 $ 28,000
Consulting fees 32,500 16,400
Exploration and evaluation assets 402,722 26,903
Management fees 72,000 50,000
Share-based compensation 88,000 54,000

$ 632,222 $ 175,303



Eureka Resources Inc.
Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”)
For the year ended October 31, 2017

22

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES – (cont’d)

During the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016, share-based compensation expense related to 
stock options granted was as follows:

2017 2016
John Kerr $ 12,000 $ 9,000
Kristian Whitehead 12,000 9,000
Warren Stanyer 12,000 9,000
Michael Sweatman 12,000 9,000
Brent Petterson 12,000 9,000
Christina Boddy 12,000 9,000
Gary Vivian 16,000 -

$ 88,000 $ 54,000

At October 31, 2017, due to related parties includes $290,397 (2016 - $395) payable to directors of 
the Company and to companies with directors and officers in common with the Company for fees 
and expenses.

At October 31, 2017 and 2016, due to related parties included the following:

October 31,
2017

October 31, 
2016

Gary Vivian – fees $ 3,000 $ 210
Aurora Geoscience Ltd – fees and expenses 140,408 -
Brent Petterson – expenses - 185
John Kerr - fees 4,500 -
MBP Management Ltd - fees 22,050 -
MDS Management Ltd - fees 29,400 -
Mike Sweatman - expenses 444 -
John Kerr & Associates Ltd – fees and expenses 2,078 -
Rhodanthe Corporate Services - fees 14,700 -
Warren Stanyer - fees 7,350 -
Nevada Sunrise Gold Corporation - expenses 22,060 -
Infiniti Drilling Corp – fees and expenses 40,907 -
Kristian Whitehead - fees 3,500 -

$ 290,397 $ 395

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has no proposed transactions to report.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following:

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The carrying amount of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets does not necessarily 
represent present or future values, and the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets have been 
accounted for under the assumption that the carrying amount will be recoverable. Recoverability is 
dependent on various factors, including the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the 
ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development and upon 
future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the mineral properties themselves. 
Additionally, there are numerous geological, economic, environmental and regulatory factors and 
uncertainties that could impact management’s assessment as to the overall viability of its properties 
or to the ability to generate future cash flows necessary to cover or exceed the carrying value of the 
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets.

Share-based Payments

The estimation of share-based payments includes estimating the inputs used in calculating the fair 
value for share-based payments expense included in profit or loss and share-based share issuance 
costs included in equity. Share-based payments expense and share-based share issuance costs are 
estimated using the Black-Scholes options-pricing model as measured on the grant date to estimate 
the fair value of stock options. This model involves the input of highly subjective assumptions,
including the expected price volatility of the Company’s common shares, the expected life of the 
options, and the estimated forfeiture rate.

Income Taxes

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets based
on an assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against 
future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. Management assesses whether it is 
probable that some or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate 
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income, which 
in turn is dependent upon the successful discovery, extraction, development and commercialization 
of mineral reserves. To the extent that management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize 
future tax deductions changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or fewer deferred 
tax assets, and future income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New Standards Adopted for the Year Ended October 31, 2016

Effective November 1, 2015, the following standards were adopted but did not have a material 
impact on the financial statements.

- IFRS 7 Amended to require additional disclosures on transition from IAS 39 and IFRS 9.

There were no changes in the Company’s significant accounting policies during the year ended 
October 31, 2017 that had a material effect on its annual consolidated financial statements.  The 
Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 3 to its audited annual
consolidated financial statements for the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016.

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were 
issued by the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for future accounting periods.  The following have 
not yet been adopted by the Company and are being evaluated to determine their impact.

- IFRS 9: New standard that replaced IAS 39 for classification and measurement, effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

- IFRS 15 - New standard to establish principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing, and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers, 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.

- IFRS 16 – Leases: New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Financial Assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the 
following four categories: held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivables or at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized through profit or loss.  The Company’s cash is classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity assets are measured at 
amortized cost.  The Company’s GST receivable, BC Mining Exploration Tax Credit receivable
and Yukon Mining Exploration Grant receivable are classified as loans and receivables. Financial 
assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized in other comprehensive income and loss except for losses in value that are considered 
other than temporary which are recognized in profit or loss. As at October 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Company has not classified any financial assets as held to maturity or available for sale. The 
Company classifies its reclamation bonds as held to maturity.

Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while 
transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount 
of the asset.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows:

a) Financial assets carried at amortized cost: The loss is the difference between the amortized 
cost of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using 
the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.

b) Available-for-sale financial assets: The impairment loss is the difference between the 
original cost of the asset and its fair value at the measurement date, less any impairment 
losses previously recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. This amount 
represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive income that is 
reclassified to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS – (cont’d)

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPL 
or other financial liabilities.  

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective 
interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
due from related parties are classified as other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated 
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized in profit 
or loss. 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

- Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The fair values of the Company’s receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to 
related parties approximate their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these 
instruments. 

The following table illustrates the classification of the Company’s financial instruments within the 
fair value hierarchy as at October 31, 2017 and 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

October 31, 2017:
Cash $ 2,686 $ - $ -
Restricted cash $ 72,011 $ - $ -

October 31, 2016:
Cash $ 392,664 $ - $ -
Marketable securities $ 28,750 $ - $ -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS – (cont’d)

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on its financial instruments are summarized below:

Credit risk 

The Company’s cash is held with large financial institutions.  The Company’s receivables consist 
of sales taxes and exploration tax credits receivable from the Government of Canada and the 
Governments of British Columbia and the Yukon Territory.  Management believes that credit risk 
concentration with respect to receivables is remote.

Liquidity risk 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity 
to meet liabilities when due.  At October 31, 2017, the Company had cash and restricted cash of 
$74,697 to settle current liabilities of $357,803. Management intends to raise additional funds 
through equity financings or shares for debt to meet its current liabilities when they become due.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, 
and commodity and equity prices. 

a) Interest rate risk:

The Company has cash which is not subject to significant risks in fluctuating interest rates.  
The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term 
deposit certificates issued by its banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors 
the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks. An increase to 
interest rates by 1% would have an insignificant effect on operations.

b) Price risk:

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity 
price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to 
movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock 
market. The Company’s marketable securities are subject to price risk.  Commodity price 
risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to 
commodity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity 
prices of gold, individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.

c) Foreign currency risk:

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash and 
accounts payable denominated in US dollars.  As at October 31, 2017 and 2016, a 10% 
fluctuation in the US Dollar against the Canadian Dollar would not have a significant 
impact on profit and loss.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In addition to the risks and uncertainties detailed earlier in this MD&A, the Company is also subject 
to other risks and uncertainties including the following: 

General Risk Associated with the Mining Industry

The business of mineral deposit exploration and extraction involves a high degree of risk.  Few 
properties that are explored ultimately become producing mines.  At present, none of the 
Company’s properties has a known commercial ore deposit.  The main operating risks include: 
securing adequate funding to maintain and advance exploration properties; ensuring ownership of 
and access to mineral properties by confirmation that claims and agreements are in good standing 
and obtaining permits for drilling and other exploration activities.  The market prices for gold and 
other metals can be volatile and there is no assurance that a profitable market will exist for a 
production decision to be made or for the ultimate sale of the metals even if commercial quantities 
of precious and other metals are discovered.

Exploration and development activities involve risks which careful evaluation, experience and 
knowledge may not, in some cases eliminate.  The commercial viability of any mineral deposit 
depends on many factors not all of which are within the control of management.  Some of the 
factors that affect the financial viability of a given mineral deposit include its size, grade and 
proximity to infrastructure, government regulation, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, 
environmental protection and reclamation and closure obligations, have an impact on the economic 
viability of a mineral deposit.  Management attempts to mitigate its exploration risk and may 
employ a strategy of joint ventures with other companies which balance the risk while at the same 
time allowing properties to be advanced.

Dependence on Key Personnel

Loss of certain members of the executive team or key operational leaders of the Company could 
have a disruptive effect on the implementation of the Company’s business strategy and the efficient 
running of day-to-day operations until their replacement is found.  Recruiting personnel is time 
consuming and expensive and competition for qualified personnel may be intense.  The Company 
may be unable to retain its key employees or attract, assimilate, retain or train other necessary 
qualified employees, which may restrict its growth potential.

Competitive Industry

Mining industry is intensely competitive and the Company will compete with other companies that 
have far greater resources.

Title to Mineral Properties

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to 
prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES – (cont’d)

Permits and Licences

The operations of the Company will require licences and permits from various governmental 
authorities, which have been applied for and/or will be applied for at the proper time.  There can, 
however, be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary licences and permits 
required to carry out exploration, development and mining operations of its projects.

Environmental Regulation

The operations of the Company are subject to environmental regulations promulgated by 
government agencies from time to time. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and 
prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions or various substances produced in association with 
certain mining industry operations, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas, which would result 
in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation may result in the imposition of fines and 
penalties. In addition, certain types of operations require the submission and approval of 
environmental impact assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which means 
stricter standards, and enforcement, fines and penalties for non-compliance are becoming more 
stringent. Environmental assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of 
responsibility for companies and their directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance 
with changes in governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of future 
operations.  The Company may become subject to liability for pollutions or hazards against which 
it cannot insure or again which it may elect not to insure where premium costs are disproportionate 
to the Company’s perception of the relevant risks.  The payment of such insurance premiums and 
of such liabilities would reduce the funds available for exploration and production activities.

Estimates of Mineral Resources may not be Realized

The mineral resource estimates published from time to time by the Company with respect to its 
properties are estimates only and no assurance can be given that any particular level of recovery of 
minerals will in fact be realized or that an identified resource will ever qualify as a commercially 
mineable (or viable) deposit which can be legally and economically exploited. In addition, the grade 
of mineralization ultimately mined may differ from that indicated by drilling results and such 
differences could be material. Production can be affected by such factors as permitting regulations 
and requirements, weather, environmental factors, unforeseen technical difficulties, unusual or 
unexpected geological formations, inaccurate or incorrect geologic, metallurgical or engineering 
work, and work interruptions, among other things. Short-term factors, such as the need for orderly 
development of deposits or the processing of new or different grades, may have an adverse effect 
on mining operations or the results of operations. There can be no assurance that minerals recovered 
in small-scale laboratory tests will be duplicated in large-scale tests under on-site conditions or in 
production scale operations. Material changes in resources, grades, stripping ratios or recovery rates 
may affect the economic viability of projects. The estimated resources described herein should not 
be interpreted as assurances of mine life or of the profitability of future operations. 
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DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

a) Issued: Number

At February 16, 2018 50,462,402

b) Stock Options:

At February 16, 2018, the Company had 3,100,000 stock options outstanding entitling the 
holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held as follows:

Number of options
outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,200,000 $0.10 June 23, 2020
800,000 $0.10 June 27, 2021
900,000 $0.13 January 16, 2022
200,000 $0.10 April 28, 2022

3,100,000

c) Share Purchase Warrants:

At February 16, 2018, the Company had 11,975,115 share purchase warrants outstanding 
entitling the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each warrant held as
follows:

Number of warrants
outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

1,215,000 $0.125 June 10, 2020
2,740,566 $0.125 April 29, 2018
2,033,334 $0.125 May 6, 2018

525,000 $0.20 September 9, 2018
662,500 $0.15 October 20, 2018

1,087,500 $0.15 October 26, 2018
353,500 $0.15 December 29, 2018

3,357,715 $0.15 May 31, 2019
11,975,115
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DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA – (cont’d)

d) Finders Warrants:

At February 16, 2018, there were 351,805 finder’s warrants outstanding as follows:

Number of warrants
Outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date

116,900 $0.075 April 29, 2018
86,333 $0.075 May 6, 2018
9,000 $0.14 September 9, 2018

42,000 $0.10 October 20, 2018
64,320 $0.10 October 26, 2018
19,920 $0.10 December 29, 2018
13,332 $0.09 May 31, 2019

351,805

Finder's warrants entitle the holders to purchase one unit with the same terms as the private 
placement to which they relate.
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Approved by the Board of Directors: 

“James Hynes”  “Adrian Rothwell”  
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As at March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Note
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,207                       $ 88,694                         
Amounts receivable 27,082                       39,284                         
Advances 5 61,330                       -                             

Total current assets 123,619                     127,978                       

Non-current assets
Mineral properties 9 705,289                     690,038                       

Total non-current assets 705,289                     690,038                       
Total assets $ 828,908                     $ 818,016                       

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 769,451                     $ 342,263                       

Total liabilities 769,451                     342,263                       

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 7 2,536,885                  2,546,807                    
Deficit ( 2,449,148) ( 2,029,880)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ( 28,280) ( 41,174)

Total shareholders' equity 59,457                       475,753                       
Total shareholders' equity and liabilities $ 828,908                     $ 818,016                       

Going concern 2
Subsequent events 7 &12
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For the three months ended March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Note

Expenses
Exploration and evaluation expenses 9 $ 221,897                 $ 29,902                     
Management fees and salaries 8 135,500                 125,000                   
General and administration 33,377                   6,538                      
Marketing, advisory and investor relations 21,987                   1,905                      
Professional fees 7,560                     13,540                     

420,321                 176,885                   

Other income/expense
Interest and finance expense 194                        -                             
Foreign exchange (gain) loss ( 1,247) 1,591                      

( 1,053) 1,591                      

Net loss for the period $ 419,268                 $ 178,476                   

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to net income
Cumulative Translation Adjustment ( 12,894) ( 3,074)

Comprehensive loss for the period $ 406,374                 $ 175,402                   

Basic and fully diluted loss per common share $ 0.02                       $ 0.01                        

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 17,907,220            13,407,834               
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For the three months ended March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the period ( 419,268) ( 178,476)
Items not involving cash:

Unrealized foreign exchange losses ( 2,357) 3,074                          
Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Amounts receivable 12,202                       ( 1,012)
Prepaid expenses -                             ( 1,485)
Advances ( 61,330) 71,212                         
Accounts payable 427,188                     183,748                       

( 43,565) 77,061                         

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued in private placements -                             66,563                         
Share issuance costs ( 9,922) -                             
Change in subscriptions receivable -                             131,455                       
Proceeds from convertible debenture -                             333,563                       

( 9,922) 531,581                       

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of mineral properties -                             ( 704,634)

-                             ( 704,634)

Impact of changes in foreign exchange -                             2,718                          

Decrease in cash ( 53,487) ( 93,274)
Cash at beginning of period 88,694                       102,676                       
Cash at end of period 35,207                       9,402                          
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore” or the “Company”) was incorporated in British Columbia on February 22, 2016.  Kore 
Mining is the parent company of the consolidated group which holds a 100% interest in Imperial USA Corp. 
(Imperial), a Nevada corporation purchased on March 28, 2017 and a 100% interest in Kore USA Ltd. (Kore USA), 
also a Nevada corporation, incorporated on June 6, 2017.  The Company’s head and registered office is located at 
Suite 2200, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8. 

The Company is in the process of exploring and evaluating its mineral resource properties and has not yet determined 
whether these properties contain economically recoverable mineral reserves.  The recoverability of the amounts 
capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets is ultimately dependent upon the existence of economically 
recoverable ore reserves and resources, securing and maintaining title and/or beneficial interest in the properties, 
obtaining necessary financing to continue to explore, evaluate and develop the properties, and upon future profitable 
production or proceeds from disposition of the exploration and evaluation assets.  The amounts shown as exploration 
and evaluation assets represent costs incurred in acquiring the assets, and do not necessarily represent current or future 
fair values. 

2. GOING CONCERN 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations 
as they come due.  In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account 
all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the end of the 
reporting period. 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $35,207 and a working capital deficit of $645,832.  Current 
liabilities as at March 31, 2018 totaled $769,451.  The Company has incurred losses since inception and does not 
generate any cash inflows from operations.  In the three month period ended March 31, 2018, cash used in operating 
activities totaled $43,565. 

The Company’s ability to continue to meet its obligations and carry out its planned exploration and development 
activities is uncertain and dependent upon the continued financial support of its shareholders and on securing 
additional financing.  As outlined in Note 11. AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT the Company expects to complete 
an amalgamation with Eureka Resources Inc. that will provide the Company with access to public capital markets.  In 
addition as outlined in Note 12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTvents, two directors of the Company invested an additional 
$200,000 into the Company and $291,667 of accounts payable was settled in shares (see Note 7. SHARE 
CAPITAL).  There is, however, no assurance that any such initiatives will be sufficient and, as a result, there is 
significant doubt regarding the going concern assumption and, accordingly, the ultimate appropriateness of the use of 
accounting principles applicable to a going concern.  These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and 
statement of financial position classifications that would be necessary if the Company were unable to realize its assets 
and settle its liabilities as a going concern in the normal course of operations for the foreseeable future. These 
adjustments could be material.  
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) as applicable to interim financial reports, including International Accounting Standard 34, “Interim 
Financial Reporting”.  These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2017, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.  Except for the adoption 
of IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018, as detailed below, these condensed interim financial statements follow the same 
accounting policies and methods of their application as the most recent annual financial statements. 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors of the Company on June 14, 2018. 

4. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARD 

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, which replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement.  The new standard provides guidance that is based on the Company’s 
business model for managing its financial instruments, which includes the purpose for which the financial instruments 
were acquired as well as their contractual cash flow characteristics. 

We completed our assessment of the adoption of IFRS 9 and determined that there were no quantitative impacts or 
any significant disclosure impacts. 

5. ADVANCES 

Advances of $61,330 as at March 31, 2018 (2017 – nil) consist of deferred transaction costs incurred related to the 
pending transaction to amalgamate the Company and Eureka Resources Inc. as described in Note 11 and funds 
advanced to Eureka to settle exploration invoices. 

6. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE 

During 2017, the Company obtained financing in the form of a convertible debenture in the amount of US$250,000 
at an interest rate of 4% per month.  The Company issued 50,000 shares to the lender upon obtaining the convertible 
debenture as a finance cost, with an estimated fair value of $45,014.  The debenture was fully repaid in September 
2017 and interest of $64,931 was paid in the form of 73,893 shares of the Company.  A foreign exchange gain of 
$24,245 was recorded on settlement. 

7. SHARE CAPITAL 

7.1 Authorized 
Unlimited number of common shares with no par value.  As at March 31, 2018 there were 17,909,220 shares issued 
and outstanding. 

7.2 Shares Issued 
There were no share transactions during the three month period ended March 31, 2018, except for a nominal cost 
related to share issuance. 

Subsequent to March 31, 2018, $66,013 was raised through the issuance of 150,000 shares on the exercise of options 
and 650,000 shares were issued to settle debt of $291,667.  This amount was included in accounts payable at March 
31, 2018. 



KORE MINING LTD. 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2018 
(unaudited) 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

8 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
Relationships Nature of the relationship 

1081646 BC Ltd. (“1081646 BC”) 1081646 BC is a company controlled by a director and 
officer of the Company that has provided the services of 
James Hynes as Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
since July 14, 2016. 

Hynes, James Mr. Hynes has been Chairman since September 1, 2016 and 
a Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
since July 14, 2016. 

Lyftoff Business Solutions Inc. (“Lyftoff”) Lyftoff is a private corporation that provides marketing 
consulting services to the Company and is controlled by a 
spouse of a director and officer of the Company. 

Rothwell, Adrian Mr. Rothwell was appointed President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company on September 1, 2016 and has been 
a director of the Company since its inception. 

  

8.1 Related party transactions 
The following transactions relate to consulting fees and salaries incurred by the Company and are included in 
management fees and salaries.  Marketing consulting costs are included in marketing, advisory and investor relations 
expenses in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

For the three month period 
ended March 31, 2018 

Management fees 
and salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

1081646 BC  $ 62,500  $ -  
Lyftoff -  10,500 
Rothwell, Adrian 62,500 -  
  $ 125,000  $ 10,500 

 

For the three month period 
ended March 31, 2017 

Management fees 
and salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

1081646 BC  $ 62,500  $ -  
Rothwell, Adrian 62,500 -  
  $ 125,000  $ -  
   

Amounts owing to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand.  The transactions occur in 
the normal course of operations.  At March 31, 2018, the Company owed $274,773 (December 31, 2017 - $131,456) 
to related parties, which is included in accounts payable which was subsequently settled in shares (see Note 7.
 SHARE CAPITAL). 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (cont’d…) 
8.2 Key management compensation 
Key management are those personnel having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the Company and include the Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Directors.  
The remuneration of the directors and key management personnel during the three month periods ended March 31, 
2018 and 2017 was as follows: 

For the three month period ended March 31 2018 2017 
Salaries and benefits  $ 135,500  $ 125,000 
  $ 135,500  $ 125,000 

 
9. MINERAL PROPERTIES 

Acquisition of Imperial USA Corp. 
On March 28, 2017, the Company purchased Imperial USA Corp. which owns the Imperial project located in 
California.  In settlement of the purchase price, the Company paid US$50,000 which had been deposited previously 
with the vendor in November 2016 related to a Letter Agreement, and US$100,000 on the date of closing the purchase.  
The remaining payments under the agreement comprise US$1,000,000 payable upon the announcement of a revised 
Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) or similar report and US$1,000,000 payable 30 days after the date that gold 
is poured from ore the is mined from the related properties. 

The vendor retains a 1% net smelter return royalty on the property. The vendor has the option to receive shares in the 
Company in settlement of the remaining payments up to achieving a 4.9% ownership interest in the Company, above 
which level further share consideration is at the option of the Company. 

In addition, under the agreement, the Company has committed to incur US$5 million in exploration and evaluation 
expenditures on the Imperial Project on or before the fifth anniversary of the date of the Imperial Purchase Agreement.  
In the event that the Company does not incur these expenditures within this timeframe, the Company must then pay 
US$1,000,000 to the vendor. 

Acquisition of Long Valley Mining Claims 
On March 31, 2017 the Company purchased 95 mining claims in the Long Valley area of California.  Upon closing, 
the Company paid US$350,000 to the vendor.  The remaining payments under the agreement comprise US$500,000 
due 30 days after commencement of commercial production and US$500,000 payable on the 12 month anniversary of 
the commencement of commercial production.  A US$25,000 deposit was paid to the vendor prior to execution of the 
purchase agreement, which will be applied to the final payment, unless forfeited in the event the agreement is 
terminated.  The vendor has the option to receive shares in the Company in settlement of the remaining payments.  
The mining claims acquired were subsequently transferred to the Company’s subsidiary, Kore USA Inc. 

The vendor retained a net smelter return royalty on the claims (“the Seller NSR”).  The Seller NSR provides for a 
perpetual royalty of 0.5% when the price of gold is under US$1,400/oz, 1.0% when the price of gold is between 
US$1,401 to US$1,600/oz and 2.0% when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz.  The Company has the option to 
purchase back 1% of the royalty when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz for US$2 million if purchased prior to 
the announcement of a feasibility study or US$4 million if repurchased prior to commencement of commercial 
production. 

In addition, there is a 1% net smelter returns royalty pursuant to a royalty deed from 2002, that was assigned by the 
vendor in favour of Royal Gold, Inc. 
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9. MINERAL PROPERTIES (cont’d…) 

Details of the exploration and evaluation expenses incurred are as follows: 

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The Company recognizes financial assets and liabilities on the statement of financial position when the Company 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.  Cash and cash equivalents are classified and measured 
at amortized cost. 

Amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are non-interest bearing and are initially measured at fair 
value, subsequently recorded at amortized costs which approximates fair value due to the short term to maturity.  
Where necessary, amounts receivable are net of expected credit losses. Amounts receivable pertain to GST receivable 
and are not subject to expected credit loss rules as they are not contract assets.  Amounts receivable are classified as 
financial assets measured at amortized cost and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as financial 
liabilities measured at amortized cost. 

11. AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT 

On February 27, 2018, Eureka Resources Inc. (“Eureka”) announced that it had signed an amalgamation agreement 
dated February 24, 2018 (the “Amalgamation Agreement”) with Kore, pursuant to which Eureka agreed to acquire all 
of the outstanding common shares of Kore (each, a “Kore Share”) in exchange for common shares of Eureka (each a, 
“Eureka Share”) by way of a three-cornered amalgamation (the “Transaction”). 

Share Consolidation 

As a condition to the closing of the Transaction (the “Closing”), Eureka is required to complete a consolidation of the 
issued and outstanding Eureka Shares on the basis of one post-consolidation Eureka Share for each ten pre-
consolidation Eureka Shares (the “Consolidation”). 

General Terms of the Transaction 

The Transaction will be effected by way of a three-cornered amalgamation, without court approval, under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia), pursuant to which, through the amalgamation of a newly incorporated British 
Columbia company, Eureka will acquire all of the issued and outstanding Kore Shares in exchange for the issuance of 
Eureka Shares (on a post-Consolidation basis) and Kore will become a subsidiary of Eureka. 

 For the three 
months ended 

 For the three months 
ended 

For the three months ended March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Exploration and evaluation expenses

Permitting $ 153,982                 $ 27,682                     
Claim maintenance 3,689                     2,220                      
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical 59,991                   -                             
Geographic information system 4,235                     -                             

$ 221,897                 $ 29,902                     
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11. AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT (cont’d…) 

As at February 27, 2018 there were 50,462,402 Eureka Shares outstanding, which will be reduced to 5,046,240 Eureka 
Shares on a post-Consolidation basis. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Eureka has agreed to issue 3 post-
Consolidation Eureka Shares in exchange for each Kore Share (the “Exchange Ratio”), resulting in the shareholders 
of Kore being issued a total of 56,121,606 Eureka Shares (on a post-Consolidation basis). The Exchange Ratio has 
been determined on the basis of there being 50,462,402 Eureka Shares outstanding at the Closing. However, prior to 
the Closing, Eureka intends to issue Eureka Shares in settlement of certain outstanding liabilities in accordance with 
the policies of the Exchange (the “Debt Settlement”). If the actual number of outstanding Eureka Shares and / or Kore 
Shares immediately prior to the Effective Time (including any Eureka Shares issued in connection with the Debt 
Settlement) is greater or less than such amount, then the Exchange Ratio shall be adjusted so as to ensure that, 
immediately following the Closing, the former Kore shareholders shall hold no less than 91.8% of the total number of 
issued and outstanding Eureka Shares (prior to giving effect to the private placement described below). 

The Transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including, among other things, receipt of approval of the 
Exchange and completion of a private placement for proceeds of between $2,000,000 and $7,000,000. 

Following the Closing, Eureka will continue on with the business of Kore and remain a Tier 2 mining issuer, with 
Kore as its operating subsidiary. The Resulting Issuer is anticipated to hold all existing assets of Eureka and Kore as 
at the Closing. It is expected that, in connection with the Closing, Eureka will change its name to “Kore Mining Ltd.”, 
or such other name as agreed by the parties, with a corresponding change of the trading symbol for the Eureka Shares 
on the Exchange. 

In connection with the Transaction, 38,878,501 Eureka Shares to be issued to Kore shareholders will be subject to 
escrow under the policies of the Exchange. 

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

Subsequent to March 31, 2018, two directors advanced funds totalling $200,000 to the Company for working capital 
purposes. It is anticipated that these advances will be settled, in part or in whole, through the issuance of share capital 
concurrent with completion of the transaction described in Note 11.  The advances are unsecured, do not bear interest 
and are repayable in shares or cash at the option of the directors upon completion of the amalgamation (see Note 11. 
AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT). 



 

 

KORE MINING LTD. 
 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
December 31, 2017 
 

 

 



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 1400, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

April 6, 2018 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of  
Kore Mining Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kore Mining Ltd., which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 
2016 and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes in equity for 
the periods then ended, and the related notes, which comprise the significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 



Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Kore Mining Ltd. as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the periods then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter  
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which describes 
matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
about Kore Mining Ltd.’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Chartered Professional Accountants
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Approved by the Board of Directors: 

“James Hynes”  “Adrian Rothwell”  

Director  Director 

 

As at December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 88,694                       $ 102,676                       
Amounts receivable 5 39,284                       7,113                          
Share subscriptions receivable -                             134,173                       

Total current assets 127,978                     243,962                       

Non-current assets
Mineral properties 10 690,038                     -                             
Advances 6 -                             71,212

Total non-current assets 690,038                     71,212                         
Total assets $ 818,016                     $ 315,174                       

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 342,263                     $ 346,953                       

Total liabilities 342,263                     346,953                       

Shareholders' equity (deficiency)
Share capital 8 2,546,807                  701,857                       
Deficit ( 2,029,880) ( 733,636)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ( 41,174) -                             

Total shareholders' equity (deficiency) 475,753                     ( 31,779)
Total shareholders' equity (deficiency) and liabilities$ 818,016                     $ 315,174                       

Going concern 2
Subsequent event 15
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For the year ended
From date of 

incorporation to
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Note
Expenses

Exploration and evaluation expenses 10 $ 524,152                 $ 358,417                   
Management fees and salaries 9 507,000                 250,000                   
General and administration 64,026                   62,763                     
Marketing, advisory and investor relations 26,221                   27,772                     
Professional fees 67,005                   37,577                     

1,188,404              736,529                   

Other income/expense
Interest and finance expense 147,980                 -                         
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss ( 40,391) ( 1,398)
Other (income)/expenses 251 (1,495)

107,840                 ( 2,893)

Net loss for the year $ 1,296,244              $ 733,636                   

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to net income
Cumulative Translation Adjustment 41,174                   -                         

Comprehensive loss for the year $ 1,337,418              $ 733,636                   

Basic and fully diluted loss per common share $ 0.09 $ 0.07

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 14,825,422 11,183,448
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For the year ended
From date of 

incorporation to
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

CASH DERIVED FROM (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the period ( 1,296,244) ( 733,636)
Items not involving cash:

Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses ( 5,135) ( 2,716)
Interest and finance costs 109,945                     -                             

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Amounts receivable ( 32,171) ( 7,113)
Accounts payable 307,810                     346,953                       

( 915,795) ( 396,512)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued in private placements 1,472,800                  570,400                       
Share issuance costs ( 50,295) -                             

Change in subscriptions receivable 131,455                     -                             
Proceeds from convertible debenture 333,563                     -                             
Repayments of convertible debenture ( 309,318) -                             

1,578,205                  570,400                       

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of mineral properties ( 654,865) -                             
Advances -                             ( 71,212)

( 654,865) ( 71,212)

Impact of changes in foreign exchange ( 21,527) -                             

(Decrease) increase in cash ( 13,982) 102,676                     
Cash at beginning of period 102,676                     -                             
Cash at end of period 88,694                       102,676                       

Supplemental cash flow information:
Shares issued for finders' fees 134,225                     75,911                         
Shares issued for subscriptions receivable -                             134,173                       
Shares issued in settlement of payables 312,500                     -                             

446,725                     210,084                       
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore” or the “Company”) was incorporated in British Columbia on February 22, 2016.  Kore 
Mining is the parent company of the consolidated group which holds a 100% interest in Imperial USA Corp. 
(Imperial), a Nevada corporation purchased on March 28, 2017 and a 100% interest in Kore USA Ltd. (Kore USA), 
also a Nevada corporation, incorporated on June 6, 2017.  The Company’s head and registered office is located at 
Suite 2200, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3E8. 

The Company is in the process of exploring and evaluating its mineral resource properties and has not yet determined 
whether these properties contain economically recoverable mineral reserves.  The recoverability of the amounts 
capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets is ultimately dependent upon the existence of economically 
recoverable ore reserves and resources, securing and maintaining title and/or beneficial interest in the properties, 
obtaining necessary financing to continue to explore, evaluate and develop the properties, and upon future profitable 
production or proceeds from disposition of the exploration and evaluation assets.  The amounts shown as exploration 
and evaluation assets represent costs incurred in acquiring the assets, and do not necessarily represent current or future 
fair values. 

2. GOING CONCERN 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 
concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations as they come due.  In assessing whether 
the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account all available information about the future, 
which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period. 

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $88,694 and a working capital deficit of $214,285.  
Current liabilities as at December 31, 2017 totaled $342,263.  The Company has incurred losses since inception and 
does not generate any cash inflows from operations.  In the year ended December 31, 2017, cash used in operating 
activities totaled $915,795. 

The Company’s ability to continue to meet its obligations and carry out its planned exploration and development 
activities is uncertain and dependent upon the continued financial support of its shareholders and on securing 
additional financing.  There is, however, no assurance that any such initiatives will be sufficient and, as a result, there 
is significant doubt regarding the going concern assumption and, accordingly, the ultimate appropriateness of the use 
of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.  These consolidated financial statements do not reflect the 
adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial position 
classifications that would be necessary if the Company were unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a 
going concern in the normal course of operations for the foreseeable future. These adjustments could be material.  

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  The accounting policies 
set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.   
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (cont’d…) 

3.1 Principles of Consolidation 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 
Imperial USA Corp. and Kore USA Inc., both of which are incorporated in Nevada, United States.  Control is defined 
as the exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with an investee and the ability to affect those returns 
through power over the investee.  Power over an investee exists when we have existing rights that give us the ability 
to direct the activities that significantly affect the investee’s returns.  The results and financial position of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statement from the date that control commences until the date that control 
ceases. 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and the following subsidiaries: 

Name of Subsidiary Incorporation 
Jurisdiction 

Percentage 
Ownership 

Principal Activity 

Imperial USA Corp. Nevada, USA 100% Mineral Property Exploration & Development 
Kore USA Ltd. Nevada, USA 100% Mineral Property Exploration & Development 
    

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.   

The accounts of Imperial have been consolidated from the date of acquisition of March 28, 2017.  The accounts of 
Kore USA have been consolidated from the date of incorporation of June 6, 2017. 

The consolidated financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
April 6, 2018. 

3.2 Basis of measurement 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The statements are presented 
in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. 

3.3 Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based 
on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Critical Judgments 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make judgments regarding the 
going concern of the Company as discussed in Note 2. 
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (cont’d…) 

The Company is also required to make significant judgments on the ongoing feasibility of exploration and evaluation 
assets, and whether there are indicators that the right to explore the specific area has expired or will be allowed to 
expire, that further exploration and evaluation plans have changed, or whether development of a specific area is 
unlikely to recover existing exploration and evaluation costs.  If any of these indicators are present, management 
would need to assess whether the exploration and evaluation property should be impaired. 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Foreign Currency Translation 
The presentation currency of the Company and the functional currency of the parent company is the Canadian dollar, 
while the functional currency of the Company’s United States subsidiaries is the United States dollar.  The monetary 
assets and liabilities of the Company that are denominated in a currency other than its functional currency at the 
reporting date are translated into the presentation currency at the rate of exchange on the reporting date, while non-
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates.  Revenues and expenses are translated at the 
exchange rates approximating those in effect on the dates of the transactions.  Exchange gains and losses arising on 
translation are included in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive loss. 

When translating the results and financial position of its United States subsidiaries, assets and liabilities are translated 
using the exchange rate at period end, and income, expenses and cash flow items are translated using the exchange 
rate at the dates of the transactions, or the average exchange rate if not significantly different. All resulting exchange 
differences are reported as a separate component of reserves in shareholders’ equity entitled “Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income (Loss)”. 

Cash 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash within ninety days of purchase. 

Mineral Properties 
Acquisition Costs 
Costs incurred before the Company has acquired the right to explore a property are expensed as incurred.  Exploration 
and evaluation asset acquisition costs, including option payments, are capitalized on an individual area of interest 
basis.  Once a property is brought into production, the capitalized costs are amortized on a units-of-production basis, 
or until the properties are abandoned, sold or management determines that that the asset is no longer economically 
viable, at which time the unrecoverable deferred costs are expensed to operations.  Option payments relating to the 
acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets that are exercisable at the discretion of the Company are recorded 
when paid. 

Exploration and evaluation asset acquisition costs include cash consideration and the estimated fair market value of 
common shares or warrants on the date of issue. 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to exploration and evaluation properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title.  Such properties may be subject to prior agreements 
or transfers, non-compliance with regulatory requirements or title may be affected by undetected defects. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 

Exploration and Evaluation Costs 
Exploration and evaluation costs are expensed to operations as incurred. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral reserves or resources from a 
particular exploration and evaluation asset has been determined, the capitalized costs are assessed for impairment and 
then reclassified to mineral property development costs and carried at cost until the properties to which the 
expenditures relate are sold, abandoned or determined by management to be impaired in value. 

The establishment of technical feasibility and commercial viability of an exploration and evaluation asset is assessed 
based on a combination of factors, including: 

• The extent to which mineral reserves or mineral resources as defined in National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-
101”) have been identified through a feasibility study or similar document; 

• The results of optimization studies and further technical evaluation carried out to mitigate project risks 
identified in the feasibility study; 

• The status of environmental permits; and 
• The status of mining leases or permits. 

Decommissioning and Restoration 
Decommissioning and restoration obligations encompass legal, statutory, contractual or constructive obligations 
associated with the retirement of a long-lived tangible asset (for example, mine reclamation costs) that results from 
the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal operation of a long-lived asset. 

A liability for decommissioning and restoration is recorded in the period in which the obligation first arises.  The 
Company records the estimated present value of future cash flows associated with site closure and reclamation as a 
long-term liability and increases the carrying value of the related assets for that amount.  Over time, the liability is 
increased to reflect an interest element in the estimated future cash flows (accretion expense) considered in the initial 
measurement of fair value.  The capitalized cost is amortized on either the unit-of-production basis or the straight-line 
basis, as appropriate.  The Company's estimates of provisions for decommissioning and restoration obligations could 
change as a result of changes in regulations, changes to the current market-based discount rate, the extent of 
environmental remediation required, and the means of reclamation or cost estimates.  Changes in estimates are 
accounted for in the period in which these estimates are revised. 

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016 the Company has determined that it does not have any significant decommissioning 
and restoration obligations related to its operations. 

Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
Management reviews the carrying values of capitalized exploration and evaluation assets at the end of each reporting 
period for indications of impairment.  Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.  For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 
(the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”).  The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. Fair value less costs to sell is based on an estimate of the amount that the Company may 
obtain in a sale transaction on an arm’s length basis between knowledgeable, willing parties, less costs of disposal. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 

Fair value less costs to sell is primarily derived using discounted cash flow techniques, which incorporates market 
participant assumptions. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying value amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Provisions 
Liabilities are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that has arisen as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or 
amount. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using 
a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the 
obligation.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a financing expense. 

Income Taxes 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Current tax assets and liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current 
or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit which differs 
from profit or loss in the financial statements.  Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities and their tax bases.  Deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences associated with shares in 
subsidiaries are not provided for if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Company and it is 
probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are likely to reverse.  The effect on deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in profit or loss in the period that includes the substantive 
enactment date.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 
can be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future 
taxable income.  
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same entity or different entities which intend to settle current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis or simultaneously in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax recovery or expense in profit or loss, 
except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which 
case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

Share-based Payments 
The Company uses a fair value based method (Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) for all share options granted to 
directors, employees and certain consultants.  For directors and employees, the fair value of the share options is 
measured at the date of grant.  For grants to non-employees where the fair value of the goods or services is not 
determinable, the fair value of the share options is measured on the date the services are received. 

The fair value of share-based payments is charged to profit or loss with the offsetting credit to share option reserve.  
The fair value of the share options is recognized over the vesting period based on the best available estimate of the 
number of share options expected to vest.  Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number 
of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates.  Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is 
recognized in the current period.  If options vest immediately, the expense is recognized when the options are granted.  
For non-employees, the share options are recognized over the related service period.  When share options are 
exercised, the amounts previously recognized in share option reserve are transferred to share capital. 

In the event share options are forfeited prior to vesting, the associated expense recorded to date is reversed in the 
period of forfeiture.  The carrying value of any share options that expire remain in share option reserve. 

Share capital 
When the Company issues private placement units, the shares and warrants are measured using the residual method.  
This method allocates value first to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and the residual to the 
less easily measurable component.  The Company considers the fair value of its shares to be the more easily measurable 
component and they are valued with reference to the market price.  The residual value attributed to the warrants, if 
any, is recorded as a separate component of equity. 

Earnings (Loss) per Share 
Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing net earnings (loss) (the numerator) by the weighted average 
number of outstanding common shares for the period (denominator). In computing diluted earnings per share, an 
adjustment is made for the dilutive effect of outstanding share options, warrants and other convertible instruments. 

In the periods when the Company reports a net loss, the effect of potential issuances of shares under share options and 
other convertible instruments is anti-dilutive, therefore, basic and diluted loss per share are the same. When diluted 
earnings per share is calculated, only those share options and other convertible instruments with exercise prices below 
the average trading price of the Company’s common shares for the period will be dilutive. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 

Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement 
Loans and receivables: The Company classifies cash, amounts receivable and deposits as loans and receivables.  They 
are carried at cost less any provision for impairment.  Individually significant receivables are considered for 
impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will 
default. 

Other financial liabilities: Trade and other accounts payable are classified as other financial liabilities.  They are 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The Company derecognizes a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

The Company assesses whether there is evidence that a financial asset or a group of assets is impaired at each reporting 
date.  Evidence of impairment may include indication that a counterparty is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganization and when indicators suggest that there are measurable decreases in the estimated future 
cash flows. 

Changes in Accounting Standards 
Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards have been issued by the 
IASB.  The Company has reviewed the new and proposed accounting pronouncements issued by the IASB relevant 
to the year ended December 31, 2017 and subsequently, and none were considered to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s current operations or financial statements. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: New standard that replaced IAS 39 for classification and measurement, 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  The Company does not expect the 
adoption of this standard to have a significant measurement or disclosure impact of its financial statements. 
IFRS 16, Leases: New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019.  The Company does not currently expect the adoption of this standard to have a significant 
measurement or disclosure impact on its financial statements. 

5. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

Government of Canada – GST  $ 39,284  $ 7,113 
  $ 39,284  $ 7113 
   

6. ADVANCES 

Advances comprise expenditures incurred relating to the potential acquisition of mineral properties prior to finalization 
of the acquisition.  Upon finalizing the acquisition, the advance was recorded as an acquisition cost of exploration and 
evaluation assets. 

 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

Imperial USA  $ -   $ 71,212 
  $ -   $ 71,212 
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7. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE 

During 2017, the Company obtained financing in the form of a convertible debenture in the amount of US$250,000 
at an interest rate of 4% per month.  The Company issued 50,000 shares to the lender upon obtaining the convertible 
debenture as a finance cost, with an estimated fair value of $45,014.  The debenture was fully repaid in September 
2017 and interest of $64,931 was paid in the form of 73,893 shares of the Company.  A foreign exchange gain of 
$24,245 was recorded on settlement. 

8. SHARE CAPITAL 

8.1 Authorized 
Unlimited number of common shares with no par value. 

8.2 Shares Issued 
The following share related transactions occurred during the year ended December 31, 2017. 

- Subscriptions receivable of $134,173 at December 31, 2016 were received in the first quarter of 2017. 
- $1,360,371 was raised through the issuance of 3,166,668 shares at a weighted average share price of $0.430 per 

share.
- 336,723 shares were issued in settlement of finders’ fees of $134,225. 
- $112,429 was raised through the issuance of 166,666 shares at a weighted average share price of $0.675 per share. 
- The Company also issued 723,214 shares to officers of the Company in settlement of outstanding executive 

compensation of $312,500. 
- The Company issued 50,000 shares with a fair value of $45,014 as a finance fee relating to obtaining the 

convertible debenture. 
- 73,893 shares were issued to pay interest on the convertible debenture of $64,931. 

The following share transactions occurred during the period ended December 31, 2016: 

- The Company raised $701,857 through the issuance of 12,240,941 shares at a weighted average share price of 
$0.057 per share. 

- The Company settled $75,911 in finders’ fees through the issuance of 1,149,115 shares from the 2016 financings 
at a weighted average share price of $0.066 per share. 

8.3 Share based compensation 
Pursuant to a stock option plan (the “Plan”) for directors, officers, employees and consultants, the Company may 
reserve a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding listed common shares, with the exercise price to be 
determined on the date of issuance of the options.  The term of options granted under the plan may not exceed five 
years and such options vest at terms to be determined by the board of directors at the time of the grant, but the exercise 
price shall not be less than the price determined by the policies of the stock exchange on which the Company’s 
common shares are then listed. 

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, no stock options were granted. 
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
Relationships Nature of the relationship 

1081646 BC Ltd. (“1081646 BC”) 1081646 BC is a company controlled by a director and 
officer of the Company that has provided the services of 
James Hynes as Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
since July 14, 2016. 

Hazelton, Rohan Mr. Hazleton was a Director, President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company from inception until July 14, 2016. 

Hynes, James Mr. Hynes has been Chairman since September 1, 2016 and 
a Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
since July 14, 2016. 

Lyftoff Business Solutions Inc. (“Lyftoff”) Lyftoff is a private corporation that provides marketing 
consulting services to the Company and is controlled by a 
relative of a director and officer of the Company. 

Rothwell, Adrian Mr. Rothwell was appointed President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company on September 1, 2016 and has been 
a director of the Company since its inception. 

  

9.1 Related party transactions 
The following transactions relate to consulting fees and salaries incurred by the Company and are included in 
management fees and salaries.  Marketing consulting costs are included in marketing, advisory and investor relations 
expenses, while debt interest is included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss. 

For the year ended December 
31, 2017 

Management fees 
and salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

Debt interest 

1081646 BC  $ 250,000  $ -   $ -  
Hynes, James   -   -    18,045 
Lyftoff -  10,500 -  
Rothwell, Adrian 250,000 -  19,950 
  $ 500,000  $ 10,500  $ 37,995 

 

For the period ended 
December 31, 2016 

Management fees 
and salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

Debt interest 

1081646 BC  $ 125,000  $ -   $ -  
Lyftoff -  15,000 -  
Rothwell, Adrian 125,000 -  -  
  $ 250,000  $ 15,000  $ -  
    

Amounts owing to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand.  The transactions occur in 
the normal course of operations.  At December 31, 2017, the Company owed $131,456 (December 31, 2016 - 
$253,972) to related parties, which is included in accounts payable. 
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (cont’d…) 
9.2 Key management compensation 
Key management are those personnel having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the Company and include the Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Directors.  
The remuneration of the directors and key management personnel during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 
2016 was as follows: 

For the period ended December 31 2017 2016 
Salaries and benefits  $ 507,000  $ 250,000 
  $ 507,000  $ 250,000 

 
10. MINERAL PROPERTIES 

Acquisition of Imperial USA Corp. 
On March 28, 2017, the Company purchased Imperial USA Corp. which owns the Imperial project located in 
California.  In settlement of the purchase price, the Company paid US$50,000 which had been deposited previously 
with the vendor in November 2016 related to a Letter Agreement, and US$100,000 on the date of closing the purchase.  
The remaining payments under the agreement comprise US$1,000,000 payable upon the announcement of a revised 
Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) or similar report and US$1,000,000 payable 30 days after the date that gold 
is poured from ore the is mined from the related properties. 

The vendor retains a 1% net smelter return royalty on the property. The vendor has the option to receive shares in the 
Company in settlement of the remaining payments up to achieving a 4.9% ownership interest in the Company, above 
which level further share consideration is at the option of the Company. 

In addition, under the agreement, the Company has committed to incur US$5 million in exploration and evaluation 
expenditures on the Imperial Project on or before the fifth anniversary of the date of the Imperial Purchase Agreement.  
In the event that the Company does not incur these expenditures within this timeframe, the Company must then pay 
US$1,000,000 to the vendor. 

Acquisition of Long Valley Mining Claims 
On March 31, 2017 the Company purchased 95 mining claims in the Long Valley area of California.  Upon closing, 
the Company paid US$350,000 to the vendor.  The remaining payments under the agreement comprise US$500,000 
due 30 days after commencement of commercial production and US$500,000 payable on the 12 month anniversary of 
the commencement of commercial production.  A US$25,000 deposit was paid to the vendor prior to execution of the 
purchase agreement, which will be applied to the final payment, unless forfeited in the event the agreement is 
terminated.  The vendor has the option to receive shares in the Company in settlement of the remaining payments.  
The mining claims acquired were subsequently transferred to the Company’s subsidiary, Kore USA Inc. 

The vendor retained a net smelter return royalty on the claims (“the Seller NSR”).  The Seller NSR provides for a 
perpetual royalty of 0.5% when the price of gold is under US$1,400/oz, 1.0% when the price of gold is between 
US$1,401 to US$1,600/oz and 2.0% when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz.  The Company has the option to 
purchase back 1% of the royalty when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz for US$2 million if purchased prior to 
the announcement of a feasibility study or US$4 million if repurchased prior to commencement of commercial 
production. 

In addition, there is a 1% net smelter returns royalty pursuant to a royalty deed from 2002, that was assigned by the 
vendor in favour of Royal Gold, Inc. a third party.  
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10. MINERAL PROPERTIES (cont’d…) 

Details of the exploration and evaluation expenses incurred are as follows: 

California Property 
In late 2016 the Company entered into a Letter of Intent with the intent of acquiring a gold property in California and 
was granted exclusivity to pursue the acquisition.  A non-refundable deposit of US$250,000 was paid to maintain 
exclusivity in negotiating the purchase of the property.  The Company elected to withdraw from the purchase when 
the term for exclusivity expired and to pursue other opportunities upon completion of its due diligence process.  As a 
result, the deposit was expensed as a project evaluation cost in December 2016. 

11. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

The Company defines capital that it manages as equity. 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain corporate and administrative functions necessary to 
support the Company’s operations; to perform mineral exploration activities on the Company’s exploration projects; 
and to seek out and acquire new projects of merit. 

The Company manages its capital structure in a manner that is intended to provide sufficient funding for operational 
and capital expenditure activities.  Funds are secured, when necessary, through debt funding or equity capital raised 
by means of private placements.  There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to obtain debt or equity 
capital in the future. (See Note 2). 

The Company does not pay dividends and has no long-term debt or bank credit facility.  The Company is not subject 
to any externally imposed capital requirements. There have not been any changes to the Company’s capital 
management policy during the period. 

12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

12.1 Financial Risk Management 
The Company may be exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability to achieve its 
strategic objectives. The main objectives of the Company’s risk management processes are to ensure that risks are 
properly identified and that the capital base is adequate in relation to those risks. The principal risks to which the 
Company is exposed are described below. (See Note 2) 

For the year ended
From date of 

incorporation to
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Exploration and evaluation expenses

Permitting $ 198,127                 $ -                         
Claim maintenance 168,571                 -                         
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical 31,058                   28,917                     
Geophysics 115,826                 -                         
Property Taxes 10,570                   -                         
Project evaluation costs -                         329,500                   

$ 524,152 $ 358,417
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12. RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)… 

a. Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash. 

The Company has assessed its exposure to credit risk on its cash and has determined that such risk is minimal.  The 
majority of the Company’s cash is held with reputable financial institutions in Canada. 

b. Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. As at December 
31, 2017, the Company had a working capital deficit of $214,285, and it does not have any long term monetary 
liabilities.  The Company will seek additional financing through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance 
that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all.  The Company’s approach to 
managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when they fall due. As at 
December 31, 2017, the Company had cash of $88,694 to settle current liabilities of $342,263.  The Company’s 
financial liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or are due on demand and are subject to normal trade terms.  
See Note 2. 

c. Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk arising from the effect of changes in prevailing interest rates on the Company’s financial 
instruments. 

The Company had $88,694 in cash at December 31, 2017, on which it earns variable rates of interest, and may therefore 
be subject to a certain amount of risk, though this risk is considered by management to be immaterial. 

d. Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company maintains its cash reserves in Canadian 
and United States dollars.  The portion of the Company’s funds held in US dollars are subject to fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates. 

At December 31, 2017, the Company has certain monetary items denominated in United States dollars. Based on these 
net exposures, a 10% appreciation or depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the United States dollar would result 
in an increase or decrease of $7,700 in the Company’s net loss. 

12.2 Fair Values 
The carrying values of cash, deposits and other receivables and trade and other accounts payable approximate fair 
values due to their short-term to maturity nature or the ability to readily convert to cash. 

13. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company operates in one reportable operating segment, being the acquisition, exploration, and development of 
exploration and evaluation properties in the United States. 
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14. INCOME TAXES 

The income tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory rates to loss before income 
taxes.  These differences result from the following: 

As at December 31, 2017 the Company had tax operating losses available of the following, which expire at various 
dates and amounts between 2036 and 2037. 

The ability to use U.S. loss carry-forwards in future is subject to certain limitations under provisions of the internal 
Revenue Code, including Section 382, which relates to a 50% change in control of ultimate shareholders over a three-
year period, and is further dependent upon the Company attaining profitable operations.  Ownership changes, as 
defined, may have occurred in prior years for Imperial USA Corp. and the U.S. tax losses related to Imperial USA 
Corp. may be subject to limitation under Section 382.  Accordingly, the Company’s ability to use these losses may be 
limited or such losses may expire un-utilized.  Losses incurred to date may be further limited if a subsequent change 
in control occurs. 

  

Period ended
December 31

2017
December 31

2016

Loss before income taxes 1,296,244$       733,636$          
Statutory rate 26% 26%

Expected tax recovery 337,023           190,745           
Other ( 12,875) 3,948               
Effect of tax rate changes and tax rates in foreign jurisdictions ( 26,749) -                     
Tax assets not recognized ( 297,399) ( 194,693)

Income tax recovery (expense) -$                -$                

Period ended
December 31

2017
December 31

2016

Non-capital losses carried forward 507,714$          194,693$          
Deferred exploration expenses 26,417             -                     
Share issuance and incorporation costs 52,154             15,789             

Unrecognized deferred tax asset 586,285$          210,482$          

Accumulated non-capital losses
Canada 1,562,162         748,819           
United States 409,191           -                     

Total non-capital losses 1,971,353$       748,819$          
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15. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On February 27, 2018, Eureka Resources Inc. (“Eureka”) announced that it has signed an amalgamation agreement 
dated February 24, 2018 (the “Amalgamation Agreement”) with Kore, pursuant to which Eureka has agreed to acquire 
all of the outstanding common shares of Kore (each, a “Kore Share”) in exchange for common shares of Eureka (each 
a, “Eureka Share”) by way of a three-cornered amalgamation (the “Transaction”). 

Share Consolidation 

As a condition to the closing of the Transaction (the “Closing”), Eureka will have completed a consolidation of the 
issued and outstanding Eureka Shares on the basis of one post-consolidation Eureka Share for each ten pre-
consolidation Eureka Shares (the “Consolidation”). 

General Terms of the Transaction 

The Transaction will be effected by way of a three-cornered amalgamation, without court approval, under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia), pursuant to which, through the amalgamation of a newly incorporated British 
Columbia subsidiary of Eureka and Kore, Eureka will acquire all of the issued and outstanding Kore Shares in 
exchange for the issuance of Eureka Shares (on a post-Consolidation basis) and Kore will become a subsidiary of 
Eureka. 

As at February 27, 2018 there were 50,462,402 Eureka Shares outstanding, which will be reduced to 5,046,240 Eureka 
Shares on a post-Consolidation basis. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Eureka has agreed to issue 3 post-
Consolidation Eureka Shares in exchange for each Kore Share (the “Exchange Ratio”), resulting in the shareholders 
of Kore being issued a total of 56,121,606 Eureka Shares (on a post-Consolidation basis). The Exchange Ratio has 
been determined on the basis of there being this number of Eureka Shares outstanding at the Closing. However, prior 
to the Closing, Eureka intends to issue Eureka Shares in settlement of certain outstanding liabilities in accordance with 
the policies of the Exchange (the “Debt Settlement”). If the actual number of outstanding Eureka Shares and / or Kore 
Shares immediately prior to the Effective Time (including any Eureka Shares issued in connection with the Debt 
Settlement) is greater or less than such amount, then the Exchange Ratio shall be adjusted so as to ensure that, 
immediately following the Closing, the former Kore shareholders shall hold no less than 91.8% of the total number of 
issued and outstanding Eureka Shares (prior to giving effect to the private placement described below). 

The Transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including, among other things, receipt of approval of the 
Exchange and completion of a private placement for proceeds of between $2,000,000 and $7,000,000. 

Following the Closing, Eureka will continue on with the business of Kore and remain a Tier 2 mining issuer, with 
Kore as its operating subsidiary. The Resulting Issuer is anticipated to hold all existing assets of Eureka and Kore as 
at the Closing. It is expected that, in connection with the Closing, Eureka will change its name to “Kore Mining Ltd.”, 
or such other name as agreed by the parties, with a corresponding change of the trading symbol for the Eureka Shares 
on the Exchange. 

Certain Eureka Shares to be issued to Kore shareholders in connection with the Transaction will be subject to escrow 
under the policies of the Exchange. 
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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), prepared as of April 6, 2018, should be read 
together with the consolidated financial statements of Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore Mining” or the “Company”) for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 and the period from incorporation of the Company to December 31, 2016, and related 
notes thereto, which are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). All 
amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The reader should be aware that historical results 
are not necessarily indicative of future performance. 

Forward Looking Statements 
Forward-looking statements look into the future and provide an opinion as to the effect of certain events and trends 
on the business.  Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements.  The use of any 
words such as "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "should", "believe" and similar 
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking statements are based on 
current expectations and various estimates, factors and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors. Examples of where the company uses forward looking statements include when 
discussing exploration plans, operational plans and future expenditure expectations.  

It is important to note that: 

• Unless otherwise indicated, forward-looking statements in this MD&A describe the Company's expectations as of 
April 6, 2018. 

• Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these statements as the Company's actual results, performance 
or achievements may differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by 
such forward-looking statements if known or unknown risks, uncertainties or other factors affect the Company's 
business, or if the Company's estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate.  Therefore, the Company cannot provide any 
assurance that forward-looking statements will materialize. 

• The Company assumes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or any other reason except as required by law. 

For a description of material factors that could cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from the 
forward-looking statements in this MD&A, please see "Mining Risks" and “Business Risks”. 

Nature of Operations 
Kore Mining was incorporated in British Columbia on February 22, 2016.  Kore Mining is the parent company of its 
consolidated group which comprises a 100% interest in Imperial USA Corp. (Imperial), a Nevada corporation 
purchased on March 28, 2017 and a 100% interest in Kore USA Ltd. (Kore USA), also a Nevada corporation, 
incorporated on June 6, 2017. 

Kore Mining is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of primarily gold mineral properties.  The 
Company is focussing its efforts on the Long Valley Project and the Imperial Project, both located in California. 

Imperial Project Summary 
On March 28, 2017, the Company purchased Imperial USA Corp. which owns the Imperial project located in 
California.  In settlement of the purchase price, the Company paid US$50,000 which had been deposited previously 
with the vendor in November 2016 related to a Letter Agreement, and US$100,000 on the date of closing the purchase.  
The agreement has provisions for two further payments to the vendor, with US$1,000,000 payable upon the 
announcement of a revised Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) or similar report and US$1,000,000 payable 30 
days after the date that gold is poured from ore the is mined from the related properties. 

The vendor retains a 1% net smelter return royalty on the property. The vendor has the option to receive shares in the 
Company in settlement of the remaining payments up to achieving a 4.9% ownership interest in the Company, above 
which level further share consideration is at the option of the Company. 
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In addition, the Company has committed to incur US$5 million on the Imperial Project on or before the fifth 
anniversary of the date of the Imperial Purchase Agreement.  In the event that the Company does not incur these 
expenditures in this time, the Company must then pay US$1,000,000 to the vendor. 

The Imperial Property is located in Imperial County, in southeastern California and was acquired with the purchase 
of Imperial.  It is located along the Indian Pass Road approximately 26 miles northwest of the city of Yuma, Arizona, 
and is approximately 45 miles east-north-east of El Centro, California.  The operating Mesquite Mine and the closed 
Picacho Mine are located roughly 10 miles to the west and east, respectively, of the property.  The closed American 
Girl Mine is about 8 miles south of the project.  Except for this activity, there is no mining activity in or around the 
claim block. 

The Imperial Project consists of 370 lode claims, 281 millsite claims and 3 placer claims for a total of 654 claims 
covering a total area of approximately 5,721 acres, and is amenable to open pit run-of-mine heap leach operations. 
The company proposes to complete permitting studies to advance the project. 

The claims are administered by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) on federally owned lands.  The 
unpatented mining claims are all held by Imperial, and are in good standing with all holding fees paid for the current 
year.  The claims will remain in effect for as long as the claim holding fees are paid to both the U.S. government and 
the county.  The claims must also be maintained by ensuring that the claim posts and location notices are properly 
upright and visible.  

The property is not subject to any production royalties or encumbrances except for a 1% net smelter return royalty 
held by Goldcorp Inc. on any gold production from the property. 

The Company is not aware of any significant factors, risks or issues that may affect access, title, or the right or ability 
to perform work on the Imperial Project, nor is it aware of any environmental liabilities related to the Imperial Project. 

Long Valley Project Summary 
On March 31, 2017 the Company purchased 95 mining claims in the Long Valley area of California.  Upon closing, 
the Company paid US$350,000 with provisions in the agreement for further payments of US$500,000 due 30 days 
after commencement of commercial production and US$500,000 payable on the 12 month anniversary of the 
commencement of commercial production.  The vendor has the option to receive shares in the Company in settlement 
of the outstanding payments.  The mining claims were subsequently transferred to the Company’s subsidiary, Kore 
USA Inc. 

The vendor retained a net smelter return royalty on the claims (“the Seller NSR”).  The Seller NSR provides for a 
perpetual royalty of 0.5% when the price of gold is under US$1,400/oz, 1.0% when the price of gold is between 
US$1,401 to US$1,600/oz and 2.0% when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz.  The Company has the option to 
purchase 1% of the royalty when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz for US$2 million if purchased prior to the 
announcement of a feasibility study or US$4 million if repurchased prior to commencement of commercial production.  
There is also a 1% net smelter return royalty on any gold production from the property. The property is not subject to 
any other production royalties or encumbrances. 

The Long Valley Property is located in Mono County, east-central California, approximately 57miles to the south of 
the town of Bridgeport and about 45 miles north of the town of Bishop, California.  Both towns are connected by U.S. 
Highway 395, which passes a few miles west of the property.  Access to the property from the highway is via a series 
of graded gravel roads.  The claims are administered by the BLM on federally owned lands administered by the Inyo 
National Forest, U.S. Department of Agriculture.  The surface rights in the area of the claims are owned by the U.S. 
government, with the area being subject to a surface grazing lease issued by the U.S. Forest Service. 

The unpatented mining claims are all held by Kore USA, and are in good standing with all holding fees paid for the 
current year.  The claims will remain in effect for as long as the claim holding fees are paid to both the U.S. government 
and the county.  The claims must also be maintained by insuring that the claim posts and location notices are properly 
upright and visible. 
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The Company is not aware of any significant factors, risks or issues that may affect access, title, or the right or ability 
to perform work on the Long Valley Project.  The Company is not aware of any environmental liabilities related to 
the Long Valley Property.  

Following is a summary of exploration and evaluation expenses by project for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017 Long Valley Imperial 
Exploration and evaluation expenses   

Permitting  $ 23,347  $ 174,780 
Claim maintenance   26,650   141,921 
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical   -    31,058 
Geophysics   115,826   -  
Property taxes   1,372   9,198 
  $ 167,195  $ 356,957 
   

 

Overall Performance 
The Company has generated no operating revenue to date. The Company relies on the issuance of common shares to 
finance the acquisition of and exploration on its projects, and to provide general operating working capital. 

Selected Annual Information 
The following table summarizes financial data for annual operations reported by the Company as at and for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 as at and for the period from incorporation to December 31, 2016. 

 2017 2016 

Current assets  $ 127,978  $ 243,962 

Mineral properties   690,038   -  

Total Assets   818,016   315,174 

Current liabilities   342,263   346,953 

Net loss   1,296,244   733,636 

Net comprehensive loss  $ 1,337,418  $ 733,636 

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $0.09 $0.07 

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding  14,825,422  11,183,448 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following is a summary of selected financial data for the Company for the eight most recently completed quarters. 

Period ended Dec 31 
2017 

Sep 30 
2017 

Jun 30 
2017 

Mar 31 
2017 

Net loss  $ 456,530  $ 371,255  $ 289,983  $ 178,476 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $0.03 $0.03 $0.02 $0.01 

     

Period ended Dec 31 
2016 

Sep 30 
2016 

Jun 30 
2016 

Mar 31 
2016 

Net loss  $ 493,910  $ 44,960  $ 126,163  $ 68,603 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $0.04 $0.00 $0.01 $0.02 

     

Since incorporation in February 2016, the Company has completed several financings, raising a total of $2,760,358. 

Results of Operations 
Three months ended December 31, 2017 
During the three months ended December 31, 2017 (the “fourth quarter of 2017”), the Company incurred a net loss of 
$456,530 compared to a net loss of $493,910 during the three months ended December 31, 2016 (the “fourth quarter 
of 2016”).  This information is derived from unaudited quarterly consolidated interim financial statements prepared 
by management and expressed in Canadian dollars in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) applicable to interim financial reports. 

For the three months ended 
December 31 

2017 
December 31 

2016 
Exploration and evaluation expenses   

Permitting  $ 130,874  $ -  
Claim maintenance   346   -  
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical   6,142   5,350 
Geophysics   115,826   -  
Property taxes   10,570   -  
Project evaluation costs   -    329,500 
   263,758   334,850 

Management fees and salaries   132,000   125,000 
General and administration   16,874   21,870 
Marketing, advisory and investor relations   19,221   3,406 
Professional fees   29,532   12,427 
Foreign exchange gain   (4,855)   (3,133) 
Other income   -    (510) 

  $ 456,530  $ 493,910 
   

 Exploration and evaluation expenses: With the acquisition of Imperial and Kore USA in early 2017, costs 
were incurred for the permitting, claims maintenance, geological, geophysical and other evaluations of the 
projects in the fourth quarter of 2017 that did not occur in the fourth quarter of 2016.  The larger overall loss 
in the three months ended December 31, 2016 was primarily the result of the project evaluation costs related 
to the potential acquisition of a gold property in California in late 2016.  A non-refundable deposit of 
US$250,000 was paid to maintain exclusivity in negotiating the purchase of the property.  The Company 
elected to withdraw from the purchase when the term for exclusivity expired and to pursue other opportunities 
upon completion of its due diligence process. 
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 Management fees and salaries: Fees and salaries remained relatively constant in the fourth quarter of 2017 
compared to the fourth quarter of 2016. 

 General and administration:  General and administration costs remained relatively unchanged in the fourth 
quarter of 2017 compared to the fourth quarter of 2016. 

 Marketing, advisory and investor relations: Marketing, advisory and investor relations increased in the fourth 
quarter of 2017 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2016 as a result of investor relations consulting, website 
maintenance, and fundraising efforts. 

 Professional fees:  Professional fees increased in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to the fourth quarter of 
2016 due to legal fees incurred in the acquisition of Kore USA and Imperial and the efforts to acquire the 
California property, plus the additional costs for a contract Chief Financial Officer and tax consulting fees. 

Fiscal Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
During the year ended December 31, 2017 (the “current year”), the Company incurred a net loss of $1,296,244 
compared to a net loss of $733,636 during the year ended December 31, 2016 (the “prior year”).  Factors that 
contributed to the overall increase in the expenses are outlined below. 

Fiscal Year ended 
December 31 

2017 
December 31 

2016 
Exploration and evaluation expenses    

Permitting  $ 198,127  $ -  
Claim maintenance   168,571   -  
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical   31,058   28,917 
Geophysics   115,826   -  
Property taxes   10,570   -  
Project evaluation costs   -    329,500 
   524,152   358,417 

Management fees and salaries   507,000   250,000 
General and administration   64,026   62,763 
Marketing, advisory and investor relations   26,221   27,772 
Professional fees   67,005   37,577 
Interest expense   147,980   -  
Foreign exchange gain   (40,391)   (1,398) 
Other (income)/expense   251   (1,495) 
  $ 1,296,244  $ 733,636 

   
 Exploration and evaluation expenses: With the acquisition of Imperial and Kore USA in early 2017, costs 

were incurred for permitting, claims maintenance, geological, geophysical and other costs of the projects in 
2017 that did not occur in 2016.  The loss in the period ended December 31, 2016 was primarily the result of 
the project evaluation costs related to the potential acquisition of the California gold property in California 
in late 2016.  A non-refundable deposit of US$250,000 was paid to maintain exclusivity in negotiating the 
purchase of the property in the United States.  The Company elected to withdraw from the purchase when 
the term for exclusivity expired and to pursue other opportunities upon completion of its due diligence 
process. 

 Management fees and salaries: The increase in management fees and salaries is due to the decision to 
commence compensating the officers of the Company beginning in the second half of 2016, which continued 
throughout 2017.  Certain compensation payments were settled in shares of the Company in September 2017 
on the same terms as the September private placement. 

 General and administration:  General and administration costs, consisting primarily of travel and lease costs, 
remained relatively unchanged for the fiscal years 2017 and 2016. 
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 Marketing, advisory and investor relations: Marketing, advisory and investor relations administration costs 
remained relatively unchanged for the fiscal years 2017 and 2016. 

 Professional fees: Professional fees increased in 2017 as compared to 2016 primarily for legal fees related to 
the acquisition of Imperial and Kore USA and tax consulting costs. 

 Interest expense: Interest expense was incurred in 2017 related to loans to the Company that were not incurred 
in 2016. 

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Going Concern 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company 
will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.  

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon the Company’s ability to arrange adequate financing 
in the near term.  However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in 
the future or that the terms of such financing will be favorable.  If adequate financing is not available when required, 
the Company may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate various programs and may be unable to continue 
operations.  The Company will seek such additional financing through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no 
assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. 

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $88,694 and a working capital deficit of $214,285 with 
current liabilities of $342,263.  The Company has incurred losses since inception and does not generate any cash 
inflows from operations.  In the year ended December 31, 2017, cash used in operating activities totaled $915,795. 

The Company’s ability to continue to meet its obligations and carry out its planned exploration activities is uncertain 
and dependent upon the continued financial support of its shareholders and on securing additional financing.  There 
is, however, no assurance that any such initiatives will be sufficient and, as a result, there is significant doubt regarding 
the going concern assumption and, accordingly, the ultimate appropriateness of the use of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern.  The Company’s consolidated financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and balance sheet classifications that would be 
necessary if the Company were unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a going concern in the normal 
course of operations for at least 12 months following the year end. These adjustments could be material. 

Financial Instruments and risk management 

(a) Financial instrument classification 

The Company`s financial instruments consist of cash, deposits, amounts receivable and trade and other accounts 
payable. 

Upon initial recognition, Kore Mining has classified its cash and amounts receivable as loans and receivables, and 
accordingly they are measured at amortized cost. 

Trade and other accounts payable have been classified as other liabilities and are measured at amortized cost. 

The estimated fair market values of the Company`s financial instruments approximate their carrying values due to 
their short-term nature. 

(b) Financial Risk Management 

The Company may be exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability to achieve its 
strategic objectives.  The main objectives of the Company’s risk management processes are to ensure that risks are 
properly identified and that the capital base is adequate in relation to those risks.  The principal risks to which the 
Company is exposed are described below. 
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(c) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk arising from the effect of changes in prevailing interest rates on the Company’s financial 
instruments.  The Company’s cash balances held at financial institutions earn interest at rates which vary according to 
prevailing rates.  The Company does not deem the associated interest rate risk to be material. 

(d) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Company if a counter party to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  The Company does not consider that it is exposed to any material credit risks. 

(e) Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Kore Mining maintains a portion of its cash reserves in 
United States dollars which are, therefore, subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

At December 31, 2017, the Company has certain monetary items denominated in United States Dollars.  Based on 
these net exposures, a 10% appreciation or depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the United States dollar would 
result in an increase or decrease of $7,700 in the Company’s net loss. 

(f) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  See “Liquidity, 
Capital Resources and Going Concern” section. 

Related party transactions and balances 
Relationships Nature of the relationship 

1081646 BC Ltd. (“1081646 BC”) 1081646 BC is a company controlled by a director and 
officer of the Company that provides the services of James 
Hynes as Chief Operating Officer of the Company since July 
2016. 

Hazelton, Rohan Mr. Hazleton was a Director, President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company from inception until July 14, 2016. 

Hynes, James Mr. Hynes has been Chairman since September 1, 2016 and 
a Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since 
July 14, 2016. 

Lyftoff Business Solutions Inc. (“Lyftoff”) Lyftoff is a private corporation that provides marketing 
consulting services to the Company and is controlled by a 
relative of a director and officer of the Company. 

Rothwell, Adrian Mr. Rothwell was appointed President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company on September 1, 2016 and has been 
a director of the Company since its inception.  He was CFO 
from February 22, 2016 to August 31, 2016. 

  

(a) Related party transactions 

The following transactions relate to consulting fees and salaries incurred by the Company and are included in 
Management fees and salaries.  Marketing consulting costs are included in Marketing, advisory and investor relations 
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expenses, while Debt interest is included in Interest expense in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017 
Management 

fees and 
salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

Debt interest 

1081646 BC  $ 250,000  $ -   $ -  
Hynes, James   -    -    18,045 
Lyftoff   -    10,500   -  
Rothwell, Adrian   250,000   -    19,950 
  $ 500,000  $ 10,500  $ 37,995 

 

For the period ended December 31, 2016 
Management 

fees and 
salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

Debt interest 

1081646 BC  $ 125,000  $ -   $ -  
Lyftoff   -    15,000   -  
Rothwell, Adrian   125,000   -    -  
  $ 250,000  $ 15,000  $ -  
    

Amounts owing to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand.  The transactions occur in 
the normal course of operations.  At December 31, 2017, the Company owed $131,456 (December 31, 2016 - 
$253,972) to related parties and is included in accounts payable. 

(b) Key management compensation 

Key management are those personnel having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the Company and include the President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Directors. 

For the year ended December 31 2017 2016 
Salaries and benefits  $ 507,000  $ 250,000 
  $ 507,000  $ 250,000 

 

Outstanding Share Data 
The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding share capital: 

 April 6, 2018 

Common shares issued and outstanding  17,907,220 

Fully diluted common shares outstanding  17,907,220 

  
Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 
Details of the Company’s general and administrative expenses for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 
2017 and for the three months and period from incorporation to December 31, 2016 are included in the results of 
operations section of this MD&A. 

Mining Risks 
The Company is subject to the risks typical in the mining business including uncertainty of success in exploration and 
development; operational risks including unusual and unexpected geological formations, rock bursts, particularly as 
mining moves into deeper levels, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of 
material as well as environmental damage and other hazards; risks that intended drilling schedules or estimated costs 
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will not be achieved; and risks of fluctuations in the price of commodities and currency exchange rates.  Commodity 
prices are subject to volatile price movements over short periods of time and are affected by numerous factors, all of 
which are beyond the Company's control, including expectations of inflation, levels of interest rates, the demand for 
commodities, global or regional political, economic and banking crises and production rates in major producing 
regions.  The aggregate effect of these factors is impossible to predict with any degree of certainty.  

Business Risks 
Natural resources exploration, development, production and processing involve a number of business risks, some of 
which are beyond the Company's control.  These can be categorized as operational, financial and regulatory risks. 

• Operational risks include finding and developing reserves economically, marketing production and services, product 
deliverability uncertainties, changing governmental law and regulation, hiring and retaining skilled employees and 
contractors and conducting operations in a cost effective and safe manner. The Company continuously monitors and 
responds to changes in these factors and adheres to all regulations governing its operations. Insurance may be 
maintained at levels consistent with prudent industry practices to minimize risks however the Company is not fully 
insured against all risks nor are all such risks insurable. 

• Financial risks include fluctuations in commodity prices, interest rates and foreign exchange rates, all of which are 
beyond the Company's control.  

• Regulatory risks include possible delays in getting regulatory approval for transactions that the Board of Directors 
believe to be in the best interest of the Company, increased fees for filings, and the introduction of ever more complex 
reporting requirements, the cost of which the Company must meet in order to maintain its exchange listing.  

Outlook 
The Company's primary focus is the exploration and development of the Long Valley and Imperial Projects.  In 
addition to the exploration at these Properties, the Company may evaluate other prospects worthy of exploration and 
development.  The ability of the Company to do so is contingent upon its ongoing ability to raise the risk capital 
necessary to advance such prospects. 

Approval 
The Board of Directors of the Company have approved the disclosure contained in this MD&A. 

Other Information 
Additional information related to the Company is available for viewing on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the 
Company’s website at www.koremining.com. 
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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), prepared as of June 14, 2018, should be read 
together with the condensed interim consolidated financial statements of Kore Mining Ltd. (“Kore Mining” or the 
“Company”) for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, and related notes thereto, which are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) applicable to interim financial reports, 
including International Accounting Standard 34 (“Interim Financial Reporting”). All amounts are stated in Canadian 
dollars unless otherwise indicated. The reader should be aware that historical results are not necessarily indicative of 
future performance. 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements 
Forward-looking statements look into the future and provide an opinion as to the effect of certain events and trends 
on the business.  Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements.  The use of any 
words such as "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "should", "believe" and similar 
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking statements are based on 
current expectations and various estimates, factors and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors. Examples of where the company uses forward looking statements include when 
discussing exploration plans, operational plans and future expenditure expectations.  

It is important to note that: 

• Unless otherwise indicated, forward-looking statements in this MD&A describe the Company's expectations as of 
June 14, 2018. 

• Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these statements as the Company's actual results, performance 
or achievements may differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by 
such forward-looking statements if known or unknown risks, uncertainties or other factors affect the Company's 
business, or if the Company's estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate.  Therefore, the Company cannot provide any 
assurance that forward-looking statements will materialize. 

• The Company assumes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or any other reason except as required by law. 

For a description of material factors that could cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from the 
forward-looking statements in this MD&A, please see "Mining Risks" and “Business Risks”. 

Nature of Operations 
Kore Mining was incorporated in British Columbia on February 22, 2016.  Kore Mining is the parent company of its 
consolidated group which comprises a 100% interest in Imperial USA Corp. (Imperial), a Nevada corporation 
purchased on March 28, 2017 and a 100% interest in Kore USA Ltd. (Kore USA), also a Nevada corporation, 
incorporated on June 6, 2017. 

Kore Mining is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of primarily gold mineral properties.  The 
Company is focussing its efforts on the Long Valley Project and the Imperial Project, both located in California. 

Imperial Project Summary 
On March 28, 2017, the Company purchased Imperial USA Corp. which owns the Imperial project located in 
California.  In settlement of the purchase price, the Company paid US$50,000 which had been deposited previously 
with the vendor in November 2016 related to a Letter Agreement, and US$100,000 on the date of closing the purchase.  
The agreement has provisions for two further payments to the vendor, with US$1,000,000 payable upon the 
announcement of a revised Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) or similar report and US$1,000,000 payable 30 
days after the date that gold is poured from ore the is mined from the related properties. 

The vendor retains a 1% net smelter return royalty on the property. The vendor has the option to receive shares in the 
Company in settlement of the remaining payments up to achieving a 4.9% ownership interest in the Company, above 
which level further share consideration is at the option of the Company. 
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In addition, the Company has committed to incur US$5 million on the Imperial Project on or before the fifth 
anniversary of the date of the Imperial Purchase Agreement.  In the event that the Company does not incur these 
expenditures in this time, the Company must then pay US$1,000,000 to the vendor. 

The Imperial Property is located in Imperial County, in southeastern California and was acquired with the purchase 
of Imperial.  It is located along the Indian Pass Road approximately 26 miles northwest of the city of Yuma, Arizona, 
and is approximately 45 miles east-north-east of El Centro, California.  The operating Mesquite Mine and the closed 
Picacho Mine are located roughly 10 miles to the west and east, respectively, of the property.  The closed American 
Girl Mine is about 8 miles south of the project.  Except for this activity, there is no mining activity in or around the 
claim block. 

The Imperial Project consists of 370 lode claims, 281 millsite claims and 3 placer claims for a total of 654 claims 
covering a total area of approximately 5,721 acres, and is amenable to open pit run-of-mine heap leach operations. 
The company proposes to complete permitting studies to advance the project. 

The claims are administered by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) on federally owned lands.  The 
unpatented mining claims are all held by Imperial, and are in good standing with all holding fees paid for the current 
year.  The claims will remain in effect for as long as the claim holding fees are paid to both the U.S. government and 
the county.  The claims must also be maintained by ensuring that the claim posts and location notices are properly 
upright and visible.  

The property is not subject to any production royalties or encumbrances except for a 1% net smelter return royalty 
held by Goldcorp Inc. on any gold production from the property. 

The Company is not aware of any significant factors, risks or issues that may affect access, title, or the right or ability 
to perform work on the Imperial Project, nor is it aware of any environmental liabilities related to the Imperial Project. 

Long Valley Project Summary 
On March 31, 2017 the Company purchased 95 mining claims in the Long Valley area of California.  Upon closing, 
the Company paid US$350,000 with provisions in the agreement for further payments of US$500,000 due 30 days 
after commencement of commercial production and US$500,000 payable on the 12 month anniversary of the 
commencement of commercial production.  The vendor has the option to receive shares in the Company in settlement 
of the outstanding payments.  The mining claims were subsequently transferred to the Company’s subsidiary, Kore 
USA Inc. 

The vendor retained a net smelter return royalty on the claims (“the Seller NSR”).  The Seller NSR provides for a 
perpetual royalty of 0.5% when the price of gold is under US$1,400/oz, 1.0% when the price of gold is between 
US$1,401 to US$1,600/oz and 2.0% when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz.  The Company has the option to 
purchase 1% of the royalty when the price of gold is above US$1,600/oz for US$2 million if purchased prior to the 
announcement of a feasibility study or US$4 million if repurchased prior to commencement of commercial production.  
There is also a 1% net smelter return royalty on any gold production from the property. The property is not subject to 
any other production royalties or encumbrances. 

The Long Valley Property is located in Mono County, east-central California, approximately 57miles to the south of 
the town of Bridgeport and about 45 miles north of the town of Bishop, California.  Both towns are connected by U.S. 
Highway 395, which passes a few miles west of the property.  Access to the property from the highway is via a series 
of graded gravel roads.  The claims are administered by the BLM on federally owned lands administered by the Inyo 
National Forest, U.S. Department of Agriculture.  The surface rights in the area of the claims are owned by the U.S. 
government, with the area being subject to a surface grazing lease issued by the U.S. Forest Service. 

The unpatented mining claims are all held by Kore USA, and are in good standing with all holding fees paid for the 
current year.  The claims will remain in effect for as long as the claim holding fees are paid to both the U.S. government 
and the county.  The claims must also be maintained by insuring that the claim posts and location notices are properly 
upright and visible. 
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The Company is not aware of any significant factors, risks or issues that may affect access, title, or the right or ability 
to perform work on the Long Valley Project.  The Company is not aware of any environmental liabilities related to 
the Long Valley Property.  

Following is a summary of exploration and evaluation expenses by project for the three month period ended March 
31, 2018. 

For the three month period ended March 31, 2018 Long Valley Imperial 
Exploration and evaluation expenses   

Permitting  $ 2,970  $ 151,012 
Claim maintenance 3,689 -  
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical -  59,991 
Geophysics 4,235 -  
  $ 10,894  $ 211,003 
   

 

Overall Performance 
The Company has generated no operating revenue to date. The Company relies on the issuance of common shares to 
finance the acquisition of and exploration on its projects, and to provide general operating working capital. 

Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following is a summary of selected financial data for the Company for the eight most recently completed quarters. 

Period ended Mar 31 
2018 

Dec 31 
2017 

Sep 30 
2017 

Jun 30 
2017 

Net loss  $ 419,268  $ 456,530  $ 371,255  $ 289,983 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.02 

     

Period ended Mar 31 
2017 

Dec 31 
2016 

Sep 30 
2016 

Jun 30 
2016 

Net loss  $ 178,476  $ 493,910  $ 44,960  $ 126,163 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $0.01 $0.04 $0.00 $0.01 

     

Since incorporation in February 2016, the Company has completed several financings, raising a total of $2,760,358. 

Results of Operations 
Three months ended March 31, 2018 
During the three months ended March 31, 2018 (the “first quarter of 2018”), the Company incurred a net loss of 
$419,268 compared to a net loss of $178,476 during the three months ended March 31, 2017 (the “first quarter of 
2017”).  This information is derived from unaudited quarterly consolidated interim financial statements prepared by 
management and expressed in Canadian dollars in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) applicable to interim financial reports. 
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For the three months ended 
March 31 

2018 
March 31 

2017 
Exploration and evaluation expenses   

Permitting  $ 153,982  $ 27,682 
Claim maintenance   3,689   2,220 
Engineering, metallurgy and geotechnical   59,991    
Geophysics   4,235   -  
   221,897   29,902 

Management fees and salaries   135,500   125,000 
General and administration   33,377   6,538 
Marketing, advisory and investor relations   21,987   1,905 
Professional fees   7,560    13,540 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss   (1,247)   1,591 
Other income and expense   194   -  

  $ 419,268  $ 178,476 
   

 Exploration and evaluation expenses: The increase in exploration and evaluation expenses reflects the 
Company’s continued commitment to advancing it’s projects through permitting, exploration and technical 
review. In the first quarter of 2018, the Company continued analysis of the MT survey and historic 
information to develop drilling targets, updated the technical report and NI43-101 compliant resource on the 
Long Valley project and completed internal engineering studies on the Imperial project. Meanwhile, a spring 
biological survey was completed on Imperial in order to advance the permitting on the project. 

 Management fees and salaries: Fees and salaries were consistent in the first quarter of 2018 compared to the 
first quarter of 2017. 

 General and administration:  The increase in general and administration costs over the previous year’s quarter 
is a function of increased administration supporting the Company’s proposed reverse takeover of Eureka 
Resources Inc. (TSXV: EUK) and associated advisory costs. 

 Marketing, advisory and investor relations: As above, marketing, advisory and investor relations increased 
year on year as a result of the Company’s proposed listing, and includes investor relations consulting, website 
maintenance, and fundraising efforts. 

 Professional fees:  Professional fees in the previous year related to property evaluation costs related to the 
potential acquisition of a gold property in California. The Company elected to withdraw from the purchase 
when the term for exclusivity expired and to pursue other opportunities. 

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Going Concern 
The condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes 
that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the 
foreseeable future.  

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon the Company’s ability to arrange adequate financing 
in the near term.  However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in 
the future or that the terms of such financing will be favorable.  If adequate financing is not available when required, 
the Company may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate various programs and may be unable to continue 
operations.  The Company will seek such additional financing through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no 
assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $35,207 and a working capital deficit of $645,832 with 
current liabilities of $769,451.  The Company has incurred losses since inception and does not generate any cash 
inflows from operations.  In the three month period ended March 31, 2018, cash used in operating activities totaled 
$24,974. 
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The Company’s ability to continue to meet its obligations and carry out its planned exploration activities is uncertain 
and dependent upon the continued financial support of its shareholders and on securing additional financing.  There 
is, however, no assurance that any such initiatives will be sufficient and, as a result, there is significant doubt regarding 
the going concern assumption and, accordingly, the ultimate appropriateness of the use of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern.  The Company’s consolidated financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and balance sheet classifications that would be 
necessary if the Company were unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a going concern in the normal 
course of operations for at least 12 months following the year end. These adjustments could be material. 

Financial Instruments and risk management 

(a) Financial instrument classification 

The Company`s financial instruments consist of cash, deposits, amounts receivable and trade and other accounts 
payable. 

Upon initial recognition, Kore Mining has classified its cash and amounts receivable as loans and receivables, and 
accordingly they are measured at amortized cost. 

Trade and other accounts payable have been classified as other liabilities and are measured at amortized cost. 

The estimated fair market values of the Company`s financial instruments approximate their carrying values due to 
their short-term nature. 

(b) Financial Risk Management 

The Company may be exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability to achieve its 
strategic objectives.  The main objectives of the Company’s risk management processes are to ensure that risks are 
properly identified and that the capital base is adequate in relation to those risks.  The principal risks to which the 
Company is exposed are described below. 

(c) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk arising from the effect of changes in prevailing interest rates on the Company’s financial 
instruments.  The Company’s cash balances held at financial institutions earn interest at rates which vary according to 
prevailing rates.  The Company does not deem the associated interest rate risk to be material. 

(d) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Company if a counter party to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  The Company does not consider that it is exposed to any material credit risks. 

(e) Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Kore Mining maintains a portion of its cash reserves in 
United States dollars which are, therefore, subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

At March 31, 2018, the Company has certain monetary items denominated in United States Dollars.  Based on these 
net exposures, a 10% appreciation or depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the United States dollar would result 
in an increase or decrease of $32,100 in the Company’s net loss. 

(f) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  See “Liquidity, 
Capital Resources and Going Concern” section. 
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Related party transactions and balances 
Relationships Nature of the relationship 

1081646 BC Ltd. (“1081646 BC”) 1081646 BC is a company controlled by a director and 
officer of the Company that provides the services of James 
Hynes as Chief Operating Officer of the Company since July 
2016. 

Hynes, James Mr. Hynes has been Chairman since September 1, 2016 and 
a Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since 
July 14, 2016. 

Lyftoff Business Solutions Inc. (“Lyftoff”) Lyftoff is a private corporation that provides marketing 
consulting services to the Company and is controlled by a 
relative of a director and officer of the Company. 

Rothwell, Adrian Mr. Rothwell was appointed President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company on September 1, 2016 and has been 
a director of the Company since its inception.  He was CFO 
from February 22, 2016 to August 31, 2016. 

  

(a) Related party transactions 

The following transactions relate to consulting fees and salaries incurred by the Company and are included in 
Management fees and salaries.  Marketing consulting costs are included in Marketing, advisory and investor relations 
expenses, while Debt interest is included in Interest expense in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss. 

For the three month period ended March 
31, 2018 

Management 
fees and 
salaries 

Marketing 
consulting 

1081646 BC  $ 62,500  $ -  
Lyftoff   -    10,500 
Rothwell, Adrian   62,500   -  
  $ 125,000  $ 10,500 

 

Amounts owing to related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand.  The transactions occur in 
the normal course of operations.  At March 31, 2018, the Company owed $274,773 (March 31, 2017 - $443,331) to 
related parties and is included in accounts payable. 

(b) Key management compensation 

Key management are those personnel having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the Company and include the President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Directors. 

For the three month period ended December 31 2018 2017 
Salaries and benefits  $ 135,500  $ 125,000 
  $ 135,500  $ 125,000 
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Outstanding Share Data 
The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding share capital: 

 June 14, 2018 

Common shares issued and outstanding  18,707,220 

Fully diluted common shares outstanding  18,707,220 

  
Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 
Details of the Company’s general and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 
are included in the results of operations section of this MD&A. 

Mining Risks 
The Company is subject to the risks typical in the mining business including uncertainty of success in exploration and 
development; operational risks including unusual and unexpected geological formations, rock bursts, particularly as 
mining moves into deeper levels, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of 
material as well as environmental damage and other hazards; risks that intended drilling schedules or estimated costs 
will not be achieved; and risks of fluctuations in the price of commodities and currency exchange rates.  Commodity 
prices are subject to volatile price movements over short periods of time and are affected by numerous factors, all of 
which are beyond the Company's control, including expectations of inflation, levels of interest rates, the demand for 
commodities, global or regional political, economic and banking crises and production rates in major producing 
regions.  The aggregate effect of these factors is impossible to predict with any degree of certainty.  

Business Risks 
Natural resources exploration, development, production and processing involve a number of business risks, some of 
which are beyond the Company's control.  These can be categorized as operational, financial and regulatory risks. 

• Operational risks include finding and developing reserves economically, marketing production and services, product 
deliverability uncertainties, changing governmental law and regulation, hiring and retaining skilled employees and 
contractors and conducting operations in a cost effective and safe manner. The Company continuously monitors and 
responds to changes in these factors and adheres to all regulations governing its operations. Insurance may be 
maintained at levels consistent with prudent industry practices to minimize risks however the Company is not fully 
insured against all risks nor are all such risks insurable. 

• Financial risks include fluctuations in commodity prices, interest rates and foreign exchange rates, all of which are 
beyond the Company's control.  

• Regulatory risks include possible delays in getting regulatory approval for transactions that the Board of Directors 
believe to be in the best interest of the Company, increased fees for filings, and the introduction of ever more complex 
reporting requirements, the cost of which the Company must meet in order to maintain its exchange listing.  

Outlook 
The Company's primary focus is the exploration and development of the Long Valley and Imperial Projects.  In 
addition to the exploration at these Properties, the Company may evaluate other prospects worthy of exploration and 
development.  The ability of the Company to do so is contingent upon its ongoing ability to raise the risk capital 
necessary to advance such prospects. 

Approval 
The Board of Directors of the Company have approved the disclosure contained in this MD&A. 

Other Information 
Additional information related to the Company is available for viewing on the Company’s website at 
www.koremining.com. 
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 Eureka 
Resources 

Inc. 
 Kore Mining 

Ltd. 
Notes  Pro-forma 

Adjustments 
 Pro-forma 

Consolidated 
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash 68,781$           35,207$           4(a) 4(b) 2,102,900         2,206,888$       
Amounts receivable 2,407               27,082             -                     29,489             
BC Mining Exploration tax credit receivable 11,112             -                     -                     11,112             
Prepaid expenses and advances 5,625               61,330             -                     66,955             

Total current assets 87,925             123,619           2,102,900         2,314,444         

Non-current assets
Reclamation bonds 21,204             -                     -                     21,204             
Mineral properties 1,169,570         705,289           -                     1,874,859         

Total non-current assets 1,190,774         705,289           -                     1,896,063         

Total assets 1,278,699$       828,908$          2,102,900$       4,210,507$       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 45,986             769,451           -                     815,437           
Due to related parties 140,582           -                     4(c) ( 127,400) 13,182             

Total current liabilities 186,568           769,451           ( 127,400) 828,619           

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital 7,390,156$       2,536,885$       4(e) ( 2,156,630) 7,770,411$       
Reserves 938,536           -                     4(e) ( 701,242) 237,294           
Deficit ( 7,236,561) ( 2,449,148) 4(e) 5,088,172         ( 4,597,537)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss -                     ( 28,280) -                     ( 28,280)

Total shareholders' equity 1,092,131         59,457             2,230,300         3,381,888         

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,278,699$       828,908$          2,102,900$       4,210,507$       
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 Eureka 
Resources 

Inc. 
 Kore Mining 

Ltd.  Notes 
 Pro-forma 

Adjustments 
 Pro-forma 

Consolidated 

Expenses
Exploration and evaluation expenses -                     524,152           4(d) 810,993           1,335,145         
Management fees and salaries 206,170           507,000           -                     713,170           
General and administration 73,085             64,026             -                     137,111           
Marketing, advisory and investor relations 236,094           26,221             -                     262,315           
Professional fees 91,928             67,005             -                     158,933           
Share-based compensation 130,000           -                     -                     130,000           

737,277           1,188,404         810,993           2,736,674         
Other income/expense

Interest expense -                     147,980           -                     147,980           
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 643                 ( 40,391) -                     ( 39,748)
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets 36,901             -                     -                     36,901             
Other (income)/expense -                     251                 -                     251                 
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities 3,750               -                     -                     3,750               
Gain on sale of marketable securities ( 990) -                     -                     ( 990)
Other income - flow-through premium ( 32,611) -                     -                     ( 32,611)
Reverse acquisition cost -                     -                     1,898,389         1,898,389         

7,693               107,840           1,898,389         2,013,922         

Net loss for the year 744,970           1,296,244         2,709,382         4,750,596         

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to net income

Cumulative translation adjustment -                     41,174             -                     41,174             

Comprehensive loss for the year 744,970           1,337,418         2,709,382         4,791,770         

Basic and diluted loss per share 0.02 0.09 0.07

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 40,959,076       14,825,422       66,841,954       
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 Eureka 
Resources 

Inc. 
 Kore Mining 

Ltd.  Notes 
 Pro-forma 

Adjustments 
 Pro-forma 

Consolidated 
Expenses

Exploration and evaluation expenses -                     221,897           4(d) 1,406               223,303           
Management fees and salaries 24,424             135,500           -                     159,924           
General and administration 14,594             33,377             -                     47,971             
Marketing, advisory and investor relations 6,500               21,987             -                     28,487             
Professional fees 16,586             7,560               -                     24,146             

62,104             420,321           1,406               483,831           
Other income/expense

Interest expense -                     194                 -                     194                 
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss ( 403) ( 1,247) -                     ( 1,650)

( 403) ( 1,053) -                     ( 1,456)

Net loss for the year 61,701             419,268           1,406               482,375           

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to net income
Cumulative translation adjustment -                     ( 12,894) -                     ( 12,894)

Comprehensive loss for the year 61,701             406,374           1,406               469,481           

Basic and diluted loss per share 0.00 0.02 0.01

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 47,307,511       17,907,220       66,841,954       
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1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of Kore Mining Ltd. 
(“Kore” or the “Company”) as of October 31, 2017 and the unaudited pro forma consolidated statements 
of loss and comprehensive loss for the twelve month period ended October 31, 2017 and for the three 
month period ended January 31, 2018 (“the pro forma financial statements”) have been prepared to reflect 
the proposed transaction, whereby, pursuant to an amalgamation agreement dated February 24, 2018 (“the 
Agreement”) with Eureka Resources Inc. (“Eureka”), a private British Columbia corporation, Eureka 
agreed to acquire 100% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Kore in exchange for common 
shares of Eureka by way of a three-cornered amalgamation. Kore, through its wholly-owned U.S. 
subsidiaries, owns 100% interests in the Imperial and Long Valley gold development projects, located in 
California, USA. The transaction will constitute a reverse takeover (an “RTO”) of Eureka by Kore under 
the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange. 

The transaction will be effected by way of a three-cornered amalgamation, without court approval, under 
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), pursuant to which, through the amalgamation of a 
newly incorporated British Columbia subsidiary of the Company and Eureka, Eureka will acquire all of 
the issued and outstanding Kore common shares in exchange for the issuance of shares of Eureka (on a 
post-consolidation basis) and Kore will become a subsidiary of the Company. 

The Agreement anticipates the consolidation of capital of Eureka and the concurrent financing, all of which 
is described more fully below, and elsewhere in the Information Circular.  

The unaudited pro forma statement of financial position of Kore Mining Ltd. (Kore Mining) at October 
31, 2017 and the unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the 
twelve month period ended October 31, 2017 and the three month period ended January 31, 2018 have 
been prepared by the management of Kore Mining in accordance with Kore Mining’s accounting policies 
as described in the notes to Kore Mining’s most recent audited annual consolidated financial statements. 
These pro forma financial statements are for illustrative purposes only, to show the effect of the transaction 
entered into with Eureka, more fully described in Note 3. 

Amounts in these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and notes are represented in C$ 
unless otherwise indicated.  

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared as if the asset 
acquisition described in Note 3 had occurred on January 31, 2018 by combining the audited consolidated 
statement of financial position of Kore Mining as at December 31, 2017 and the unaudited consolidated 
statement of financial position of Eureka as at January 31, 2018. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended 
October 31, 2017 has been prepared as if the transaction described in Note 3 occurred on November 1, 
2016 by combining:  

i. The statement of loss and comprehensive loss of Kore Mining for the year ended December 31, 
2017; and 

ii. the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss of Eureka for the year ended October 31, 
2017. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the three month 
period ended January 31, 2018 has been prepared as if the transaction described in Note 3 occurred on 
November 1, 2016 and combines:  
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iii. The statement of loss and comprehensive loss of Kore Mining for the three month period ended 
March 31, 2018; and 

iv. the unaudited condensed interim consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss  of Eureka 
for the three month period ended January 31, 2018. 

It is management’s opinion that these pro forma financial statements present in all material respects, the 
transactions, assumptions and adjustments described in Notes 3 and 4, in accordance with Kore Mining’s 
accounting policies. Actual amounts recorded upon consummation of the transaction may differ from 
those recorded in these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements. Any integration costs that 
may be incurred upon consummation of the transaction have been excluded from these unaudited pro 
forma consolidated financial statements. Further, the unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be obtained in 
the future. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial 
statements are those as set out in Kore Mining’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2017. These unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements should be read in 
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Kore Mining for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 and of Eureka for the year ended October 31, 2017. In preparing the 
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information, a review was undertaken to identify Eureka’s 
accounting policy differences.  

Identified differences in the accounting policies adopted between Kore Mining and Eureka that could have 
a material impact on these pro forma consolidated financial statements are discussed in Note 4(d). Certain 
elements of Eureka’s consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to provide a consistent 
classification format.     

3. REVERSE TAKEOVER OF EUREKA BY KORE MINING 
For accounting purposes, Kore Mining has been treated as the accounting parent company (legal 
subsidiary) and Eureka has been treated as the accounting subsidiary (legal parent) in these pro forma 
financial statements.  

The acquisition by Kore Mining of Eureka is considered to be an asset acquisition.  Accordingly the 
reverse takeover transaction is treated as a capital transaction under IFRS 2. 
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For purposes of this transaction, the consideration received is deemed to be the fair value of the net assets 
of Eureka which on January 31, 2018 were as follows: 

Purchase price:  

Fair value of shares retained by Eureka shareholders $ 2,740,520 
Transaction costs   250,000 

Total purchase price   2,990,520 

  
Net assets acquired:  

Current assets   87,925 
Reclamation bonds   21,204 
Exploration and evaluation assets   1,169,570 
Current liabilities   (186,568) 

Net identifiable assets   1,092,131 

Reverse acquisition cost  $ 1,898,389 

 

The fair value per share of the shares retained by the shareholders of Eureka has been estimated to be the 
same as those that will be issued in the private placement described in note 4(b) for the purpose of these 
pro-forma financial statements. 

As a result of Eureka not meeting the definition of a business under IFRS 3, a transaction loss of 
$1,898,389 has been recorded. This reflects the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the 
assets and liabilities acquired. 

4. PRO-FORMA ADJUSTMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
(a) The recording of the reverse takeover transaction referred to in note 3 above. 

(b) The issuance of 5,060,000 subscription receipts at $0.50 per share for aggregate proceeds of 
$2,530,000 ($2,352,900 net of estimated cash transaction costs) as discussed below. Each subscription 
receipt consists of one Eureka share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. 

In connection with the transaction, it is expected that the Company will undertake a private placement 
of subscription receipts for gross proceeds of $2,200,000 and that the broker's 15% over allotment 
option will be exercised, which will result in the issuance of 5,060,000 subscription receipts for 
aggregate proceeds of $2,530,000 ($2,352,900, net of estimated costs). 

The consideration allocated to the 1,265,000 purchase warrants has been estimated at $243,892 using 
the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.9%, 
expected dividend yield of nil, expected volatility of 91.1% and expected average warrant life of 2 
years. 

The Company will pay a cash commission of 7.0% of the gross proceeds of the Offering, totalling 
$177,100. In addition, the Company will issue on the closing of the Offering to the Agent 
compensation warrants entitling the Agent to purchase, at $0.50 per common share on a post-
consolidation basis, that number of common shares equal to 7.0% of the aggregate number of 
Subscription Receipts issued by the Company under the Offering. The Compensation Warrants may 
be exercised at any time and from time to time for a period of 24 months following the Escrow Release 
Date.  
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The value of the Agent compensation warrants at $14,846 has been estimated using the Black-Scholes 
pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.9%, expected dividend yield 
of nil, expected volatility of 91.1% and expected average warrant life of 2 years. 

c) To reflect the settlement of $127,400 in payables to related parties of Eureka through the issuance of 
shares on April 30, 2018.  

d) To reflect an accounting policy difference for exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) expenditures. 
Eureka’s policy was to capitalize costs incurred for exploration and evaluation activities while Kore 
Mining’s policy is to capitalize only acquisition costs of E&E properties.    

An adjustment has accordingly been made to expense E&E expenditures, other than acquisition costs, 
of $810,993 incurred by Eureka for the twelve month period ended October 31, 2017 and a nominal 
amount for the three month period ended January 31, 2018.  

e) To reflect the elimination of the share capital, reserves and deficit on Eureka on consolidation. 

5. LOSS PER SHARE 
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per common share in the pro forma consolidated statement of loss 
and comprehensive loss is based on the pro forma number of common shares of the Company outstanding 
for the twelve-month period ended January 31, 2018, assuming that the issuance of 61,360,913 common 
shares related to the pro forma transaction took place on February 1, 2017. The proposed consolidation of 
the common shares, on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for every ten pre-consolidation 
common shares has been considered in the calculation of the loss per share as if the consolidation took 
place on February 1, 2017. The weighted average common shares for the twelve months ended October 
31, 2017 and the three months ended January 31, 2018 is 66,841,954. 

A continuity of the Company's issued common share capital and related recorded values after giving effect 
to the pro forma transaction described above is set out below: 

Common Shares   Number of Shares Amount $ 

Shares issued and outstanding as at January 31, 2018  50,462,402 2,536,885 

Shares issued for settlement of debt  4,348,000 127,400 

   54,810,402 2,664,285 

1:10 Share consolidation 4(a) (49,329,362)  
    

    

Issued on closing of RTO transaction  61,360,914 2,990,520 

Shares to be issued for cash, net of transaction costs 4(b) 5,060,000 2,115,606 

Shares issued and outstanding after the transactions   71,901,954 7,770,411 

     
As a condition of closing of the transaction, Eureka will complete a consolidation of its issued and 
outstanding common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for each ten pre-
consolidation common shares. 

Pursuant to the amalgamation, the shareholders of Kore will receive 61,360,914 Eureka Shares (on a post-
Consolidation basis). Immediately following the Closing, the former Kore shareholders shall hold no less 
than 91.8% of the total number of issued and outstanding Eureka Shares, prior to giving effect to the 
concurrent financing of Eureka subscription receipts to be undertaken in connection with the transaction. 
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APPENDIX K

SECTIONS 237 TO 247 OF THE BCBCA

237 Definitions and application

(1) In this Division:

“dissenter” means a shareholder who, being entitled to do so, sends written notice of dissent when and
as required by section 242;

“notice shares” means, in relation to a notice of dissent, the shares in respect of which dissent is being
exercised under the notice of dissent;

“payout value”means,

(a) in the case of a dissent in respect of a resolution, the fair value that the notice shares had
immediately before the passing of the resolution,

(b) in the case of a dissent in respect of an arrangement approved by a court order made under
section 291 (2) (c) that permits dissent, the fair value that the notice shares had immediately
before the passing of the resolution adopting the arrangement,

(c) in the case of a dissent in respect of a matter approved or authorized by any other court order
that permits dissent, the fair value that the notice shares had at the time specified by the court
order, or

(d) in the case of a dissent in respect of a community contribution company, the value of the notice
shares set out in the regulations,

excluding any appreciation or depreciation in anticipation of the corporate action approved or authorized
by the resolution or court order unless exclusion would be inequitable.

(2) This Division applies to any right of dissent exercisable by a shareholder except to the extent that

(a) the court orders otherwise, or

(b) in the case of a right of dissent authorized by a resolution referred to in section 238 (1) (g), the
court orders otherwise or the resolution provides otherwise.

238 Right to dissent

(1) A shareholder of a company, whether or not the shareholder’s shares carry the right to vote, is entitled to
dissent as follows:

(a) under section 260, in respect of a resolution to alter the articles

(i) to alter restrictions on the powers of the company or on the business the company is
permitted to carry on, or

(ii) without limiting subparagraph (i), in the case of a community contribution company, to
alter any of the company’s community purposes within the meaning of section 51.91;

(b) under section 272, in respect of a resolution to adopt an amalgamation agreement;

(c) under section 287, in respect of a resolution to approve an amalgamation under Division 4 of
Part 9;

(d) in respect of a resolution to approve an arrangement, the terms of which arrangement permit
dissent;

(e) under section 301 (5), in respect of a resolution to authorize or ratify the sale, lease or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the company’s undertaking;
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(f) under section 309, in respect of a resolution to authorize the continuation of the company into a
jurisdiction other than British Columbia;

(g) in respect of any other resolution, if dissent is authorized by the resolution;

(h) in respect of any court order that permits dissent.

(2) A shareholder wishing to dissent must

(a) prepare a separate notice of dissent under section 242 for

(i) the shareholder, if the shareholder is dissenting on the shareholder’s own behalf, and

(ii) each other person who beneficially owns shares registered in the shareholder’s name
and on whose behalf the shareholder is dissenting,

(b) identify in each notice of dissent, in accordance with section 242 (4), the person on whose behalf
dissent is being exercised in that notice of dissent, and

(c) dissent with respect to all of the shares, registered in the shareholder’s name, of which the
person identified under paragraph (b) of this subsection is the beneficial owner.

(3) Without limiting subsection (2), a person who wishes to have dissent exercised with respect to shares of
which the person is the beneficial owner must

(a) dissent with respect to all of the shares, if any, of which the person is both the registered owner
and the beneficial owner, and

(b) cause each shareholder who is a registered owner of any other shares of which the person is the
beneficial owner to dissent with respect to all of those shares.

239 Waiver of right to dissent

(1) A shareholder may not waive generally a right to dissent but may, in writing, waive the right to dissent
with respect to a particular corporate action.

(2) A shareholder wishing to waive a right of dissent with respect to a particular corporate action must

(a) provide to the company a separate waiver for

(i) the shareholder, if the shareholder is providing a waiver on the shareholder’s own
behalf, and

(ii) each other person who beneficially owns shares registered in the shareholder’s name
and on whose behalf the shareholder is providing a waiver, and

(b) identify in each waiver the person on whose behalf the waiver is made.

(3) If a shareholder waives a right of dissent with respect to a particular corporate action and indicates in the
waiver that the right to dissent is being waived on the shareholder’s own behalf, the shareholder’s right
to dissent with respect to the particular corporate action terminates in respect of the shares of which the
shareholder is both the registered owner and the beneficial owner, and this Division ceases to apply to

(a) the shareholder in respect of the shares of which the shareholder is both the registered owner
and the beneficial owner, and

(b) any other shareholders, who are registered owners of shares beneficially owned by the first
mentioned shareholder, in respect of the shares that are beneficially owned by the first
mentioned shareholder.

(4) If a shareholder waives a right of dissent with respect to a particular corporate action and indicates in the
waiver that the right to dissent is being waived on behalf of a specified person who beneficially owns
shares registered in the name of the shareholder, the right of shareholders who are registered owners of
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shares beneficially owned by that specified person to dissent on behalf of that specified person with
respect to the particular corporate action terminates and this Division ceases to apply to those
shareholders in respect of the shares that are beneficially owned by that specified person.

240 Notice of resolution

(1) If a resolution in respect of which a shareholder is entitled to dissent is to be considered at a meeting of
shareholders, the company must, at least the prescribed number of days before the date of the proposed
meeting, send to each of its shareholders, whether or not their shares carry the right to vote,

(a) a copy of the proposed resolution, and

(b) a notice of the meeting that specifies the date of the meeting, and contains a statement advising
of the right to send a notice of dissent.

(2) If a resolution in respect of which a shareholder is entitled to dissent is to be passed as a consent
resolution of shareholders or as a resolution of directors and the earliest date on which that resolution
can be passed is specified in the resolution or in the statement referred to in paragraph (b), the company
may, at least 21 days before that specified date, send to each of its shareholders, whether or not their
shares carry the right to vote,

(a) a copy of the proposed resolution, and

(b) a statement advising of the right to send a notice of dissent.

(3) If a resolution in respect of which a shareholder is entitled to dissent was or is to be passed as a resolution
of shareholders without the company complying with subsection (1) or (2), or was or is to be passed as a
directors’ resolution without the company complying with subsection (2), the company must, before or
within 14 days after the passing of the resolution, send to each of its shareholders who has not, on behalf
of every person who beneficially owns shares registered in the name of the shareholder, consented to the
resolution or voted in favour of the resolution, whether or not their shares carry the right to vote,

(a) a copy of the resolution,

(b) a statement advising of the right to send a notice of dissent, and

(c) if the resolution has passed, notification of that fact and the date on which it was passed.

(4) Nothing in subsection (1), (2) or (3) gives a shareholder a right to vote in a meeting at which, or on a
resolution on which, the shareholder would not otherwise be entitled to vote.

241 Notice of court orders

If a court order provides for a right of dissent, the company must, not later than 14 days after the date on which
the company receives a copy of the entered order, send to each shareholder who is entitled to exercise that right
of dissent

(a) a copy of the entered order, and

(b) a statement advising of the right to send a notice of dissent.

242 Notice of dissent

(1) A shareholder intending to dissent in respect of a resolution referred to in section 238 (1) (a), (b), (c), (d),
(e) or (f) must,

(a) if the company has complied with section 240 (1) or (2), send written notice of dissent to the
company at least 2 days before the date on which the resolution is to be passed or can be
passed, as the case may be,
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(b) if the company has complied with section 240 (3), send written notice of dissent to the company
not more than 14 days after receiving the records referred to in that section, or

(c) if the company has not complied with section 240 (1), (2) or (3), send written notice of dissent to
the company not more than 14 days after the later of

(i) the date on which the shareholder learns that the resolution was passed, and

(ii) the date on which the shareholder learns that the shareholder is entitled to dissent.

(2) A shareholder intending to dissent in respect of a resolution referred to in section 238 (1) (g) must send
written notice of dissent to the company

(a) on or before the date specified by the resolution or in the statement referred to in section 240
(2) (b) or (3) (b) as the last date by which notice of dissent must be sent, or

(b) if the resolution or statement does not specify a date, in accordance with subsection (1) of this
section.

(3) A shareholder intending to dissent under section 238 (1) (h) in respect of a court order that permits
dissent must send written notice of dissent to the company

(a) within the number of days, specified by the court order, after the shareholder receives the
records referred to in section 241, or

(b) if the court order does not specify the number of days referred to in paragraph (a) of this
subsection, within 14 days after the shareholder receives the records referred to in section 241.

(4) A notice of dissent sent under this section must set out the number, and the class and series, if applicable,
of the notice shares, and must set out whichever of the following is applicable:

(a) if the notice shares constitute all of the shares of which the shareholder is both the registered
owner and beneficial owner and the shareholder owns no other shares of the company as
beneficial owner, a statement to that effect;

(b) if the notice shares constitute all of the shares of which the shareholder is both the registered
owner and beneficial owner but the shareholder owns other shares of the company as beneficial
owner, a statement to that effect and

(i) the names of the registered owners of those other shares,

(ii) the number, and the class and series, if applicable, of those other shares that are held
by each of those registered owners, and

(iii) a statement that notices of dissent are being, or have been, sent in respect of all of
those other shares;

(c) if dissent is being exercised by the shareholder on behalf of a beneficial owner who is not the
dissenting shareholder, a statement to that effect and

(i) the name and address of the beneficial owner, and

(ii) a statement that the shareholder is dissenting in relation to all of the shares beneficially
owned by the beneficial owner that are registered in the shareholder’s name.

(5) The right of a shareholder to dissent on behalf of a beneficial owner of shares, including the shareholder,
terminates and this Division ceases to apply to the shareholder in respect of that beneficial owner if
subsections (1) to (4) of this section, as those subsections pertain to that beneficial owner, are not
complied with.

243 Notice of intention to proceed

(1) A company that receives a notice of dissent under section 242 from a dissenter must,
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(a) if the company intends to act on the authority of the resolution or court order in respect of
which the notice of dissent was sent, send a notice to the dissenter promptly after the later of

(i) the date on which the company forms the intention to proceed, and

(ii) the date on which the notice of dissent was received, or

(b) if the company has acted on the authority of that resolution or court order, promptly send a
notice to the dissenter.

(2) A notice sent under subsection (1) (a) or (b) of this section must

(a) be dated not earlier than the date on which the notice is sent,

(b) state that the company intends to act, or has acted, as the case may be, on the authority of the
resolution or court order, and

(c) advise the dissenter of the manner in which dissent is to be completed under section 244.

244 Completion of dissent

(1) A dissenter who receives a notice under section 243 must, if the dissenter wishes to proceed with the
dissent, send to the company or its transfer agent for the notice shares, within one month after the date
of the notice,

(a) a written statement that the dissenter requires the company to purchase all of the notice shares,

(b) the certificates, if any, representing the notice shares, and

(c) if section 242 (4) (c) applies, a written statement that complies with subsection (2) of this
section.

(2) The written statement referred to in subsection (1) (c) must

(a) be signed by the beneficial owner on whose behalf dissent is being exercised, and

(b) set out whether or not the beneficial owner is the beneficial owner of other shares of the
company and, if so, set out

(i) the names of the registered owners of those other shares,

(ii) the number, and the class and series, if applicable, of those other shares that are held
by each of those registered owners, and

(iii) that dissent is being exercised in respect of all of those other shares.

(3) After the dissenter has complied with subsection (1),

(a) the dissenter is deemed to have sold to the company the notice shares, and

(b) the company is deemed to have purchased those shares, and must comply with section 245,
whether or not it is authorized to do so by, and despite any restriction in, its memorandum or
articles.

(4) Unless the court orders otherwise, if the dissenter fails to comply with subsection (1) of this section in
relation to notice shares, the right of the dissenter to dissent with respect to those notice shares
terminates and this Division, other than section 247, ceases to apply to the dissenter with respect to
those notice shares.

(5) Unless the court orders otherwise, if a person on whose behalf dissent is being exercised in relation to a
particular corporate action fails to ensure that every shareholder who is a registered owner of any of the
shares beneficially owned by that person complies with subsection (1) of this section, the right of
shareholders who are registered owners of shares beneficially owned by that person to dissent on behalf
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of that person with respect to that corporate action terminates and this Division, other than section 247,
ceases to apply to those shareholders in respect of the shares that are beneficially owned by that person.

(6) A dissenter who has complied with subsection (1) of this section may not vote, or exercise or assert any
rights of a shareholder, in respect of the notice shares, other than under this Division.

245 Payment for notice shares

(1) A company and a dissenter who has complied with section 244 (1) may agree on the amount of the
payout value of the notice shares and, in that event, the company must

(a) promptly pay that amount to the dissenter, or

(b) if subsection (5) of this section applies, promptly send a notice to the dissenter that the company
is unable lawfully to pay dissenters for their shares.

(2) A dissenter who has not entered into an agreement with the company under subsection (1) or the
company may apply to the court and the court may

(a) determine the payout value of the notice shares of those dissenters who have not entered into
an agreement with the company under subsection (1), or order that the payout value of those
notice shares be established by arbitration or by reference to the registrar, or a referee, of the
court,

(b) join in the application each dissenter, other than a dissenter who has entered into an agreement
with the company under subsection (1), who has complied with section 244 (1), and

(c) make consequential orders and give directions it considers appropriate.

(3) Promptly after a determination of the payout value for notice shares has been made under subsection (2)
(a) of this section, the company must

(a) pay to each dissenter who has complied with section 244 (1) in relation to those notice shares,
other than a dissenter who has entered into an agreement with the company under subsection
(1) of this section, the payout value applicable to that dissenter’s notice shares, or

(b) if subsection (5) applies, promptly send a notice to the dissenter that the company is unable
lawfully to pay dissenters for their shares.

(4) If a dissenter receives a notice under subsection (1) (b) or (3) (b),

(a) the dissenter may, within 30 days after receipt, withdraw the dissenter’s notice of dissent, in
which case the company is deemed to consent to the withdrawal and this Division, other than
section 247, ceases to apply to the dissenter with respect to the notice shares, or

(b) if the dissenter does not withdraw the notice of dissent in accordance with paragraph (a) of this
subsection, the dissenter retains a status as a claimant against the company, to be paid as soon
as the company is lawfully able to do so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked subordinate to the
rights of creditors of the company but in priority to its shareholders.

(5) A company must not make a payment to a dissenter under this section if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that

(a) the company is insolvent, or

(b) the payment would render the company insolvent.

246 Loss of right to dissent

The right of a dissenter to dissent with respect to notice shares terminates and this Division, other than section
247, ceases to apply to the dissenter with respect to those notice shares, if, before payment is made to the
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dissenter of the full amount of money to which the dissenter is entitled under section 245 in relation to those
notice shares, any of the following events occur:

(a) the corporate action approved or authorized, or to be approved or authorized, by the resolution
or court order in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent is abandoned;

(b) the resolution in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent does not pass;

(c) the resolution in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent is revoked before the corporate
action approved or authorized by that resolution is taken;

(d) the notice of dissent was sent in respect of a resolution adopting an amalgamation agreement
and the amalgamation is abandoned or, by the terms of the agreement, will not proceed;

(e) the arrangement in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent is abandoned or by its terms
will not proceed;

(f) a court permanently enjoins or sets aside the corporate action approved or authorized by the
resolution or court order in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent;

(g) with respect to the notice shares, the dissenter consents to, or votes in favour of, the resolution
in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent;

(h) the notice of dissent is withdrawn with the written consent of the company;

(i) the court determines that the dissenter is not entitled to dissent under this Division or that the
dissenter is not entitled to dissent with respect to the notice shares under this Division.

247 Shareholders entitled to return of shares and rights

If, under section 244 (4) or (5), 245 (4) (a) or 246, this Division, other than this section, ceases to apply to a
dissenter with respect to notice shares,

(a) the company must return to the dissenter each of the applicable share certificates, if any, sent
under section 244 (1) (b) or, if those share certificates are unavailable, replacements for those
share certificates,

(b) the dissenter regains any ability lost under section 244 (6) to vote, or exercise or assert any rights
of a shareholder, in respect of the notice shares, and

(c) the dissenter must return any money that the company paid to the dissenter in respect of the
notice shares under, or in purported compliance with, this Division.
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APPENDIX L
AMALGAMATION APPLICATION

[see attached]
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Ministry of Finance  
Corporate and Personal  
Property Registries 
www.fin.gov.bc.ca/registries 

AMALGAMATION APPLICATION 

FORM 13 – BC COMPANY 
Section 275 Business Corporations Act 

Telephone:  250 356 – 8626 
Office Hours:  8:30 – 4:30 (Monday – Friday) 
 
DO NOT MAIL THIS FORM to the Corporate and 
Personal Property Registries unless you are instructed 
to do so by registry staff.  The regulations under the 
Business Corporations Act requires this form to be filed 
on the Internet at www.corporateonline.gov.bc.ca  

 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA) 
The personal information requested on this form is made available to the 
public under the authority of the Business Corporations Act.  Questions about 
how the FIPPA applies to this personal information can be directed to the  
Administrative Assistant of the Corporate and Personal Property Registries 
at 250 356-1198, PO Box 9431 Stn Prov Govt, Victoria BC  V8W 9V3. 

A. NAME OF COMPANY – Choose one of the following: 

 
The name  is the name reserved for the amalgamated company.  The name reservation number is 
__________, OR 

 
The company is to be amalgamated with a name by adding “B.C. Ltd.” after the incorporation number 
of the company, OR 

 The amalgamated company is to adopt, as its name, the name of one of the amalgamating companies. 

Please note:  If you want the name of an amalgamating corporation that is a foreign corporation, you must obtain a 
name approval before completing this amalgamation application. 

B. AMALGAMATION STATEMENT – Please indicate the statement applicable to the amalgamation.: 

 

With Court Approval: 
This amalgamation has been approved by the court and a copy of the entered court order approving 
the amalgamation has been obtained and has been deposited in the records office of each of the 
amalgamating companies. 

 OR 

 

Without Court Approval: 
This amalgamation has been effected without court approval.  A copy of all the required affidavits under 
section 277(1) have been obtained and the affidavit obtained from each amalgamating company has 
been deposited in that company’s records office. 

C.  AMALGAMATION EFFECTIVE DATE – Choose one of the following: 

 The amalgamation is to take effect at the time that this application is filed with the registrar. 

 
The amalgamation is to take effect at 12:01 a.m. Pacific Time on ______________ being a date that is 
not more than ten days after the date of the filing of this application. 

 
The amalgamation is to take effect at ________ Pacific Time on __________________, being a date 
and time that is not more than ten days after the date of the filing of this application. 
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D. AMALGAMATING CORPORATIONS 

Enter the name of each amalgamating corporation below.  For each company, enter the incorporation number.  
If the amalgamating corporation is a foreign corporation, enter the foreign corporation’s jurisdiction and if 
registered in BC as an extraprovincial company, enter the extraprovincial company’s registration number.  
Attach an additional sheet if more space is required. 

 

NAME OF AMALGAMATING CORPORATION 
BC INCORPORATION NUMBER, OR 
EXTRAPROVINCIAL REGISTRATION 

NUMBER IN BC 

FOREIGN CORPORATION’S 
JURISDICTION 

Kore Mining Ltd. BC1065591 N/A 

1153956 B.C. Ltd. BC1153956 N/A 

 
E. FORMALITIES TO AMALGAMATION 

If any amalgamating corporation is a foreign corporation, section 275 (1)(b) requires an authorization for the 
amalgamation from the foreign corporation’s jurisdiction to be filed. 

 
This is to confirm that each authorization for the amalgamation required under section 275(1)(b) is 
being submitted for filing concurrently with this application. 

F. CERTIFIED CORRECT – I have read this form and found it to be correct. 

This form must be signed by an authorized signing authority for each of the amalgamating companies. 

NAME OF AUTHORIZED SIGNING AUTHORITY FOR 
THE AMALGAMATING CORPORATION 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED SIGNING 
AUTHORITY FOR THE AMALGAMATING 
CORPORATION DATE SIGNED (YYYY / MM / DD) 

Michael Sweatman X 2018/    / 

NAME OF AUTHORIZED SIGNING AUTHORITY FOR 
THE AMALGAMATING CORPORATION 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED SIGNING 
AUTHORITY FOR THE AMALGAMATING 
CORPORATION DATE SIGNED (YYYY / MM / DD) 

Adrian Rothwell X 2018/    / 
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NOTICE OF ARTICLES 
 

A. NAME OF COMPANY 
Set out the name of the company as set out in Item A of the Amalgamation Application. 
 
_______________, B.C. LTD. 

B. TRANSLATION OF COMPANY NAME 
Set out every translation of the company name that the company intends to use outside of Canada, or if none, 
enter “not applicable”. 

N/A 

C. DIRECTOR NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) 
Set out the full name, delivery address and mailing address (if different) of every director of the company.  The delivery address must be for 
the office at which the individual can usually be served with records between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m. on business days.  If there is no office at 
which the individual can usually be served with records during statutory business hours, enter the delivery address and mailing address, if 
different, of the individual’s residence.  Attach an additional sheet if more space is required. 

 
FULL NAME 
INCLUDING MIDDLE NAME, IF APPLICABLE 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 
INCLUDING POSTAL CODE 

MAILING ADDRESS 
INCLUDING POSTAL CODE 

Adrian Rothwell 2200 - 885 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8 

2200 - 885 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8 

D. REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESSES 
DELIVERY ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY’S REGISTERED OFFICE (INCLUDING POSTAL CODE) 

2200 - 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8 

MAILING ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY’S REGISTERED OFFICE (INCLUDING POSTAL CODE) 

2200 - 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8 

E. RECORDS OFFICE ADDRESSES 
DELIVERY ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY’S RECORDS OFFICE (INCLUDING POSTAL CODE) 

2200 - 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8 

MAILING ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY’S RECORDS OFFICE (INCLUDING POSTAL CODE) 

2200 - 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8 

F. AUTHORIZED SHARE STRUCTURE 

 

Maximum number of 
shares of this class or 

series of shares that the 
company is authorized to 

issue 

Kind of shares of this class 
or series of shares 

Are there special rights or 
restrictions attached to 

the shares of this class or 
series of shares? 

Identifying name of class 
or series of shares 

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF 
SHARES AUTHORIZED PAR VALUE TYPE OF CURRENCY YES/NO 

Common no maximum 
number without n/a No 
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